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Co-Chairmen’s and CEO’s Statements

BMEEERBEVIITERS

CO-CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
BEEIERE

Mr. Chen Weihao
FREZKE

Dear Shareholders:

2022 was a year full of uncertainties and challenges for China’s
less-than-truckload (LTL) logistics industry. Due to multiple
macroeconomic factors, our industry faced unprecedented challenges,
especially during the period when Shanghai was under strict
lockdown. The widespread disruption to our network in the East
China region considerably lowered our second quarter’s revenue and
profit. However, it is encouraging to note that our freight volume has
recovered in the second half of 2022, increasing by 27.2% compared
to the first half of the year. Meanwhile, our gross profit increased by
66.5% in the second half compared to the first half of the year, and
the gross margin was up by 2 percentage points compared with the
first half of the year. In 2022, the company’s overall freight volume
reached 12.45 million tons, on par with the previous year.

In September 2022, the board formed a strategic committee to
establish a new strategic direction to focus on high quality and
sustainable growth underpinned by superior service quality and
profitability. A major transformation has since taken place. The
first primary objective of the strategic committee is to lead and
oversee an upgrade of company’s corporate governance and
management structure. In addition, the strategic committee set
specific transformation targets and supervised the execution by the
management to meet such objectives. The core executive team
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BMEEERBEVIITERS

of ANE formed an operating committee, to make collective yet
centralised decisions on key business and operational matters and to
be responsible for the implementation of new business and operation
plan. The strategic and operating committees work closely on key
acts of transformation from target setting to detailed reviews, forming
better decision making process and driving out performance.

Under the guidance of the strategic committee, the company
undertook an overhaul to its management team and organisation,
through two key initiatives. Firstly, we reorganized the regional
management divisions with less hierarchy and more rapid response
mechanisms, making us stay more attuned to the market and our
customers, while significantly reducing management costs. Secondly,
we launched a competitive selection process for core management
positions in the regions and the headquarter, appointing a group of
younger and high-performing management talents based on their
performance, capability, and values. These measures bring strength
and vitality to the company’s long-term development.

Coming to 2023, China logistics industry has shown signs of strong
recovery. According to the latest statistics by China Logistics and
Purchasing Federation, the China Logistics Industry Prosperity Index
in February was 50.1%, a significant increase of 5.4 percentage points
from the previous month. The main industries we serve, such as
manufacturing and e-commerce companies, are also quickly returning
to growth as the Chinese economy continues to recover.

Through a series of reforms and initiatives in 2022, we have undergone
a complete transformation with our corporate culture being thoroughly
revamped. Through our renewed focus on strategic planning, talent
development, ecosystem partnership, network planning and digitalised
operation, ANE is further transforming towards building strong cost
leadership through meticulous management as the key competitive
barrier. Looking ahead to 2023, we will continue to invest in
meticulous management tools and digital systems to keep optimising
our pricing schemes with a clear aim on profitability enhancement.
At the same time, we plan to launch new LTL products to expand
our revenue base, and we are focusing on upgrading our line-haul
routing capabilities and sorting cost control to achieve our goal of cost
leadership.
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We continue to work hand-in-hand with our freight partners and
stakeholders on climate change mitigation efforts through higher
energy use efficiency and carbon emission control, whilst ensuring
employee health and safety — providing sustainable and stable returns
to all stakeholders.

Since pioneering the freight partner platform model in the LTL industry
over the last 10 years, ANE has grown into the undisputable leader
in the industry, playing an important role in supporting regional
economic development, promoting rural revitalization, and improving
manufacturing efficiency. We are highly confident that today’s
transformation will bear abundant fruit in the future.

Mr. Chen Weihao
Co-Chairman

Hong Kong, March 28, 2023
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CO-CHAIRMAN AND
CEO’S STATEMENT
BEIEREEHITERS

Mr. Qin Xinghua
REERL

Dear Shareholders,

Last year is a year of great significance to ANE as we have embarked
on a journey of transformation that would bring the company to a new
height. Following our successful listing on the The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited in November 2021, we have arrived at the
conclusion that we must renew our strategy to focus on profitable and
sustainable growth. The reason was very simple. Our scale and freight
volume driven approach had been the past given that the Chinese
economy and the nature of our business have entered new phases.
To maintain our industry leading position and our strong capability to
further consolidate China’s fragmented LTL market, we needed a real
change.

To effectively implement all the transformative initiatives, we started
out with a transformation blueprint to oversee the implementation
of strategic measures, aiming to build an invigorating management
structure to support the company’s long-term sustainable growth.
Under the guidance of the Strategic Committee, we have launched a
series of transformation projects in growth, operations, service and
quality control, procurement, and organization optimization. From the
front line to the senior leadership team, our team have been actively
seeking ways to change for the better, while preserving our culture of
perusing success.

The critical part of our transformation centres around our ecosystem
of freight partners and agents. We went back to our roots and
focused on how we can really help our freight partners and agents
to prosper and thrive. It is an accumulation of a series of “detailed”
endeavours, including a major upgrade of our pricing scheme,

streamlined processes, stepped up joint customer services, extension
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of our operation to their premises and optimised online/offline
communication channels. We would always stick to our core value that
the commonwealth and prosperity of our freight partner and agents
are the cornerstone of our success. As of December 31, 2022, ANE
has covered approximately 96% of counties and townships in China,
with 136 self-operated sorting centres, and more than 30,000 freight
partners and agents.

No transformation in logistics would be complete without pushing for
operational excellence and we are no exception. Key efforts have been
put into areas such as line-haul routing management, incorporating
a more precise and calculated considerations on seasonal freight
volume fluctuation and operational capacity of our sorting centres
and outlets. We have also overhauled our fleet management, as
well as improved sorting centre planning and on-site operation.
We are also systematically enhancing our timeliness performance
and strengthening our customer service capabilities, which involves
efforts and attention from every level of our team. How we are doing
differently this time is that we are taking a more holistic approach
incorporating our customers’ needs rather than tackling these issues
in isolation in the past.

We have been also spearheading profound changes in our key
middle and back offices in the headquarter, including finance, HR,
data management, and technology. Instead of just being central
management functions, we strived to build a revamped HQ team that
are more cohesive and agile, with a mindset to serve, and ability to
lead, through a comprehensive business process optimization.

Transformation is no easy feat and cannot be accomplished in one
click. While there would be bumps and turns, we will continue to learn
and adjust, as there is no other way. We are highly confident that
with continuous and incremental improvements, we will be able to
unite and mobilize our partners, agents and employees to make this
transformation a resounding success. In the process, we will make
ANE a better and more valuable company. And most importantly,
we will keep driving strong value accretion to our shippers, freight
partners, agents and employees.

A revamped strategy underpinned by our strong execution and
excellence in service quality will make a new and successful ANE.

QIN Xinghua
Executive Director, chief executive officer and co-chairman

Hong Kong, March 28, 2023
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Yongjun
(Chairman, resigned with effect from January 9, 2023)
Mr. Qin Xinghua (Co-Chairman, chief executive officer)
Mr. Zhu Jianhui (resigned with effect from September 1, 2022)
Mr. Jin Yun (appointed with effect from September 1, 2022)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chen Weihao (Co-Chairman)

Mr. Wang Jian

Ms. Li Dan (resigned with effect from March 30, 2023)
Mr. Wei Bin (appointed with effect from March 31, 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Wilson Wei
Mr. Geh George Shalchu
Mr. Lam Man Kwong

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL
PLACE OF BUSINESS IN THE PRC

8th Floor, Block B

E Linke World North District
999 Huaxu Road

Xujing Town

Qingpu District

Shanghai, PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN
HONG KONG

5/F, Manulife Place
348 Kwun Tong Road
Kowloon

Hong Kong

V4

Corporate Information

NEER

EES
BITES
ERERE (L5 - K2023%1 A9 ARLE)

RWMERL (B ETEFREESITE)
MR S (R202249 A 1 HEFT)
GBS (Ro022F9 F1 HESIF)

FHTES

BRIESTE (BEEE)

FRILE

R+ (R2023493 430 HE#HT)
B (R2023F3 31 HEZ(T)

BAFHITES

BErE
AR 58 4

TEARREEE R MR

PR T
XA
FEIRNEEI995
EmtARdtE
BEESHE

BERTEE R

BB

B
ERIRIB 34858
T E551E

REREBARAR » 2022 F 07



X

Corporate Information

NEER

REGISTERED OFFICE

PO Box 309

Ugland House

Grand Cayman KY1-1104
Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Maples Fund Services (Cayman) Limited
PO Box 1093, Boundary Hall

Cricket Square, Grand Cayman KY1-1102
Cayman lIslands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. PUN Ka Ying

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES
Ms. PUN Ka Ying

Mr. Wang Yongjun (resigned with effect from January 9, 2023)
Mr. Qin Xinghua (appointed with effect from January 9, 2023)
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COMPLIANCE ADVISOR

Somerley Capital Limited

20th Floor, China Building
29 Queen’s Road Central
Central, Hong Kong

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Li Wilson Wei (Chairman)
Mr. Geh George Shalchu
Mr. Lam Man Kwong

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Lam Man Kwong (Chairman)
Mr. Qin Xinghua
Mr. Li Wilson Wei

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Qin Xinghua
(Chairman, appointed with effect from January 9, 2023)
Mr. Wang Yongjun (resigned with effect from January 9, 2023)
Mr. Lam Man Kwong
Mr. Li Wilson Wei

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

Mr. Chen Weihao (Chairman)

Mr. Qin Xinghua (appointed with effect from January 9, 2023)
Mr. Wang Yongjun (resigned with effect from January 9, 2023)
Mr. Lam Man Kwong
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STRATEGY COMMITTEE BREES
Mr. Chen Weihao (Chairman) PRIERSHE (L)
Mr. Qin Xinghua REESL A

Mr. Wang Jian TRk

Ms. Wei Bin R A
AUDITOR %=

Ernst & Young K& ETRD E PN
Certified Public Accountants and Registered PIE Auditor PRI AR M AR T B IZ 2R
27/F, One Taikoo Place BB

979 King’s Road 8 £

Quarry Bay HWEEITIH
Hong Kong Kby —EE2742
LEGAL ADVISER EEER
Davis Polk & Wardwell Davis Polk & Wardwell
10/F The Hong Kong Club Building B

3A Chater Road EITEB=9RA
Hong Kong BB ANETIE
STOCK CODE iz 9 KSR
9956 9956
COMPANY WEBSITE NGIER
www.aneb6.com www.aneb56.com
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Financial and Operational Highlights
MBRES

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

=R

Year ended December 31,

—_
=

BZ12A31HILEE
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
20184 20194F 20204 20214 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTRT ARBTT ARETTIT AR%TR
Revenue WA 5,331,927 5,338,201 7,081,791 9,645,366 9,334,931
Gross (loss)/profit E(8)F (584,510) 679,540 1,051,466 1,066,197 730,362
Operating (loss)/profit e (F18) /78 (1,564,969) 61,137 578,322 257,190 (171,001)
(Loss)/Profit for the Year F R (&), F)E (2,115,561)  (214,927) 218,181 (2,007,071)  (409,267)
Adjusted pre-tax KRR AY
(loss)/profit Nete) (F518) /FRE (1,611,633) 106,182 518,994 286,046 (89,775)
Adjusted net e
(loss)/profit Nete) (E18),/ FE (1,611,719) 209,874 654,316 408,438 (217,923)
Adjusted EBITDA Mot R FIEREBITDA (M) (837,422) 894,853 1,199,570 1,342,303 1,096,435
As at December 31,
M12H81H
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
20184 20194 20204 20214 20224
RMB'000 RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’'000  RMB’000
ARBTT ARKTRT ARBTT ARKETT AR%®TR
Total liabilities afERE 9,013,737 9,209,191 9,699,363 3,667,278 3,330,556
Total assets BERE 2,582,028 2,613,143 3,710,788 6,335,586 5,831,228
Total equity BrE (6,431,709) (6,596,048) (5,988,575) 2,668,308 2,500,672
Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31HILEE
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
20184 20194F 20204 20214 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000
ARBTIT AREFTT ARBTT ARETT AR%®TR
Net cash flows SRR (TR, Fiig
(used in)/from RENEFHE
operating activities (155,603) 859,260 722,555 1,084,519 1,444,778
Note: Please refer to the section headed “Management Discussion and &t @ BB HEREEIIEZNFE  B2EX

Analysis — Il. FINANCIAL REVIEW - Non-HKFRS Measures” in this

annual report for details of non-HKFRS measures.
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OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS

30,000+

Freight Partners and Agents
SEAEELARIER
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136

Sorting Centres

gaxi: GRllb)

R

~4,000

Self-operated Line-haul Trucks

BEBRRE

2,080,000

Sorting Area/m?
DEmEIE, TR
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

We operate a leading express freight network in China’s
less-than-truckload (“LTL”) market. Express freight network
operators, like us, are LTL service providers who have nationwide
coverage, and deliver timely and comprehensive freight
transportation services. In 2022, we have completed shipment
of a total freight volume of 12.5 million tons, at approximately
the same level compared to 12.6 million tons in 2021. We mainly
provide transportation services, value-added services and dispatch
services to our freight partners, our direct customers. We, together
with our freight partners and agents, served approximately 4.7
million shippers, our end-customers, across China as of December
31, 2022, compared to 3.9 million as of December 31, 2021. Our
investment in self-operated fleets helps us achieve self-operation
of essentially all two-way route line-haul transportation. In the
meanwhile, we commenced our full-truckload (“FTL”) business
in May 2022, in order to fully utilize the backhaul capacity of
self-operated fleets deployed for one-way route. The FTL service
fulfil the freight demand of shippers by engaging truck vehicle as
the unit of transportation for direct point-to-point service.

Our Market and Industry

With the accelerated digitalisation of commerce and trade in
China, the full spectrum of supply chain, from manufacturers
to distributors, merchants and retailers, require fast and high
frequency inventory turnover. This could only be achieved
through efficient and comprehensive freight transportation
solutions to bring merchandise to warehouses and stores closer
to end consumers. This in turn generates significant demand for
timely, comprehensive and reliable LTL services with nationwide
coverage. We are well-positioned for this opportunity by leveraging
our nationwide network with comprehensive and diverse product
offerings tailored to different shipper preferences. For instance,
we offer time definite product to address e-commerce merchants’
increasing focus on timeliness, guaranteed safety product for
medicine distributors in transportation of fragile and valuable
goods, and economy freight to meet auto parts suppliers’ demand
for cost-effectiveness transporting parts to auto manufacturers.
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BEERWED T
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Historically, China’s LTL market was highly fragmented and
inefficient with a large number of regional direct line and freight
operators providing local logistics services in their respective
areas. Such freight operators struggle to capture the opportunities
and meet the challenges brought by B2C (business-to-consumer)
e-commerce growth and evolution in supply chains that have
ensued. We have created the freight partner platform model to
draw such local operators to our platform as freight partners and
agents, empowering them and our entire network to serve as the
infrastructure for China’s new commerce landscape.

Our Freight Partner Platform

Under our freight partner platform model, we directly operate and
control all mission-critical sorting and line-haul processes while
our freight partners and agents are responsible for investing and
operating the outlets at their own costs and providing feeder
service, pickup and dispatch services. We enable and empower
tens of thousands of local freight operators to connect with more
shippers and to provide digitalised, nationwide, reliable, timely,
efficient and comprehensive LTL services to shippers. We deliver
unique values to freight partners, agents and shippers. We will
continuously invest in sorting centres and line-haul transportation
as the freight volume increases to optimise operational efficiency
while keep improving our service quality.

ANE (Cayman) Inc. « ANNUAL REPORT 2022

BE - PENTEMSEEDE - AEE
T T ERAENREERLRBEELRN
%Qﬁﬁ&ﬂ@?ﬂ,\miﬁz%umﬁﬁk o B
EEEEHREEHB2C(REYHHES)
ETAGERMEEM RO EERE N
WARMEBMKE - HAIFHA T EEAE
BraRt  ARs|IEREEELHNE
EAFRRRERS O MARMOTEE
WHEER S @ ERANBEBEKZTE
#ﬁ?ﬁ%’ﬁ‘;%ﬂﬁ% HERR I -
EFNEESHFETA
ERFPNEEAERFEREAT - BRM
ERELENEVMARBOD BNBRE
BIRE > MAPNEEAFRRREDE
BEREREVELWE RREEIBRS -
B R A AR o FAFIER T EE AR
EEELHENETZRHEEFPBHEY
REEFRHBEF  2EM - ATE R
B RBAREENTERFLSERE
EERREE  RMAEESEFR KB
BhkRnEFPHEBNER BEEES

D RS E S BB B RE
o EREEA RS E RN RN E(ES
W -



V4
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We are dedicated to create more value to our freight partners and
agents while benefiting from their growth. As a result, we believe
we are best positioned to consolidate China’s fragmented and
inefficient LTL market. As of December 31, 2022, we had over
30,000 freight partners and agents, enabling us to better serve
shippers while expanding nationwide coverage. We continue
to enjoy strong relationship with our top freight partners. The
retention rate of our top freight partners, which refer to the ratio
of the number of top freight partners which remains as our freight
partners in a given period, over the total number of top freight
partners in the previous period, was 98.7% and 95.7% in 2021
and 2022, respectively.

We mainly provide transportation services, value-added services
and dispatch services to our freight partners, our direct customers.
As of December 31, 2022, we, together with our freight partners
and agents, served approximately 4.7 million shippers, our
end-customers, across the entire commerce landscape in China.

Our Network and Infrastructure

We continuously improve our operational efficiency through

managing, optimizing and investing in our critical infrastructure,
mainly comprising our sorting centres and line haul transportation.

BEEERWED T

BMBNRAEESERNRIEREIES
ZEE REEHERPERS Bt - &
fIAE1E - BMEBEEDERE DB BIEM
MTEMGHTES - HE2022F12 A
31H  HMEBF@30,000REEAIEM
MR ERMEATETEHEAZRE
EHERTIHRERERS - RIEE
HEMMBESEESEFERBEBE -
2021 F K 2022 F AR EE A ERHR
BR(BE—BRETHH  BFEARMOE
BEAEENETEEAEREEN LR
AN EESEREHENLE) KA
98.7%}95.7% °
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T o HZE2022612A318 » &R
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Sorting Centres

As of December 31, 2022, we had 136 self-operated sorting
centres across China, allowing us, together with our network
outlets, to cover approximately 96% of the counties and townships
in China. We directly operate all of our sorting centres on leased
premises. Our sorting centres are connected by the line-haul
transportation network that we operate. The consolidation sorting
centres receive and sort the freight and dispatch them to the
destination sorting centres, which deconsolidate the freight and
assign the freight to dispatching freight partners and agents. The
following map illustrates our nationwide sorting centre network as
of December 31, 2022:

Chengdu B{#8----------—-Sqs-=-m—mmmmm e *‘. e Py

* Key hubs #& /U0 @4

Transit hubs and
© other sorting centres °

REE AR A B

; Line haul routes for
[ illustrative purpose

(= 3
BRES (RHPAR) Guangzhou B

Humen B8 os s s, |
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Based on the functions, operating freight volume and line-haul RIBINEE - KEEESNHEERBNR
connectivity, our sorting centres include key transit hubs, transit BMHNABROBEZORERS - R E
hubs and other sorting centres. Out of our 136 sorting centres B E M D BEAR L  BE2022F12 A
as of December 31, 2022, we had 12 key transit hubs with 318 HM136@ED#EF LA - B12f@2
full coverage of China and 43 transit hubs, which are primarily HESEPENZOFREEARISTEEEZE
responsible for inter-provincial transfer of freight. The following BEEBRHEEYEENTEEMS - TRED
table sets forth details of our sorting centres as of December 31, FMEZE2022F 12 A1 HH D BEH L
2022: 15 :
Average
daily handling
volume in the
year ended
Average December 31,
Area 2022
(m?) (tons) | Functionality
BZ2022F
12A31H
FIHER LHEEM
(EAXKR) | PHEEEE (B) | TEIhEE
Key hubs Nationwide full connectivity
1z iR 4t 12 48,943 5126 ZE#HERNEHR
Transit hubs Inter-provincial connectivity
iR A 43 24,087 2,448 HHRER
Other sorting centres Regional connectivity
Hfth 534 0y 81 5,638 442 wREEB
Our key transit hubs are located in key commercial centres in ROz O ERAMN B8 - M E
China such as Shanghai, Hangzhou, Guangzhou, Shenzhen, N ORIN S A R BN E R 2R E
Chengdu and Suzhou. On average, our key transit hub handled a Fobh e FHME  BMAZOFERESRN
freight volume of approximately 1.5 million tons in 2022. 2022 FMEBRIEEX /15BN o

LR EB AR R A o 2022 FH 17
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Our transit hubs are normally adjacent to highways and is each
directly connected to about 16 provinces on average as of
December 31, 2022. Since Q4 2022 in order to improve our
line-haul routing and sorting costs, we have made significant
optimizations to some of our smaller sorting centres. We have
taken measures such as: (1) shifting from self-operation to
outsourcing operation to consolidation premises run by our top
freight partners where they meet our operation excellence criteria;
and (2) extending our line-haul route to directly transport freight
from our key sorting centres/hubs to our freight partners (or
vice versa) to by-pass small consolidation sorting centres. Such
measures allow us to reduce the number of our self-operated
sorting centres, enhancing our operational efficiency while
maintaining our national footprint and coverage.

Line-Haul Network

We directly manage all the line-haul transportation in our network.
Our sorting centres are connected with approximately 2,900
well-planned line-haul routes as of December 31, 2022, among
which approximately 93% are two-way routes.

We have invested RMB235 million in our self-operated fleets
in 2022. As of December 31, 2022, our self-operated fleets
consisted of approximately 4,000 high-capacity line-haul trucks
and over 6,200 trailers, as compared to approximately 4,000
high-capacity line-haul trucks and over 4,600 trailers as of
December 31, 2021. All of our self-operated fleets are operated
by our approximately 6,000 contracted drivers as of December
31, 2022. We acquired approximately 1,600 trailers to (i) increase
our self-owned transportation capacity, and (i) release storage
pressure (e.g. package backlog caused by COVID-19 and
lockdowns) of sorting centres during the peak periods, taking
into consideration that trailers may also function as temporary
warehouses.

Affected by lockdowns due to COVID-19 and the resulting
decrease freight volume in 2022, the average mileages per month
at full utilization rate of our 17.5-metre high capacity truck was
approximately 19,000 kilometres in the year ended December 31,
2022 (2021: 21,000 kilometres).
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Network Outlets

As of December 31, 2022, all of the network outlets are owned
and operated by approximately 30,000 freight partners and freight
agents across China, covering approximately 96% of counties and
townships in China.

Our Technology

Technology is at the core of our operations. It is critical to our
platform, network and service offerings. We have digitalised every
process of our operations through self-developed IT systems to
achieve real-time data tracking, smart outlet management, route
planning, sorting management and automated customer service
to shippers, which in turn contributes to our superior network
capabilities.

COVID-19 Impact

In 2022, Chinese governments imposed various levels of COVID
zero control in different regions of China, including implementation
of travel bans, mass medical test and blockade of certain
cities and regions and suspension of business activities. Highly
restrictive and containment measures in mainland China in
response to the COVID-19 resurgence from March to May 2022
led to slowdown in demand for high quality LTL services and
logistic disruptions, which has resulted in a decline of freight
volume as compared with 2021. We have taken considerable
measures to reduce the impact of the COVID-19 outbreak,
including strictly implementing self-quarantine and disinfection
measures at our headquarters, sorting centres and network
outlets in accordance with government issued protocols.

From late November 2022, the government started to ease various
COVID-19 restrictions, we responded by relaxing afore-mentioned
measures. Despite that surged outbreaks of mass infections have
temporarily interrupted our normal operation in December 2022, it
is expected that the impact from COVID-19 will gradually reside in
2023.

BEEERWED T
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Il. FINANCIAL REVIEW 1. 8175 B B8
Overview BE
The following discussion is based on, and should be read in AT wmDERRNREEME D 2 8
conjunction with, the financial information and notes included HER RMEE - B —IRTE -

elsewhere in this report.

Our results of operations are affected by the total freight volume. BPMEERESINEERENTE - T
The following table sets forth our total freight volume and unit ZHENKRMNAMI RN EELE RBRM
economics of our key operating and financial metrics for the FRASE R IR R B AL B M

periods indicated:

Year-to-year

For the year ended December 31, change
BZ12A31B8LLEE EILL & E)

2022 2021

20224 20214
Total LTL freight volume (000 tons) ZHEEEEE (THE) 12,115 12,605 -3.9%
N/A®@
Total FTL freight volume (‘000 tons) BE &EHAE (TH) 336 o TEAe
Total freight volume! (000 tons) EZEH&A 8" (TH) 12,451 12,605 -1.2%

Unit price for LTL transportation and value-added
services (RMB/ton)

TRERMEERBEE(ARE 1) 579 581 -0.3%
Unit price for LTL dispatch services (RMB/ton)

THRIRERBGEE (ARE M) 188 184 2.2%
Unit price for total LTL services (RMB/ton)

TERBEER (AR W) 767 765 0.3%
Unit price for total FTL services (RMB/ton) N/A® N/A®@
HERBEEE (AR W) 127 TEmAe TEAe
Unit price for total services (RMB/ton)

IR EEE (AR W) 750 765 -2.0%
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Year-to-year
For the year ended December 31, change

BZEZ12A31ALLEE G L & &)

2022 2021
20224 20214

Unit line-haul transportation cost (RMB/ton)

BUBGERKIAE (ARE M) 320 316 1.3%
Unit sorting centre cost (RMB/ton)

B HEROKRE (ARE HE) 178 176 1.1%
Unit cost of value-added services (RMB/ton)
ERBEMKRA (ARE W) 28 25 12.0%
Unit cost of dispatch services (RMB/ton)
BEADRE RIS A (AR E) 165 163 1.2%
Unit cost of revenues (RMB/ton)
BUEERE (AR M) 691 680 1.6%

Unit gross profit (RMB/ton)

BUERN(ARE, M) 59 85 -30.6%
Unit operating profit (RMB/ton)
B LFE (AR, 1E) (14) 20 -170.0%
Unit adjusted pre-tax profit (RMB/ton)
B HERAAE (AR 1) (7) 23 -130.4%
Unit adjusted EBITDA (RMB/ton)
BT 4EFHEEEBITDA (AR 1i#) 88 106 -17.0%
Notes: B3 -
(1) The “freight volume”, means the amount of freight by volumetric m T S8/ BER | EEYNFESE - R
weight. However, the freight volume of FTL is calculated based on M EENEERGHERTHYERS
the total specified capacities of relevant trucks for each transportation EVREEIE S INAREHE o
assignment.
(2) The Company launched FTL business in May 2022, the FTL freight (2) ARAFAR2022F6 AHEHEBEEER - HH
volume for the year ended December 31, 2021 was therefore nil. E2021F12A31BILFENBEESER

LR EB AR R A o 2022 FH 21
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In 2022, we have completed shipment of a total freight volume
of 12.5 million tons, compared to 12.6 million tons in 2021. The
flat growth is mainly attributable to (i) strict lockdown measures
imposed by governments in certain regions in response to
COVID-19 pandemic situation which had significant adverse effect
on our transportation services (especially from late March to May,
and in November and December in 2022), and (i) the slowdown in
demand for LTL services caused by general economic downturn.

Revenue

During the Reporting Period, we derived our revenues from
transportation services, value added services and dispatch
services. The following table sets forth a breakdown of our
revenue for the periods indicated:

LTL business

2022%F - HMI T EREERLE12580
B - ﬁﬁzomﬁﬁﬁﬁm,@\@fﬁgﬁnz 68
B - ZFEEEBRETERARN)BA
BREL COVID-195& B 1E & T i [ FREUER A%
ISR EERMOERRBENE
APFFE (LERR2022F38 TAES
RAUARA11TARI2A) » R(i) & BEEEE %K
BEHTEREO T KME

A
RmERA - HAHKAKE RN ESHR

% BERS &IKERS - TR G
PP HRRE RO WL A BR AR

For the year ended December 31,
BZE12A31HILEE

(in thousands, except percentages)

(AT& - BAESN)

Transportation & 5,339,150 57.5 5,612,420 58.2
Value-added services %18 R 1,670,350 18.0 1,714,529 17.8
Dispatch services Jk i R 75 2,282,851 24.5 2,318,417 24.0
Total revenues & A 9,292,351 100.0 9,645,366 100.0
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FTL business

BEXK

For the year ended December 31,
BZE12A31BLFE

(in thousands, except percentages)
(BATF5T - B LBRIM)

Transportation 3& &) 42,580 100.0 0 N/AM Ao

Total revenues & A 42,580 100.0 oM N/AMA @A

LTL and FTL Business
TIEREEER

For the year ended December 31,
BZE12A31ALEE

(in thousands, except percentages)

(AT&H - BALEERIN)

Transportation & 5,381,730 57.7 5,612,420 58.2
Value-added services 3 1& iR 1,670,350 17.8 1,714,529 17.8
Dispatch services JIk i iR 7% 2,282,851 24.5 2,318,417 24.0
Total revenues & U A 9,334,931 100.0 9,645,366 100.0
Note: et -

(1) The Company launched FTL business in May 2022, the FTL revenue
for the year ended December 31, 2021 was therefore nil.

The pricing level of our transportation services is determined by
various factors, including the volumetric weight of the freight,
transportation distance, product types, market conditions and
competition, among others. We are optimizing our dynamic pricing
system which periodically evaluates and adjusts our pricing levels,
allowing us to optimise our capacity management and operational
efficiency. We primarily rely on freight partners and agents to carry
out dispatch services, while also carrying out dispatch services by
ourselves in limited circumstances.

(1) ANRER2022F5 A HEBEER  WE
ZE2021F12A3 1 HIEFENEBBERAL

=E o
=

BN ESGRFEEEXRKFRORRERER
= BREVNREEE  ERbE - E
miER - MHERRMBEEE - HPEER
EHRMNBRNEBRG - ZRXREHF
HAMARRMOEEKTE - ERMEHE
EBRMNENERMELREX - FMETE
KESEAFRMRIERRRIKERS -
R ERR TEE BTRRIGERS ©
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The decrease in our LTL transportation revenues of 4.9% from
RMB5,612.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 to
RMB5,339.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, mainly
attributable to: (i) the decrease in our total LTL freight volume
from 12.6 million tons for the year ended December 31, 2021 to
12.1 million tons for the year ended December 31, 2022, and (ii)
the decrease in our unit price for LTL transportation services from
RMB445/ton for the year ended December 31, 2021 to RMB441/
ton for the year ended December 31, 2022. Our unit LTL revenue
was mainly lowered in H1 2022 in response to assist our freight
partners under COVID-19 restrictions. As we started to optimize
our pricing scheme from Q4, our average unit LTL revenue has
increased to RMB787/ton in Q4 2022.

The decrease in our total LTL freight volume was mainly due to
(i) strict lockdown measures imposed by governments in certain
regions in response to COVID-19 pandemic situation which had
significant adverse effect on our transportation services (especially
from late March to May, and in November and December in
2022), and (i) the slowdown in demand for LTL services caused
by general economic downturn. The decrease in our unit price for
LTL transportation services was mainly due to (i) we lowered the
price in certain pandemic-hit regions so we have sufficient freight
volume to ensure a normal service, and (i) in order to maintain
the overall health of our ecosystem, our reduction of price and
value-added service fees to our freight partners and agents under
pressure.

We commenced FTL business in May 2022, and the overall
strategy is still evolving. In respect of the whole year of 2022, the
increase in freight volume and revenues of FTL business has not
fully offset the decline in LTL freight volume and revenues.

Our value-added services revenues decreased by 2.6% from
RMB1,714.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 to
RMB1,670.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2022,
mainly attributable to the decrease of LTL freight volume. The
unit value-added services revenue slightly increased from the year
ended December 31, 2021 to the year ended December 31, 2022.
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Our dispatch services revenues decreased by 1.5% from
RMB2,318.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 to
RMB2,282.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, mainly
attributable to the decrease of LTL freight volume. The increase in
our unit dispatch services revenue from RMB184/ton to RMB188/
ton was mainly due to the increase in cost and subsidy in some
certain regions which had been significantly adversely affected by
COVID-19.

Cost of revenues

Our cost of revenues primarily consists of costs for (i) line-haul
transportation, (ii) sorting centre, (iii) value-added services, and
(iv) dispatch services. The following table sets forth a breakdown
of our cost of revenues and as a percentage of our total cost of
revenues for the periods indicated:

BEENWED

BPIRERB WA BEEZ2021F12 8
STHIEFEMARK23184EE TR
1 5% ZEZE2022F 12 A31HIEFEMA
R¥2282988 T TERHANTEEE
2R c BMMEMRERBBABAR
M1847T / WRIEINE AR 1887, WE
FTERHRECOVID-19R B EBATFIFE
B EB 10 b 1R A K AN I A BRI AN B o

ERRAE

BERATBOIENBRER : ()P EFR
D () IBER  K(iv)IRERISH A o
TRIEBRMRARAAMAEERARN R
MEERANE D LB

For the year ended December 31,

HZEZ12A318LLEE

(in thousands, except percentages)

(AT&EH - BRI

Line-haul transportation #4%:E i 3,980,614 46.2 3,985,114 46.5
Sorting centre 7 &L 2,216,973 25.8 2,217,212 25.8
Value-added services 3E1{& R 352,119 4.1 316,584 3.7
Dispatch services Jk xR 7% 2,054,863 23.9 2,060,259 24.0
Total &%t 8,604,569 100.0 8,579,169 100.0
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Line-haul transportation cost primarily includes (i) service costs
for third-party fleet operators and (i) operating costs incurred
by our self-operated fleets such as truck fuel costs, road tolls,
driver compensation and depreciation costs. The following table
sets forth a breakdown of our line-haul transportation cost for the
periods indicated:

BREBKATEBRNE=ZTEHKLE
BRI AR R (i) B EBHRELNKE
A PIIREERME - BEE - B
& RITERA - TRINHRMIRFRHE
R AR E SR AR AR

For the year ended December 31,

BZEZ12A31B8LLEE

(in thousands, except percentages)
(A&t - B ERIN)

Services costs for third-party fleets

B =TT BB RIEAA 380,633 9.6 1,342,746 33.6

Operating costs incurred by
self-operated fleets:

B HE B EE SRR A 3,599,981 90.4 2,642,368 66.4
Toll costs Big & 1,125,822 28.3 912,367 22.9
Fuel costs #Am%E 1,017,483 25.6 736,689 18.5
Driver compensation =1# B & 733,277 18.4 564,698 14.2
Depreciation #T& 355,847 8.9 250,613 6.3
Others Hfth 367,552 9.2 178,001 45

Total line-haul transportation costs

BRRBEWARK 3,980,614 100.0 3,985,114 100.0

Our operating costs incurred by self-operated fleets increased
significantly and our services costs for third-party fleets decreased
significantly from 2021 to 2022 as a result of our investment
and considerable increase in deploying self-operated fleet in our
line-haul transportation.

Our line-haul transportation costs remained relatively stable from
RMB3,985.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 to
RMB3,980.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2022,
mainly because: (i) the transportation costs declined due to the
decrease in total freight volume, offset by (i) under-utility of our
truck fleet due to COVID-19 containment measures and (iii) the
significant increase in our fuel costs due to rising oil price, as well
as other costs caused by COVID-19.
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Our unit line-haul transportation cost slightly increased from
RMB316/ton for the year ended December 31, 2021 to RMB320/
ton for the same period in 2022 was mainly attributable to:

(i) higher unit fixed transportation costs, such as depreciation of
motor vehicles, when freight volumes decreased; and

(i) the lower truck utility rate (as measured by average truck
mileage) and transportation efficiency especially loading rate
due to the impact of COVID-19; and

(iii) the significant increase in our fuel costs due to rising oil price.

Sorting centre cost includes (i) labour costs, (i) depreciation
of right-of-use assets in relation to leased sorting centres, (iii)
property management fees and utility costs, (iv) equipment rental
costs and (v) operation and maintenance costs. The following
table sets forth a breakdown of our sorting centre cost for the
periods indicated:

BEENWED

HZE2022F 12 A1 B ILFE - HFIWE
BB BHKABARKEI20T W - B
2021 FRIHMARM316 T,/ HE /) 18 18
meEBRERN

) BEERDE mﬁﬁ%““ﬁlﬁ
BERIRAIE

(i) BRCOVID-19M 2 » REFAX
(BFRENFHTHERSE) RER
MR (LHRREHR)BR : K&

(iil)  Fr AT EQ PR R AR AR A B LRk i K g 1
hne

DEPORABIE()SE KA ¢ (i) A
EnBhOBRNERBREENE © (i)Y
XERBNAMARERA : (v)REHEEX
AR R (v)EE BB - TR H A
PP 7R ER A 20 R L B AR Y B AT

For the year ended December 31,

Z£12A31 8 LLEE

(in thousands, except percentages)
(A&t - B ERIN)

Labour costs 4 &) 775 74 1,301,694 58.7 1,332,487 60.1
Depreciation of right-of-use assets

TREEENE 580,559 26.2 552,778 24.9
Property management fees and utility costs

MESEE R QAREKA 155,135 7.0 143,533 6.5
Equipment rental costs =& #HH &R 93,691 4.2 89,694 4.0
Others EHAth 85,894 3.9 98,720 4.5
Total sorting centre costs 7 5 F1 /048 A 2N 2,216,973 100.0 2,217,212 100.0
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Our sorting centre costs remained relatively stable from
RMB2,217.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 to
RMB2,217.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. The
increase in our unit sorting centre cost from RMB176/ton for the
2021 to RMB178/ton for the same
period in 2022 was mainly because the decrease in freight volume

year ended December 31,

led to higher unit fix cost (e.g. depreciation on right-of-use assets)
for the most period of 2022, and we started to reduce the number
of sorting centres from Q4 2022.

Costs of value-added services are costs directly incurred in
relation to our provision of value-added services, such as the cost
of digital devices, shipment waybill and consumables.

The increase in our costs of value-added services from RMB316.6
million for the year ended December 31, 2021 to RMB352.1 million
for the same period in 2022 was mainly attributable to extra costs
we afforded for providing value-added services in some regions
affected by lockdowns due to COVID-19. The increase in our unit
costs of value-added services from RMB25/ton for the year ended
2021 to RMB28/ton for the same period in 2022
was mainly due to the aforementioned reasons.

December 31,

Costs of dispatch services primarily represent (i) fees of dispatch
services paid to our freight partners, the price of which is
determined based on the cost structure of freight partners and
market conditions, and (ii) costs incurred by our self-operated
dispatch services.

While this COVID-19 factor also applied to dispatch cost, it was
partially offset by the decrease in freight volume, which results in
the dispatch costs remaining relatively stable from 2021 to 2022.
The slight increase in our unit dispatch costs from RMB163/ton
in 2021 to RMB165/ton was caused by the same factors set out
above.

Our total cost of revenues was RMB8,604.6 million for the year
2022, compared to RMB8,579.2 million
for the year ended December 31, 2021, mainly due to the above

ended December 31,

reasons.
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Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the gross profit and
gross profit margin was RMB730.4 million and 7.8%, respectively,
as compared to RMB1,066.2 million and 11.1%, respectively,
for the year ended December 31, 2021. The decrease in gross
profit was mainly driven by: (i) the decrease in LTL freight volume;
(i) the decrease in 2022 overall unit revenue and (i) the slight
increase in cost of revenue. The decrease in gross profit margin
was mainly driven by the increased unit cost of revenues due to
the above-mentioned reasons and the decreased unit revenue. As
a result, our unit gross profit decreased from RMB85/ton for the
year ended December 31, 2021 to RMB59/ton for the year ended
December 31, 2022.

General and Administrative Expenses

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the major

components of our general and administrative expenses both
in absolute amount and as a percentage of total general and
administrative expenses for the periods indicated:

For the year ended December 31,
BZE12A31BLEE

BEENWED

EMNRENR

HZE2022F12AC1BILFENENEE
FEDRBAREI0.4E5ETKRT.8%
MEZE2021F12 A1 HIEFEMNEF
LEFESABARE1,066.2FE TR
11.1% - BEFBAL DEEZHR()TEEES
D (i) BB B AL IR AR A R (i) FE AR
BSOS N o EFEF AT EB B LAt
R B BT 38 B BE L & B AR AN 3 0 K% BE o Uk
ATEES - Bt - B EFHEE2021
F12A31BLFEHARBESS T,/ BIR
LEHZE2022F12A31HEFEMNAR
#597T W ©

—RRTBBX
TREFIRARBRHRM—RRTBAX

B EEZEKE D (RBYH B RME—RKRIT
X AN B D) WA

(in thousands, except percentages)

(AT&H - BRI

Salaries and other benefits ¥ M E b & | 445,064 49.8 346,127 43.7
Business operation expenses %7518 & X 115,230 12.9 130,408 16.5
Professional service fees B RS E 80,377 9.0 113,091 14.3
Depreciation and amortization 7% [ # $4 63,227 7.1 52,088 6.6
Share-based payment expenses A& 1D X {5 5% 188,881 21.2 149,291 18.9
Total &3t 892,779 100.0 791,005 100.0
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Our general and administrative expenses increased from
RMB791.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 to
RMB892.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. The
main changes include (i) the increase in salary and other benefits
by 28.6% from RMB346.1 million in 2021 to RMB445.1 million
in 2022, mainly because that we have expanded our headcount
from the second half of 2021 until Q3 2022, and we had
made a significant optimization in Q4 2022; (i) the decrease in
professional fees due to the decrease in fees incurred from our
IPO and Pre-IPO financing, and (i) the increase in depreciation
and amortisation.

Other Income and Gains/(Losses), Net

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the components of
our other income and gains/(losses), net for the periods indicated:

BM—RETERAZBEZE2021F12
AS1HIEFEMNARKE791.058 & TN
EEZE2022F12831HIEFEMARKE
892.8E&E L T EFFBE()FE KHM
B BH2021FHARKEI46.1 B ETILM
28.6%E2022FMARKE4451BETT
FEHRKEFIE2021F FFFEE2022FF
ZEFEBATEIAH - HIN2022F 5
MEFEHIGETERENL (N EERXAR
REREBAAHAEENREEENEAR
DIMBRBEERRD - K (i) 378 R
80 e

Htt AR Wz (Fi8) F8E

T%%WJ S P T BA P E A IR A B iR
&/ (B1R) FRENAERE P -

For the year ended December 31,
BZ12A31HLFE

2022 2021

20224 20214

(RMB in thousands)
(AR¥TT)

Government grants B iF# Bh 21,078 29,860
Foreign exchange (loss)/gain 4ME (E518) Uiz (2,173) 10,524
Interest income F8 YW A 15,120 9,613
Loss on disposal of long-term assets HERHIE ER B %L (13,985) (11,613)
Asset impairment & E B & (41,788) (49,409)
Others EAth 13,164 (6,977)
Total &5t (8,584) (18,002)
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We recorded other losses of RMB8.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2022, as compared to other losses of RMB18.0
million for the year ended December 31, 2021. The change was
primarily due to the decrease of asset impairment in 2022.

Operating (Loss)/Profit and Operating (Loss)/
Profit Margin

As a result of the foregoing, our operating profit of RMB257.2
million for the year ended December 31, 2021 decreased to an
operating loss of RMB171.0 million for the year ended December
31, 2022. Our operating profit margin of 2.7% for the year ended
December 31, 2021 decreased to an operating loss margin of
1.8% for the year ended December 31, 2022, which was mainly
due to the above-mentioned reasons.

Finance Costs

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the components of
our finance costs for the periods indicated:

BEENWED

HZE2022%12 A31 B ILFE - HIFI8E
HBEARKs.6E8IL ME £2021
FI2AIALFEHGEMBEARE
18.0BETT - ZEBEERHN2022F %
ERERD

Re(BR) /AEREE (B
8),/ FE=x

BREMRE - BMBEBE2021F12 4
STHEFEMNKEEFNBARK257.288
TR EFHE20229F12 A31 B IEFEHK
BEEARKI7T1.088T - MWK E
FBEHREZE2021F12 831 HIEFERN
27% FHBEHE2022F 1231 B IEFE
MAE & BB E1.8% @ EE B RAMNATMIER

/8 YO RS

TRFFI PR B 3 A B 75 A AR BO AR AR
#Bo B4

For the year ended December 31,
BZE12A31ALEE

2022 2021
2022 F 20214

(RMB in thousands)
(AR®FT)

Interest on lease liabilities THE & &F| & 58,379 68,380
Interest on bank and other loans #R77 & H it B3 F & 61,820 59,656
Transaction costs for the issue of convertible redeemable preferred

shares and convertible loans and prepaid forward contract
TR EM A ERE AR R AT ERE R RBNERAE NN HAR - 24,360
Total #&5t 120,199 152,396
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Our finance costs decreased by 21.1% from RMB152.4 million
for the year ended December 31, 2021 to RMB120.2 million for
the year ended December 31, 2022, mainly because we issued
convertible redeemable preferred shares in the first half of 2021
and the costs are non-recurring in 2022.

Fair Value Change of Financial Assets and
Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit or Loss

The fair value change of financial assets and liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss for the year ended December 31, 2022 was
profit of RMB10.1 million, as compared to loss of RMB2,042.7
million for the year ended December 31, 2021. The changes in
2021 are non-recurring after the completion of the Company’s
global offering (“Global Offering”) in 2021, as all our convertible
redeemable preferred shares were automatically converted into
ordinary shares upon the completion of Global Offering. And the
Company recorded the fair value change of financial products of
RMB10.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2022.

Changes in Expected Redemption Amount
Associated with the Put Option Liabilities

There was no change in expected redemption amount associated
with the put option liabilities for the year ended December 31,
2022, as compared to RMB191.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2021. The changes in 2021 are non-recurring
after the completion of the Company’s Global Offering in 2021,
as the relevant financial liabilities associated with put option were
classified into non-controlling interest upon the completion of
Global Offering.
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Income Tax (Expense)/Credit

We recorded income tax expense of RMB128.1 million for the year
ended December 31, 2022, as compared to income tax credit
of RMB122.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2021,
primarily because some historical recoverable losses have expired
which resulted in the reduction in the amount of deferred tax
assets, resulting in deferred income tax expenses.

Loss for the Year

As a result of the foregoing, we recorded a loss of RMB409.3
million with a net loss margin of 4.4% for the year ended
December 31, 2022, as compared to a loss of RMB2,007.1
million with a net loss margin of 20.8% for the same period of
2021, which was, in particular, attributable to (i) the decrease
of RMB335.8 million in our gross profit due to the impact of
COVID-19 and the above-mentioned factors, (i) the decrease
of RMB249.7 million in net profit due to deferred tax expenses
in 2022 as compared to deferred tax credit in 2021, and (iii)
the increase of net profit of RMB2,244.3 million caused by the
changes in fair value change of financial assets and liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss and expected redemption amount
associated with the put option liabilities for the year ended
December 31, 2022.

BEEERWED T

Frigst (BX),#H2

KRR EE2022%12 A31 B IEFE G
FIBHESYARBI281EE T MEE
2021512 A1 B L FEHSMEMRIER
ARMB1224B88TT - TEZHNEHELA]
WEBECIH  ce8RELEHBEE
W WMEEECHERAY

FREE

BRLEMRE - BHMREBE2022F12 A
B1RILEFEHSGEEEARK400.38 8
T FEEEE4.4% 0 m2021 FEEH
EEAANRKE2,0071EHET  FEBEXA
20.8% ' EALEBEN ()X COVID-19 K E
MEETE  EMNRPSAREI35.888
TT ¢ (i))2022 FF BIRIEFTS R FA L 2021 4
RIBEFFSHIE RGBT FER D AR
249.7EETT - K(i)EE20229F12A8318
IEFE  UAREBEFAEBEEEHFAE
i emEERBAEN AR BEE

N RERGEA ERABNERERDR S E
BWEE) - SERUFFMIEMARK2,244.35
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Non-HKFRS Measures

To supplement our consolidated financial statements that are
presented in accordance with HKFRS, we also use adjusted
net (loss)/profit for the period (a non-HKFRS measure), adjusted
pre-tax (loss)/profit (a non-HKFRS measure) and adjusted EBITDA
(a non-HKFRS measure), as additional financial measures,
which are not required by, or presented in accordance with,
HKFRS. We believe that these non-HKFRS measures facilitate
comparisons of operating performance from period to period and
company to company by eliminating potential impacts of items
that our management does not consider to be indicative of our
operating performance. We believe that these measures provide
useful information to investors and others in understanding and
evaluating our consolidated results of operations in the same
manner as they help our management. However, our presentation
of these non HKFRS measures may not be comparable to similarly
titled measures presented by other companies. The use of these
non-HKFRS measures has limitations as an analytical tool, and
you should not consider them in isolation from, or as a substitute
for analysis of, our results of operations or financial condition as
reported under HKFRS.
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The following table sets out our non-HKFRS measures, and a TEREIIRAREERMOFER BB R
reconciliation from loss for the year to adjusted net (loss)/profit, HEAER UWRFABBESHERFTNA
adjusted pre-tax (loss)/profit and adjusted EBITDA for the year F (B8, R - AR (B18),/ 7
(three non-HKFRS measures) for the years indicated. R FHEEBITDA (ZEERBHEFHRE

REAFRIR) RSB -

For the year ended December 31,
BZE12A31BLEE

2022 2021
20224 20214

(RMB in thousands)

(AE®FT)
Loss for the year R &8 (409,267) (2,007,071)
Add: i :
Shares-based payment expenses™ J& 5 sz~ F 2 191,344 151,048
Fair value change of financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss®
NARBEFEEHEHFTATHERNECHEBEN A BEEH? - 2,043,941

Changes in expected redemption amount associated
with the put option liabilities®

B A ERENIERER S EFEHO = 191,533
Listing expenses® > @ - 28,987
Adjusted net (loss)/profit for the period EFHEBEHAKF (BFE), FHE (217,923) 408,438
Add: 0 :

Income tax expense/(credit) FTE&iFY /(%) 128,148 (122,392)
Adjusted pre-tax (loss)/profit for the period

KRERAB A (BE), FIE (89,775) 286,046
Add: 0 :

Depreciation #T& 1,058,830 887,062
Amortisation of other intangible assets £ £ 7 & & # 22,301 26,412
Interest income F|EUA (15,120) (9,613)
Finance costs B/ 4 120,199 152,396
Adjusted EBITDA &ZFZEBITDA 1,096,435 1,342,303
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Notes:

M

Share-based payment expenses relates to the share rewards we
granted to our employees, which is a non-cash item.

Fair value change of financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss represent the losses arising from change in fair value of our
issued preferred shares and convertible loans, which is a non-cash
item and is not directly related to our operating activities. Such
fair value changes are also non-recurring in nature as the relevant
preferred shares have been automatically converted into ordinary
shares upon the completion of the Listing of the Company’s ordinary
shares on the Stock Exchange.

Changes in expected redemption amount associated with the put
option liabilities is a non-cash item and is not directly related to our
operating activities. Such changes are also non-recurring in nature as
the relevant financial liabilities associated with put option have been
classified into non-controlling interest upon the completion of the
Listing.

Listing expenses represent the fees incurred in relation to the Global
Offering, which is a non-recurring item.

P&

M

Petn XA P B EAPI A B TR it n 82
AR - BIFREIEA -

NAnBEAEEEZEHFIAEHRED
TRABENAABEEZFERMDETE
ERRATEBHEFRNIABEEZPELD
iR EIFReEA  WIFREMNEE
B EEMER - AREEEERERAR
A EBBRNE R ETWEKR S ERG
TEk o AtREAABEEEHIEIFL
B

BREPREAEARNESERSRED
EIFRESHEA - WHFRBMNEEETHE
AR - AR ERE AR RS R
BEBR EWEKERE RS IEERE
o MRS EENEIFE R

(4) LTHAXERERBEELENER @ BIEL

BMIEE -

For the year ended December 31,

BE12A31BLLEE

Net loss margin JF &8 =

Adjusted net (loss)/profit margin ZFHET (FE) FIE=

Adjusted pre-tax (loss)/profit margin &REBH AT (FE), / FEER

Adjusted EBITDA margin &2 EBITDARH =

(4.4) (20.8)
(2.3) 4.2
(1.0) 3.0
11.7 13.9
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Capital Management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and
to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business
and maximise shareholders’ value. The Group manages its capital
structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in
economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to any
externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were made
in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during
the Reporting Period.

Depreciation

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the components of
our depreciation for the periods indicated:

BEEERWED T

EXEE

AEENEAEETEE AREAKER
FEKERN  YHBRENERLE
AXFEEB T CHREERAL - A&
B B E B AR R B E M AR S
BEREEARBYHE(FLHAE - B
R HBERRER  AEEAEHARARK
RIRMH RS - WRABRREEARET
ikt - AEEHEBSTEIASNEBEINE
BEAENR - REHA - SEHENERE
MBR  BRIEFELEE -

e

TREINAFTREABRMTENAN LD
AR 4 :

For the year ended December 31,
BZE12A31BLEE

(RMB in thousands)

(AR¥TT)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets & L EITE 621,075 580,052
Depreciation of motor vehicles /SE & 383,882 260,589
Others Hfth 53,873 46,421
Total #&5t 1,058,830 887,062

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group’s cash and cash equivalent as at December 31, 2022
were RMB1,039.3 million, representing an increase of 8.9%
compared to RMB954.3 million as at December 31, 2021. The
increase was primarily attributable to our net cash generated from
operating activities. The Group’s liquidity remains strong. During
the Reporting Period, the Group’s primary source of funds was
from its ordinary course of business, including payments received
from its customers.

REMER BB EIR

MN2022F12A31H A&EEZR& R
ReSEEWAARKE1,030.3FE L &
2021F12 A1 HM AR 9543 BTk
n8.9% o ZILMEBEHANKL L EEE
R FE - AEENRBIERFERS) - N
HERAN AEBNESTEREAEE
% BEREPIEI&NR -
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Borrowings and Gearing Ratio

As at December 31, 2022, the Group had outstanding secured
borrowings of approximately RMB1,037.3 million, and no
outstanding unsecured borrowings. The Group’s borrowings
carried interest at prevailing market rates.

As at December 31, 2022, our gearing ratio, calculated as total
borrowings divided by total equity attributable to equity holders
of the Company, was approximately 41.5% (December 31, 2021:
37.8%).

The borrowings of the Group are all held in Renminbi. And the
cash and cash equivalents of the Group are held in Renminbi,
U.S. dollars and Hong Kong dollars. During the Reporting Period,
the Group has not used any derivatives and other instruments for
hedging purposes.

Significant Investment Held

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any
significant investments, acquisitions or disposals.

Material Acquisition and Disposal of Subsidiaries,
Associates and Joint Ventures

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any material
acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint

ventures.

Future Plans for Material Investments and Capital
Assets

As of December 31, 2022, the Group did not have plans for
material investments and capital assets.
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Charge on Assets

As at December 31, 2022, certain of our bank loans and other
borrowings were secured by mortgages over certain of our motor
vehicles and buildings with a net carrying amount of RMB657.2
million and RMB107.1 million, respectively.

Contingent Liabilities

As of December 31, 2022, we have guaranteed certain bank
loans made to our customers, which amounted to RMB3.2 million.
As of December 31, 2022, we did not have any other material
contingent liabilities.

Capital Commitment

As of December 31, 2022, the capital commitment of the Group
amounted to RMB36.5 million.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

We have transactional currency exposures. We conduct our
businesses mainly in Renminbi, with certain transactions
denominated in other currencies, such as U.S. dollars. Certain
of our time deposits, cash and bank balances, other financial
assets, trade and other receivables, trade and other payables are
denominated in foreign currency which are exposed to foreign
currency risk. During the Reporting Period, we did not use any
derivative financial instruments to hedge against the volatility
associated with foreign currency transactions and other financial
assets and liabilities arising in the ordinary course of business. We
currently do not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However,
our management monitors foreign exchange exposure and will
consider appropriate hedging measures in the future should the
need arise.

Share Pledge

During the Reporting Period, there is no pledge by our controlling
shareholders of their interests in the Shares to secure the
Company’s debts or to secure guarantees or other support of its
obligation before the Listing and we do not have any controlling
shareholder upon the Listing.
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OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS
Future Strategy

2023 is a key year of transformation for the company, as we
implement our new strategy with an emphasis on quality and
profitability. Over the past decade, we have built a leading
LTL network through a scale-driven approach and we have
achieved great success in that regard. In today’s ever-changing
business environment, we must adapt and evolve to consistently
improve our profitability and service quality to sustain high
quality growth. We've decided to shift our strategic focus from
a scale-driven approach to one that prioritizes on increasing
operational efficiency and consistently improving service quality.
We are rigorously implementing below measures to ensure our
transformation achieves our key strategic objective which is to
maintain our leading position in China’s LTL market and drive
further consolidation in this market.

(i)  Optimize our pricing

e Further break down and refine our pricing scheme to
allow more precise pricing of our product by weight range
and routing

e Execute better price control over our product offerings to
achieve a desired margin structure

(i) Strengthen our management over our ecosystem, primarily
with freight partners and agents

e Form closer partnership with, including investing in, our
top freight partners to expand market shares in key
market/regions (such as e-commerce)

e Implement a more balanced management over different

groups and profile of freight partners, shipping and
dispatching
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(i) Enhance the level of our service quality

e |Improve the overall timeliness and safety of our service to
attract and retain high-margin shippers

e Optimize product mix segmentation to drive business
growth on the basis of improved overall service quality

(iv) Enhance operational efficiency

e Optimize our sorting centre footprint and on-site
operational standard and to reduce transit times and
sorting costs

e Strengthen our in-time routing capability to enhance
line-haul transportation efficiencies such as loading rate
and transit ratio

e Enhance fleet management to achieve higher asset
efficiency and lower transportation costs

We believe that above strategies are essential to build our strong
long-term competitive barrier, allowing us to drive profitable
growth while strengthening our lead in China’s LTL market.

IV.RISK MANAGEMENT

We are exposed to various risks during our operations. We
have established and currently maintain risk management and
internal control systems consisting of policies and procedures
that we consider to be appropriate for our business operations.
We are dedicated to continually improving these systems. We
have adopted and implemented comprehensive risk management
policies in various aspects of our business operations such
as information technology, financial reporting, investment
management and internal control.
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Executive Directors

Mr. Qin Xinghua (Z®2%) (formerly known as Qin Xinfa (F#
2%)), aged 52, is an executive Director, Chief Executive Officer and
President of our Company. Mr. Qin was appointed as our Director in
February 2015 and re-designated as our executive Director in May
2021. Mr. Qin has also been our Chief Executive Officer and President
since June 2010. He has been appointed as one of the co-chairmen of
the Board with effect from January 9, 2023. He is the chairman of the
Nomination Committee and a member of each of the Remuneration
Committee, the ESG Committee and the Strategy Committee. Mr.
Qin is responsible for the overall strategic planning, organisational
development and overseeing the business operations of our Group.

Mr. Qin has over 25 years of experience in the logistics industry. Prior
to joining the Group, he held a senior management role at Guangxi
Airport Group Co., Ltd. for approximately 15 years till May 2009. Prior
to that, Mr. Qin served as an officer in the Air Force of the People’s
Liberation Army from which he retired in December 1993.

Mr. Qin is currently a director of certain principal subsidiaries of the
Company, including Shanghai ANE and Giantruck.

Mr. Jin Yun (£E), aged 48, joined the Group in February 2012 and
has been working in a principal subsidiary of the Company, Anneng
Juchuang Supply Chain Management (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd., since
then, where he currently serves as the general manager. Mr. Jin
was appointed as our executive Director and Chief Growth Officer in
September 2022.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Jin worked at Guangzhou Feifan
Aviation Passenger and Cargo Service Co., Ltd. from March 2000 to
December 2011, where his last position was the marketing manager.
Mr. Jin graduated from North China Institute of Aerospace Engineering
with tertiary education qualification in accounting and auditing in June
1999.

Mr. Jin is currently a director of certain principal subsidiaries of the
Company, including Shanghai ANE and Giantruck.
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Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chen Weihao (BR{E%), aged 43, is a non-executive Director of
our Company. Mr. Chen was appointed as our Director in December
2019 and re-designated as our non-executive Director in May 2021.
He has been appointed as one of the co-chairmen of the Board with
effect from January 9, 2023. He is the chairman of each of the ESG
Committee and the Strategy Committee.

Mr. Chen has been a partner and managing director of Centurium
Capital Management Ltd. since July 2019. From October 2011 to May
2019, Mr. Chen worked at a Warburg Pincus entity where his last held
position was a managing director. Prior to that, Mr. Chen worked as
a vice president at Crescent Advisors China (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. from
January 2008 to October 2011 and in the investment banking division
of Morgan Stanley Asia Limited in Hong Kong from April 2007 to
November 2007.

Mr. Chen is currently a director of Shanghai ANE, a principal
subsidiary of our Company.

Mr. Chen obtained his Bachelor’s degree in accounting from the
Fudan University in Shanghai, PRC in July 2002 and his Master’s
degree in business administration from the INSEAD Business School in
2006. Mr. Chen is a member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants.

Mr. Wang Jian (E£8l), aged 42, is a non-executive Director of our
Company. Mr. Wang was appointed as our Director in February 2021
and re-designated as our non-executive Director in May 2021. He is a
member of the Strategy Committee.

Mr. Wang has worked at Shanghai Panxin Equity Investment
Management Co., Ltd, a subsidiary of CITIC Private Equity Funds
Management Co., Ltd., from July 2017 to December 2018, then
at Tianjin Panmao Enterprise Management Partnership (limited
partnership) from January 2019 to September 2020 and Beijing
Panmao Investment Management Co., Ltd since October 2020. From
August 2016 to May 2017, Mr. Wang worked at Shanghai Vanke
Changning Real Estate Co., Ltd, and from March 2014 to March 2016,
he worked at Shihenatong (Shanghai) Investment Co., Ltd, currently
named as Shihenatong (Shanghai) Industrial Co., Ltd. Prior to that, Mr.
Wang worked at an affiliate of Global Logistic Properties Ltd.
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Mr. Wang is currently a director of Shanghai ANE, a principal
subsidiary of our Company.

Mr. Wang obtained his Bachelor’s degree in geomatics engineering
from the Tongji University ([A&X2) in Shanghai, PRC in July 2002.

Mr. Wei Bin (B832), aged 53, joined the Company as a non-executive
Director in March 2023. Mr. Wei has worked in CDH Investments
since April 2019, including CDH Investments Management (Hong
Kong) Limited where he is currently serving as a senior partner.
Mr. Wei obtained his Bachelor's degree in auditing from Zhongnan
University of Economics in 1992 in China and his Master’s degree in
finance from Jinan University in 2001 in China. Mr. Wei has become
a non-practicing member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants since 1993, a Senior Auditor granted by the National
Audit Office of the People’s Republic of China since 2003 and a Senior
Accountant granted by the Beijing Municipal Bureau of Personnel
since 2003.

Mr. Wei is currently serving as an independent non-executive director
of Honghua Group Limited (ZZEE£EHFRAF]), a company listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 196); an executive director of OCI
International Holdings Limited (RZBIEIZRBRAF]), a company
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 329); an independent
non-executive director of Sinohealth Holdings Limited (2 B2 EBR A
A]), a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2361); and
an independent director of Huize Holding Limited, a NASDAQ-listed
company (NASDAQ: HUIZ).
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Li Wilson Wei (Z#), aged 45, has been served as an
independent non-executive Director of our Company since October
30, 2021. He is the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of
each of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee.

Mr. Li has been the chief financial officer of Spark Education, a
China-based online education platform, since September 2020. From
September 2018 to June 2020, Mr. Li was the chief financial officer
of OYO Hotels. From April 2016 to August 2018, Mr. Li was the chief
operating officer and chief financial officer of CAR Inc. (stock code:
0699) and the executive vice-president and the chief financial officer
from May 2014 to April 2016. From July 2010 to April 2014, Mr. Li
worked as the chief financial officer of UniTrust Finance & Leasing
Corporation. From January 2007 to July 2010, Mr. Li was the chief
financial officer for Global Supply Chain Asia Group in GE Healthcare.
From January 2004 to January 2007, Mr. Li was part of the General
Electric corporate audit staff based in the United States and Asia.
From August 2002 to January 2004, Mr. Li worked at GE Healthcare
China as the head of risk and credit management. From July 2000
to July 2002, Mr Li was a management trainee of the Financial
Management Programme in General Electric.

Mr. Li graduated from Fudan University in Shanghai, PRC with a
Bachelor’s degree in finance in July 2000.

Mr. Geh George Shalchu (E8%]), aged 62, has been served as an
independent non-executive Director of our Company since October
30, 2021. He is a member of the Audit Committee.

Mr. Geh served as a managing director at Lone Star Funds from
January 2019 to December 2020. From January 2016 to December
2018, Mr. Geh worked as a managing director at AlixPartners. Mr.
Geh was the co-founder of RichWise Capital Ltd. and he worked as
managing partner in RichWise Capital Ltd. from September 2008 to
December 2015. From September 1998 to February 2005, Mr. Geh
worked in McKinsey & Consulting Company where his last position
was associate principal.
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Mr. Geh obtained his Bachelor’s degree of science in metals
engineering from Shanghai Jiao Tong University in Shanghai, PRC
in July 1982, his Master of Science degree in metals science and
engineering from the Pennsylvania State University in United States
in August 1991, and his Master of Science degree in industrial
administration from Carnegie Mellon University in United States in May
1998.

Mr. Lam Man Kwong (#3[l), aged 46, has been served as an
independent non-executive Director of our Company since October
30, 2021. He is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a
member of each of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee
and the ESG Committee.

Mr. Lam joined Chow Tai Fook Enterprises Limited in September 2019
and is currently a managing principal. From June 2014 to August
2019, Mr. Lam worked at Credit Suisse (Hong Kong) Limited in the
Investment Banking and Capital Markets Department, where his last
held position was a managing director. Prior to that, Mr. Lam worked
at Nomura International (Hong Kong) Limited and Credit Suisse (Hong
Kong) Limited. Mr. Lam currently is a supervisor of Yunnan Jinggu
Forestry Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
(stock code: 600265).

Mr. Lam obtained a Bachelor's degree with a major in economics

from the University of California at Los Angeles in United States in
December 1997.
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Senior Management

Mr. Qin Xinghua (E# %), aged 52, is an executive Director, Chief
Executive Officer and President of our Company. Please see his
biography in the part headed “—Executive Directors” in this section.

Mr. Jin Yun (£Z), aged 48, is an executive Director and Chief
Growth Officer of our Company. Please see his biography in the part
headed “—Executive Directors” in this section.

Mr. Lin Sam Disheng (#3#4), aged 40, is our Chief Financial Officer
and joined our Group in May 2020. Mr. Lin is primarily responsible for
finance, risk management, investor relations and strategic investment
of our Group.

Mr. Lin has extensive experience in the finance industry, primarily
in the areas of corporate investment and investment banking. Prior
to joining our Group, Mr. Lin worked as the investment director at
Cainiao Smart Logistics Network (Hong Kong) Limited, an affiliate of
the Alibaba Group (NYSE: BABA; HKEX: 9988). Prior to that, Mr. Lin
worked at Cutfield Freeman & Co Ltd, an international investment
banking boutique specialising in corporate finance, where he worked
in the London office from March 2010 to November 2012 and the
Hong Kong office from November 2012 to January 2018, and served
as the managing director from 2015 to January 2018. Mr. Lin started
his career as an analyst in the London office of Goldman Sachs in
2006.

Mr. Lin obtained his Bachelor's degree with first class honours in
e-commerce and digital business from the University of Nottingham in
the United Kingdom in July 2005 and his Master’s degree in computer
science from the University of Oxford in the United Kingdom in
October 2006.
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Report of Directors

EEEHE

The Board is pleased to present this annual report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Reporting Period.

GLOBAL OFFERING

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman lIslands on July 31,
2014 as an exempted company with limited liability under the laws of
the Cayman Islands. The Company’s Shares were listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange on the Listing Date.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company operates a leading express freight network in China’s
less-than-truckload (“LTL”) market. Express freight network operators,
like us, are LTL service providers who have nationwide coverage,
and deliver timely and comprehensive freight transportation services.
The Company mainly provides transportation services, value-added
services and dispatch services to our freight partners, our direct
customers. The Company aims to provide the most efficient logistics
infrastructure for commerce in China.

The Company launched its full-truckload (“FTL”) business in May
2022, in order to fully utilize the backhaul capacity of self-operated
fleets deployed for one-way route. FTL handles the freight demand of
shippers with an entire truck for direct point-to-point service.

Save as the above, there were no other significant changes in the
nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year ended
December 31, 2022. Please refer to note 1 to the financial statements
in this report for details of the principal activities of the principal
subsidiaries of the Group. An analysis of the Group’s revenue and
operating profit for the Reporting Period by principal activities is set
out in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in
this annual report and note 5 to the financial statements.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business during the Reporting Period, which
includes a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by
the Group, an analysis of the Group’s performance using financial key
performance indicators, particulars of important events affecting the
Group during the year ended December 31, 2022, and an indication
of likely future developments in the Group’s business, could be found
in the sections headed “Co-Chairmen’s Statement”, “Management
Discussion and Analysis” and “Corporate Governance Report” in this
annual report. The review and discussion form part of this Directors’
report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The consolidated results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set
out on pages 149 to 157 of this annual report. During the Reporting
Period, none of the Shareholders has waived or agreed to waive any
dividends.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend in
respect of the Reporting Period.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 11 of this annual
report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Reporting Period are set out in note 15 to the
financial statements in this annual report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

We may be involved in legal proceedings in the ordinary course of
business from time to time. For the Reporting Period, the Company
is in compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Company.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Details of the events after the Reporting Period of the Company are
set out in “Management Discussion and Analysis — Il. Financial Review
— Subsequent Events after the Reporting Period” in this annual report.

Save for the above, there were no important events affecting the
Company and its subsidiaries which occurred after December 31,
2022 and up to the date of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is highly aware of the importance of environment protection
and has not noted any material incompliance with all relevant laws
and regulations in relation to its business including environmental
protection, health and safety, workplace conditions, employment and
the environment.

The Group has established detailed internal rules regarding
environmental protection, in particular, the discharge of air, water and
solid waste and noise control. During the Reporting Period, we did
not incur any additional costs specifically attributable to environmental
compliance.

Further details of the Group’s environmental policies and performance
for the Reporting Period will be disclosed in the Company’s
environmental, social and governance report published at the same
time with this annual report/contained in this annual report.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the
Reporting Period are set out in note 29 to the financial statements in
this annual report.

RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Company during the
Reporting Period is set out in note 31 to the financial statements in
this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at December 31, 2022, the Company’s distributable reserves,
calculated in accordance with relevant rules and regulations,
amounted to nil.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed
or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the Reporting
Period.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association, or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige
the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing
Shareholders.
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ISSUE OF EQUITY SECURITIES

The Company was listed by way of an initial public offering on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange on November 11, 2021. 80,220,000
ordinary shares of the Company with a par value of US$0.00002 were
issued at HK$13.88 each. For details of the Listing, please refer to
the Prospectus and the announcement titled “Announcement of Final
Offer Price and Allotment Results” of the Company dated November
10, 2021. There has been no issue for cash of equity securities by the
Company from the Listing Date to the end of the Reporting Period.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS
Use of Net Proceeds from Global Offering

On November 11, 2021, upon the Company’s listing on the Stock
Exchange, the Company issued 80,220,000 ordinary shares with a par
value of US$0.00002 at HK$13.88 each, and raised gross proceeds
of approximately HK$1,113,454,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB916,606,000). The Company obtained net proceeds of
approximately HK$1,009.2 million (equivalent to RMB830.8 million)
(after deducting the underwriting commissions and other estimated
expenses in connection with the exercise of the Global Offering).
The net price to the Company (which was calculated by dividing the
net proceeds by the number of shares issued in connection with the
Global Offering after taking account of the exercise of overallotment
option) was approximately HK$12.58 per share.

The table below sets forth a detailed breakdown and description of
the use of net proceeds from the date of the Listing to December 31,
2022. The Company intends to use the net proceeds in the same
matter and proportion as set out in the section headed “Future Plans
and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus.
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Percentage of Amount of
total net net proceeds Expected
proceeds | for the relevant Amount of | Amount not yet | timeframe for
(in the same | use (in the same | net proceeds utilized as of utilizing the
proportion as proportion as utilized as of the date of remaining
stated in the stated in the | December 31, | December 31, unutilized
Use of Proceeds Prospectus) Prospectus) 2022 2022 | net proceeds
(%) (HKS million) (HKS million) (HKS million)
EFERE
BHAEN BRiEE BAREG
ARl (R [ ARNMERE EZ2022% BZ2022% *EA
RRERY FENEHE 127318 12A318 FS5E
REN (HARERD | KANFREHE HARE A R
ERERE LAIRRE) | RENLARRE) FENSE e REEEX
(%) (BBBT) (BE#T) (BEAT)
(A) building, upgrading and potential acquisitions of 40.0 403.7 - 403.7  24-36 months
months 5 to 10 key transit hubs in strategic locations from the Listing

to accommodate our high volume growth, improve our
network structure and ensure stability and long-term

planning

(A EBRLERER AZMEERBESE10EROPERE UE BLmie
EEEBNEER YHEAMNERLR YRREREEAN 242368 A
RERE

(B) investment in our line-haul truck fleet to further improve 30.0 302.8 302.8 -

our operation efficiency

(B) REZMHWBAEREN  NE-FRABANELNE

(i) purchase approximately 2,000 to 3,000 modern and high- 25.0 252.3 262.3 -
capacity truck tractors and trailers, and to partner with
major trucking manufacturers to customise their models
to fit our operational needs
() BEH2000E30000RRIBENEIERME - T&
TENTERERAE  HRUETERLEN  JRR
AMMEERX
(i) repay our borrowings for the purchase of trucks 5.0 50.5 50.5 -
(i) EEEERENEN
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Percentage of Amount of
total net net proceeds Expected
proceeds | for the relevant Amount of | Amount not yet | timeframe for
(in the same | use (in the same | net proceeds utilized as of utilizing the
proportion as proportion as utilized as of the date of remaining
stated in the stated in the | December 31, | December 31, unutilized
Use of Proceeds Prospectus) Prospectus) 2022 2022 | net proceeds
(%) (HK$ million) (HK$ milion) (HKS million)
EFERE
FHRAEN R BARG
AL (R | RROFERE BZ2022F HZ2022F X8R
RRERY FENEHE 124318 12A318 FSRE
REN (HARERS | KANFREHE RN
ERERE LAIRR) | RENLARRE) FENSE : REREX
(%) (RE#AT) (BE#T) (REAT,
(C) investment in technology innovations 20.0 201.8 15.0 186.8  24-36 months
from the Listing
(C) REMEZA BLmiE
2423618 A
() upgrade the technologies and automated facilities of our 10.0 100.9 9.3 91.6

sorting network
() FROBBEOHEKTAEBICES

(@) Deploy Al-enabled autonomous decision-making 2.0 20.2 7.2 13.0
systems in our management of sorting network
to reduce human error and reliance on individual
workers

() EHNEBRNERTEBAIBHEBIARZE
B SR ARSI R 08 & THVfKRE

(b)  Sorting automation, with focuses on Al vision 8.0 80.7 2.1 78.6
monitoring systems, dynamic volume weighing
devices, unmanned forklift, loT devices and
automated cross-belts tailored for freight sorting,
which enable us to further improve sorting capacity
and efficiency

) HREH EXWIARBEZZR DRRER
BRE EANE  TRENRENHBEBIEHN
HEHRNE  BREME-SRE) REEAINE
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Use of Proceeds

i

D)

D)

BRERE

(i) invest in intelligent transportation management systems
and autonomous driving technologies
i) REBHERERZGREDERRN
(@) Intelligent transportation management to further
optimize our route planning and enhance our
transportation efficiency
() BREREE NE-IRIBREABTRSERN
X
(b)  Autonomous driving technologies to improve
transportation safety and reduce transportation cost
b BBERRN NREERR:REEEGKA

Working capital and other general corporate purposes

EEASRAM-RAARE

Percentage of
total net
proceeds

(in the same
proportion as
stated in the
Prospectus)
(%)
EFERE
BHAEN
B (&
RRERY
REN

Lo BIRR)
(%)

10.0

8.0

2.0

10.0

Amount of

net proceeds
for the relevant
use (in the same

proportion as
stated in the
Prospectus)
(HKS million)

AR
REBNFRERE
FENEE
(RERERS
REMLLAIRER)
(B&BT)

100.9

80.7

20.2

100.9
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Amount of
net proceeds
utilized as of

December 31,
2022
(HK$ million)

HE2022%
12A31R
EANMERE
FENSHE
(BEAT)

5.7

5.7

38.1

Amount not yet
utilized as of
the date of
December 31,
2022

(HKS million)

BZ22022%
1278318

75.0

20.2

62.8

Expected
timeframe for
utilizing the
remaining
unutilized

net proceeds

BANG
ABA
& HE
FEN
BHEEE

24-36 months
from the Listing
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DIRECTORS

The Board currently consists of the following 8 Directors:
Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Yongjun
(Chairman, resigned with effect from January 9, 2023)
Mr. Qin Xinghua (Co-Chairman, chief executive officer)
Mr. Zhu Jianhui (resigned with effect from September 1, 2022)
Mr. Jin Yun (appointed with effect from September 1, 2022)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chen Weihao (Co-Chairman)

Mr. Wang Jian

Ms. Li Dan (resigned with effect from March 30, 2023)
Mr. Wei Bin (appointed with effect from March 31, 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Wilson Wei
Mr. Geh George Shalchu
Mr. Lam Man Kwong

In accordance with Articles 16.2 and 16.19 of the Articles of
Association, Mr. Jin Yun, Mr. Wei Bin, Mr. Lam Man Kwong, Mr. Wang
Jian and Mr. Geh George Shalchu will retire by rotation, and being
eligible, have offered themselves for re-election as Directors at the
annual general meeting.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forth coming
annual general meeting has an unexpired service contract which is not
determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year
without payment of compensation, other than under normal statutory
obligations.

Details of the Directors to be re-elected at the annual general meeting

are set out in the circular to the Shareholders to be dispatched before
the annual general meeting.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE
DIRECTORS AND THE SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group as at the date of this annual report are set out in the section
headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” of this
annual report.

CHANGE OF INFORMATION OF
DIRECTORS

Save as disclosed in this report, there are no other changes to the
Directors’ and senior management’s information as required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of our executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company under which the initial term of their service
contracts shall be three years commencing from October 30, 2021
until terminated in accordance with the terms and conditions of the
service contract or by either party giving to the other not less than
three months’ prior notice in writing. Pursuant to the service contracts
entered into with us, none of our executive Directors will receive any
remuneration as director’s fee.

Each of our non-executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company under which the initial term of their
service contract shall be three years commencing from October 30,
2021 for Mr. Qin Xinghua and September 1, 2022 for Mr. Jin Yun
until terminated in accordance with the terms and conditions of the
service contract or by either party giving to the other not less than
one month’s prior notice in writing. Pursuant to the service contracts
entered into with us, the non-executive Directors will receive no
remuneration as director’s fee.
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Each of our independent non-executive Directors has entered into
an appointment letter with the Company under which the initial term
of their appointment letters shall be three years commencing from
October 30, 2021 until terminated in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the appointment letter or by either party giving to the
other not less than one month’s prior notice in writing. Under these
appointment letters, each of our independent non-executive Directors
will receive an annual director’s fee of HK$500,000.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has entered into any
service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries (excluding
contracts expiring or determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENT OR
CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

None of the Directors nor any entity connected with the Directors
had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance to the business of the Group
to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries
was a party during the Reporting Period.

COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Directors and senior management receive compensation in
the form of salaries, allowances, and benefits in kind, discretionary
bonuses, retirement scheme contributions and other share-based
compensation. The compensation of Directors and senior management
is determined based on each Director and senior management’s
responsibilities, qualification, position and seniority. Details of the
Directors’ emoluments and emoluments of the five highest paid
individuals in the Group are set out in notes 10 and 11 to the financial

statements of this annual report.
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During the Reporting Period, Mr. Zhu Jianhui resigned as an executive
Director. The total emoluments paid by the Company to Mr. Zhu as
compensation for loss of office was RMB12,700,000.

Saved as disclosed above, for the Reporting Period, no emoluments
were paid by the Group to any Director or any of the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. None of the Directors has waived any
emoluments for the Reporting Period.

Except as disclosed above, no other payments have been made or
are payable, for the Reporting Period, by our Group to or on behalf of
any of the Directors.

The remuneration (including salaries, allowances and benefits in kind,
share-based payment expenses and pension scheme contributions)
payable to the senior management of the Company by band during
the Reporting Period is shown in the following table:

Band of remuneration
s E
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RBEMA - NEERERTINTES - A2
AN THAELEELBEBEENHSRERA
K #12,700,0007T °

B EXFAIESN  RBMEHA - AEEHRER
ENEFKARZRRHMA LA FHFMESM
AREERMAR KB R R L AFRRERE
8- REHRN - BERESHEEAME

B EXFEBEEN  RREHA - ARERE
HMBERENESHIEA  TERARTANES
B SR B AR

RB|BEMA - BN TARA]SHRE EE 0B

(BRE#HE  RUREWEN - BOINEXR
RSB BEWTRATR

Number of individual(s)

AEHE

Nil to HK$3,000,000 £ %3,000,000# 7T 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$6,000,000 3,000,001 % 7T %6,000,000% 7T 0
HK$6,000,001 to HK$9,000,000 6,000,001 7T £ 9,000,000/ 7T 2
HK$9,000,001 to HK$12,000,000 9,000,001 # 7T % 12,000,000/ 7T 1
HK$12,000,001 to HK$15,000,000 12,000,00178 7L % 15,000,000 7T 0
HK$15,000,001 to HK$18,000,000 15,000,00178 7. % 18,000,000 7T 0
HK$18,000,001 to HK$21,000,000 18,000,001/ 7% 21,000,000 7T 1
5

Further details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest
paid employees required to be disclosed under Appendix 16 of the
Listing Rules have been set out in notes 10 and 11 to the financial
statements in this report.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors or their respective
close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest in
a business that competed or was likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE
OBLIGATIONS PURSUANT TO THE
LISTING RULES

The Company does not have any other disclosure obligations under
Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22 of the Listing Rules.

NON-COMPETITION ARRANGEMENTS

No non-competition agreements or arrangement has been provided by
the substantial shareholders as at December 31, 2022 or at any time
during the Reporting Period.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the Directors’ service contracts and appointment letters, no
contract concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Group was entered into
or in existence as at December 31, 2022 or at any time during the
Reporting Period.

60 ANE (Cayman) Inc. ® ANNUAL REPORT 2022

EERHGERERPIESR

RIREHR - BETEREES ATTHEA
(R#H ETRE) ERAEEEBERAEE
BEATREELNEBFNEBRRAER
S o

EHRARENFERERE

RATIE FHRAFE13.2015 - F13.211EK
F13 221K EMEMEMIPBERT -

PR F B
2022912 A 31 H s ¥R & HI R 89 1T 1] B

- ERRRBEREBRE L BRI -

EEESHN

BREERBAHORZEEIN - 1B2022F12 A
31 BHARMEHAANEARE - BIER T
FHEAEER2 RN EHEBOHBTILNIT
HEH -



CONVERTIBLE BONDS

During the Reporting Period, the Group has not issued any convertible
bonds.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Equity Incentive Plans, no equity-linked agreements
that will or may result in the Company issuing shares, or that require
the Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result
in the Company issuing shares, were entered into by the Company
during the Reporting Period or subsisted at the end of 2022.

MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Group was not involved in any material legal proceeding during
the Reporting Period.

LOAN AND GUARANTEE

During the Reporting Period, the Group had not made any loan
or provided any guarantee for loan, directly or indirectly, to the
Directors and senior management of the Company, or their respective
connected persons.
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EQUITY INCENTIVE PLANS AND SHARE
AWARD SCHEME

Equity Incentive Plans

On May 29, 2015 and December 1, 2015, our Company adopted the
2015 equity incentive plan (the “2015 Equity Incentive Plan”) and
the 2016 equity incentive plan (the “2016 Equity Incentive Plan”),
respectively. The 2015 Equity Incentive Plan and 2016 Equity Incentive
Plan were further amended and approved on 30 January 2019 and
30 December 2020 in preparation of the Listing to diversify the forms
of awards to be granted under such plans. On February 7, 2021, our
Company further adopted the 2021 equity incentive plan (the “2021
Equity Incentive Plan” and together with the 2015 Equity Incentive
Plan and the 2016 Equity Incentive Plan, the “Equity Incentive
Plans”). The Equity Incentive Plans are funded by existing Shares
only. The terms of the Equity Incentive Plans are subject to provisions
of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. The following is a summary of the
principal terms of the Equity Incentive Plans.

Summary of Terms

1. Purposes of the Equity Incentive Plans
The purposes of the Equity Incentive Plans are to attract and
retain personnel for positions of substantial responsibility, provide

additional incentive to employees, Directors and consultants, and
promote the success of the Group’s business.
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2. Eligible Participants

Any employee of our Group of manager level or above, or any
senior management or officer as approved by the administrator
of the Equity Incentive Plans shall be eligible to participate in the
Equity Incentive Plans.

Grant of Awards

The Equity Incentive Plans provide for the grant of incentive share
options, non-statutory share option, restricted shares awards and
RSUs awards.

The Board or a committee of Directors or of other individuals duly
appointed by the Board or the remuneration committee of the
Company (the “Committee” or “Administrator”) is authorised to
grant awards to the participants.

Exercise of Options and Exercise Period

Except as otherwise provided in the Equity Incentive Plans or in an
award agreement, an option may be exercised for all, or from time
to time any part, of the Shares for which it is then exercisable.

The Administrator shall determine the time or times at which an
option may be exercised by the grantee in whole or in part under
the Equity Incentive Plans.

Settlement of RSUs

RSUs that will be settled upon vesting, subject to the terms of the
applicable award agreement, either by delivery to the holder of
the number of Shares that equals the number of RSUs that then
become vested or by the payment to the holder of cash equal to
the then fair market value of that number of Shares.
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Term

The Equity Incentive Plans shall automatically terminate on the
earlier of: (i) the tenth anniversary of the effective date of the
Equity Incentive Plans; or (ii) its suspension or termination by the
Board.

The remaining life of the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan, the 2016
Equity Incentive Plan and the 2017 Equity Incentive Plan is
approximately 2 years and 1 month, 2 years and 8 months, 7
years and 10 months, respectively.

Maximum Numbers of Shares subject to Equity Incentive Plans

The total number of Shares which may be issued or transferred
under the Equity Incentive Plans is 119,035,339 ordinary Shares,
comprising (i) 49,215,150 ordinary Shares under the 2015 Equity
Incentive Plan; (i) 15,700,915 ordinary Shares under the 2016
Equity Incentive Plan; and (iii) 54,119,274 ordinary Shares under
the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan, representing approximately 4.23%,
1.35% and 4.65% of the total issued Shares of the Company as
at the date of this annual report, respectively.

Shares Available for Issue

There is no Share available for issue under the Equity Incentive
Plans as they are funded by existing Shares only.
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10.

Vesting

The awards granted to the participant under the Equity Incentive
Plans shall be vested over a three-year period, on the first,
second and third anniversary of the effective date of grant, unless
specified otherwise. The Committee at its sole discretion can set
additional vesting requirements which may include, but not limited
to, criteria based on the participant’s duration of employment,
the result of participant’s performance assessment or any other
criteria selected by the Committee. At any time after grant of an
award, the Committee may by its sole discretion and subject to
whatever terms and conditions it selects, accelerate the period
during which an award vests. The Committee shall determine
conditions or terms, if any, that must be satisfied before all or part
of a vested option may be exercised or a vested RSU may be
settled.

Exercise Price for Options and Purchase Price for Awards

The exercise price for options under the Equity Incentive Plans
shall be determined by the Administrator at the date when an
offer of the grant of option is made to a participant (the “Offer
Date”) in its absolute discretion but in any event shall not be less
than the highest of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in
the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the
Offer Date, which must be a business day; (i) the average closing
price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheets issued
by the Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the Offer Date; (iii) the nominal value of the Shares;
and (iv) HK$10. For the avoidance of doubt, the above-mentioned
criteria of the exercise price of an option will not apply to the
grant of an award in the form of a RSU under the Share Incentive
Plans, as the participants are not required to pay for Shares upon
vesting of an award of RSUs. Other than the payment in relation
to settlement of RSUs as mentioned in the paragraph headed
“5. Settlement of RSUs” above, there is no amount payable on
application or acceptance of the option or award and therefore no
period within which payments or calls must or may be made or
loans for such purposes must be repaid under the Equity Incentive
Plans.
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11. Amendment and Termination of the Equity Incentive Plans

The Board may at any time amend, alter, suspend or terminate
the Equity Incentive Plans and shall obtain shareholders’ approval
of any amendment or termination to the extent necessary and
desirable to comply with applicable laws. No amendment,
alteration, suspension or termination of the Equity Incentive Plans
will impair the rights of any participant, unless mutually agreed
otherwise between the participant and the Administrator, which
agreement must be in writing and signed by the participant and
the Company.

12. Administration of the Equity Incentive Plans

66

The Equity Incentive Plans shall be subject to the administration of
the Committee. Subject to any specific designation in the Equity
Incentive Plans, the Committee has the exclusive power, authority
and sole discretion, among others:

() to select the participants to whom awards may be granted
hereunder;

(i) to determine the number of Shares to be covered by each
award granted hereunder;

to determine the terms and conditions, not inconsistent with
the terms of the Equity Incentive Plans, of any award granted
hereunder. Such terms and conditions include, but are not
limited to, the exercise price, any adjustment to the exercise
price after the grant date, the time or times when awards may
be exercised (which may be based on performance criteria),
any vesting acceleration or waiver of forfeiture restrictions,
and any restriction or limitation regarding any award or the
Shares relating thereto, based in each case on such factors
as the Board or the Committee will determine;

(iv

=

to construe and interpret the terms of the Equity Incentive
Plans and Awards granted pursuant to the Equity Incentive
Plans;

(v) to prescribe, amend and rescind rules and regulations relating
to the Equity Incentive Plans;
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18.

14.

(vi) to authorise any person to execute on behalf of the Company
any instrument required to effect the grant of an award
previously granted by the Board or the Committee;

(vii) to modify or amend each award, including adjustments to
the terms of awards granted under the Equity Incentive Plans
and to allow a participant to defer the receipt of the payment
of cash or delivery of Shares that otherwise would be due to
such participant under an award; and

(viiiyto make all other determinations deemed necessary or
advisable for administering the Equity Incentive Plans.

Granting of Awards

The Committee may, from time to time, select for participants
those to whom an award shall be granted and shall determine the
nature and amount of each award, which shall not be inconsistent
with the requirements of the Equity Incentive Plans. Each award
shall be evidenced by an award agreement between our Company
and the participant. The award agreement shall include such
additional provisions as may be specified by the Committee.

RSUs granted under the Equity Incentive Plans

As at December 31, 2022, an aggregate of 111,272,657 RSUs
in respect of 111,272,657 Shares have been granted to 325
participants (including 2 Directors and 1 member of the senior
management of our Company) under the Equity Incentive Plans,
representing approximately 9.57% of the issued share capital of
our Company as at December 31, 2022. Based on the vesting
schedule of the awards, approximately 78,995,484 Shares
have been vested as of December 31, 2022, representing
approximately 6.79% of the issued share capital of our Company
as at December 31, 2022.
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14.
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Save as disclosed herein, from the date of adoption of the Equity
Incentive Plans to December 31, 2022, no options or awards
have been granted to any Directors, senior management and
other employees of our Group or their affiliates or eligible persons
pursuant to the Equity Incentive Plans. 7,762,682 Shares,
representing approximately 0.67% of the issued share capital of
our Company as at December 31, 2022 have been reserved and
are currently held by the trustee for further grant or vesting of the
awards under the Equity Incentive Plans.

1,114,539 and 203,988 Shares are underlying all awards available
for grant under the 2015 Equity Incentive Plans as of January
1, 2022 and December 31, 2022, respectively; 1,113,350 and
0 Shares are underlying all awards available for grant under the
2016 Equity Incentive Plans as of January 1, 2022 and December
31, 2022, respectively; 8,229,170 and 7,558,694 Shares are
underlying all awards available for grant under the 2021 Equity
Incentive Plans as of January 1, 2022 and December 31, 2022,
respectively. As at December 31, 2022, there is no service
provider sublimit adopted under each of the Equity Incentive
Plans.

The Remuneration Committee considers the grant of RSUs to
relevant Directors and senior management are to (i) recognize
and reward the Grantees for their contributions to the Group; (ii)
encourage, motivate and retain the Grantees, whose contributions
are beneficial to the continual operation, development and long-
term growth of the Group; and (iii) provide additional incentive
for the Grantees to achieve performance goals, with a view to
achieving the objectives of increasing the value of the Group
and aligning the interests of the Grantees to the Shareholders
through ownership of Shares. The RSU grants recognize their
past contributions to the Group’s business performance and aim
to secure their long-term support and commitment to the Group
which are vital to the future development of the Group. The
Company believes that the RSU grants serves as an important
incentive to motivate them to bring a higher return to the
Company. In addition, the Remuneration Committee is of the view
that the RSU grants are in line with the Company’s remuneration
policy, which includes basic salary, performance-based bonus
and long-term incentives. The RSU grants align the interests
of the Grantees directly with the interests of the Shareholders
through ownership of the Shares and help to further encourage
them to devote their efforts to the Group’s development.
The Remuneration Committee is of the view that a specified
performance targets or clawback mechanism are not necessary
for the grants under the Equity Incentive Plans because the
performance of the Grantees have been considered as a whole
with their contribution to the Group when the awards are being
granted.

Details of the movement of the RSUs granted under the Equity
Incentive Plans during the Reporting Period are as follows:
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Notes:

M

The fair value of awards are calculated in accordance with the accounting
standard and policy adopted for preparing the Company’s financial
statements, namely the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards. For
the description of the basis for fair value measurement and information on
whether and how the features of the awards (for example, the expected
dividends) are incorporated into the measurement of fair value, please refer
to note 3 and 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

There are no performance targets attached to the awards granted during
the year ended 31 December 2022.

Mr. Wang resigned as an executive Director with effect from January 9,
2023.

Mr. Zhu resigned as an executive Director with effect from September 1,
2022.
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Share Award Scheme

The Share Award Scheme constitutes a share award scheme
governed by Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. The Shareholders of
the Company approved to adopt the Share Award Scheme on the
Company’s annual general meeting held on 8 June 2022. On 14 June
2022, the Company obtained the listing approval issued by the Listing
Committee of the Stock Exchange for any Shares which may be
issued on exercise of the options and vesting of the RSUs under the
Share Award Schemes. The following is a summary of the principal
terms of the Share Award Scheme. Please refer to the Company’s
circular dated 17 May 2022 for further details about the Share Award
Scheme.

Summary of Terms
1. Purposes of the Share Award Scheme

The purpose of the Share Award Scheme is to enable the
Company to grant awards to eligible participants, as incentives
and/or rewards for their contribution to the Group, to better
reward the personnel who have contributed to the success and
development of the Group, to incentivise them to remain with the
Group, to motivate them to strive for the future development and
expansion of the Group and to attract skilled and experienced
personnel for the further development and expansion of the Group
by providing them with the opportunity to acquire equity interests
in the Company.

2. Eligible Participants
The Board may select any of directors, employees or proposed
employees, suppliers, customers, consultants, advisors, joint

venture and business or strategic alliance partners of the Group to
participate in the Share Award Scheme.
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Appointment of Trustee

The Company may establish a trust and appoint a trustee to
assist with the administration, exercise and vesting of awards
granted under the Share Award Scheme. If a trustee is appointed,
it is expected that the terms of the trust deed will provide that the
trustee shall not exercise the voting rights attached to the Shares
allotted and issued to the trustee and/or acquired by the trustee
through on-market purchases for the purpose of the Share Award
Scheme before such Shares are vested.

Grant of Awards

The Board is authorized to grant awards in the form of options
and/or RSUs under the Share Award Scheme.

Vesting of RSUs

The Shares underlying an award shall vest on the date to be
determined by the Board and notified to the relevant grantee in the
notice of grant on which the Shares underlying such award shall
vest (the “Vesting Date”), provided that in the case of a RSU,
if the Vesting Date of the RSU falls within a period during which
the Company, the trustee or the relevant grantee is prohibited
from dealing in Shares by the Stock Exchange, the Listing Rules
or any applicable laws, rules or regulations, the RSU shall vest
on the first business day after the expiry of such period or such
later date as the Board notifies to the grantee. If vesting is subject
to the satisfaction of performance or other conditions and such
conditions are not satisfied in whole or in part, the award shall
lapse automatically in respect of such proportion of underlying
Shares as have not vested with effect from the date on which the
conditions are not satisfied.
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Exercise Price

The exercise price of an option shall be determined by the Board
at the date when an offer of the grant of an award is made to a
participant (the “Offer Date”) in its absolute discretion but in any
event shall not be less than the highest of: (i) the closing price of
the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the
Stock Exchange on the Offer Date, which must be a business
day; (ii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the
five business days immediately preceding the Offer Date; (i) the
nominal value of the Shares; and (iv) HK$10.

In order to align the Grantees’ long-term interests with the existing
shareholders, particularly, who participated in the last few rounds
of pre-IPO financings and the global offering of the Company and
in the meanwhile incentive the Grantees to remain with the Group
and strive for the future development and expansion of the Group,
the Board determined to include an exercise price of HK$10 as
one of the minimum exercise prices in consideration of: (i) the offer
price of the shares in the global offering of the Company, being
HK$13.88; (i) cost per share paid by the investors in the last
few rounds of pre-IPO financing before the Listing, ranging from
HK$9.93 to HK$14.96; and (iii) the last 50-day moving average
share price of the Company prior to its annual board meeting held
on 25 March 2022, being approximately HK$4.16. The Board is of
the view that the addition of HK$10 to the existing criteria required
under the Listing Rules is in the interests of the Company and
the Shareholders as a whole as it is in line with what the Board
perceive to be a fair valuation of the Company on a per share
basis.
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7. Exercise of Options

An option will be deemed to be exercised when the Company
receives a written notice from the grantee accompanied by
payment for the full amount of the exercise price multiplied by
the number of Shares in respect of which the option is exercised,
save to the extent that other arrangements have been made for
payment of the exercise price which are satisfactory to the Board.

Maximum Number of Shares Available for the Share Award
Scheme

The maximum number of Shares in respect of which awards may
be granted under the Share Award Scheme shall not exceed
93,008,438 in the aggregate, representing approximately 8% of
the total issued share capital of the Company as at December 31,
2022.

93,008,438 Shares are underlying all options and awards available
for grant under the Share Award Scheme as of both June 14,
2022 (being the date of adoption of the Share Award Scheme)
and December 31, 2022. As at December 31, 2022, there is no
service provider sublimit adopted under the Share Award Scheme.
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Maximum Number of Options to Any One Individual

One Individual Subject to the paragraph below, the maximum
number of Shares issued and to be issued and/or transferred
and to be transferred upon the vesting or exercise of the Awards
granted to each participant under the Share Award Scheme
(including all vested, exercised, cancelled and outstanding awards)
in any 12-month period shall not (when aggregated with any
Shares underlying the awards granted during such period under
any other share award schemes of the Company) exceed 1 per
cent of the Shares in issue for the time being. Where any further
grant of awards to a participant would result in this 1 per cent
limit being exceeded for the 12-month period up to and including
the date of such further grant, such further grant must be
separately approved by Shareholders in general meeting with such
participant and his/her close associates (or his/her associates if
the participant is a connected person) abstaining from voting. The
Company must send a circular to the Shareholders disclosing the
identity of the participant in question, the number and terms of
the awards to be granted (and awards previously granted to such
participant) and such other information required under the Listing
Rules.

Time of Exercise of Option And Duration of The Share Award
Scheme

An option may be exercised at any time during the exercise period
in accordance with the terms of the Share Award Scheme prior
to the expiry of 10 years from the date upon which the offer of
the grant of option is made. The exercise period during which an
option may be exercised will be determined by the Board, save
that no option may be exercised more than 10 years after the
offer of the grant of option is made. No option may be granted
more than 5 years after the date of approval of the Share Award
Scheme. Subject to earlier termination by the Board according to
the Share Award Scheme, the Share Award Scheme shall be valid
and effective for a period of 5 years from the date of the adoption
of the Share Award Scheme (the “Term”).

ANE (Cayman) Inc. « ANNUAL REPORT 2022

10.

B EA] A KL 9 FE AR 2 B IR

ETERTERAENBRLT  BH2HE
FEAE1218 A AR ER D BB T 81 &R
RE)(REMECHEE  217% - EBUER
TR R TTIE 0 22 8) ) JE 57 I sl 7T 18 T 38 1T Kol
TETR,/ HEERSTE RO (R
B R RE A 2 AU A E AL A ) 22/ T
IR RB AR D &) S8
BEABEEERCETRNNI% - LRS
HEBRTENRBESHERERRT
RBAHAL (BRER)M12EAANEE
EETRMNM1%RE - RIRRARBIRA
SLERTTHAEAZBRT  MEBZEER
HETHMEA (RW2RERBEAL - A
REBEAN) BANERSE - ARFIHNAR
BREBEL AR WEAHZ2EENS
N~ BRENER (RABRERTFZ2EE
) E2ED) MO BB AESR - PA R E TR AIATAR
EMEMBER -

TTIEEB AR 1 95 [ K IR 17 22 ) 5t 2 4 B IR

BRI B ET IRV IRFK - B N &
HERER N 2O E YR 10FHRER
AIEVTTRE BRI BB 1T (8 = RITT{ERE IR Ay
TEHBRESFEET  BEAEZHRLE
BREZHRBBI0F  TNETEBRE -
RS R) EE R 8B A B BB
BEFR N  BRIFEFSIRBE M R T &
RATARLE - B RIBD R & B 3R B
FEETEF ([HIMR]) AR MR -



11. Alteration of the Share Award Scheme

12.

Save as provided in this paragraph, the Board may alter any of
the terms of the Share Award Scheme at any time. Those specific
provisions of the Share Award Scheme which relate to the matters
set out in Rule 17.03 of the Listing Rules cannot be altered to
the advantage of participants and changes to the authority of
the Board in relation to any alteration of the terms of the Share
Award Scheme shall not be made, in either case, without the prior
approval of Shareholders in general meeting. Any alterations to the
terms and conditions of the Share Award Scheme which are of a
material nature or any changes to the terms of the awards granted
must be approved by the Shareholders in general meeting, except
where the alterations or changes take effect automatically under
the existing terms of the Share Award Scheme. The Board’s
determination as to whether any proposed alteration to the terms
and conditions of the Share Award Scheme is material shall be
conclusive. The Share Award Scheme so altered must comply
with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

Termination of the Share Award Scheme

The Company by ordinary resolution in general meeting or the
Board may at any time terminate the Share Award Scheme and in
such event, no further awards may be offered or granted but in all
other respects the terms of the Share Award Scheme shall remain
in full force and effect in respect of awards which are granted
during the Term and which remain unvested or which have vested
but not yet been exercised immediately prior to the termination of
the Share Award Scheme.
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13. Administration of the Share Award Scheme

14.

82

The Share Award Scheme shall be subject to the administration
of the Board whose decision as to all matters arising in relation to
the Share Award Scheme or its interpretation or effect shall (save
as otherwise provided herein) be final and binding on all parties.
The Board shall have the right to (i) interpret and construe the
provisions of the Share Award Scheme; (ii) determine the persons
(if any) who shall be offered awards under the Share Award
Scheme; (iii) determine the terms on which awards are granted; (iv)
determine the number of Shares underlying the awards; (v) make
such adjustments to the terms of the Share Award Scheme and
of Awards granted under the Share Award Scheme as the Board
deems necessary and shall notify the relevant grantee(s) of such
adjustment(s) by written notice; and (vi) make such other decisions
or determination as it shall deem appropriate provided that the
same are not inconsistent with the provisions of the Share Award
Scheme and the Listing Rules. The Board shall have the power
from time to time to make or vary regulations for the administration
and operation of the Share Award Scheme, provided that the
same are not inconsistent with the other provisions of the Share
Award Scheme. The Board shall also have the power to delegate
its powers to grant swards and to determine the terms on which
such swards are granted to any of the Directors or any duly
authorised committee of the Board from time to time.

Options and awards granted under the Share Award Scheme
From the date of adoption of the Share Award Scheme to

December 31, 2022, no option or award has been granted under
the Share Award Scheme.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES

IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

2022, the
interests and short positions of the Directors and the chief executive
of the Company in the Shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part

As far as the Company is aware, as at December 31,

XV of the SFO) which were required (i) to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have under such provision of the SFO); or (ii) pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein; or (iii) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers contained in the Listing Rules (‘Model Code”), are
as follows:

Interests in the Shares of the Company

Name of Directors and

chief executive Position

EEME

EESRESTHRABESR

Bif

Nature of interest
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percentage of
shareholding

underlying
shares
interest™
IRAEBLA
BaE®

interested
BERERZ
MHERGEE

135,619,983 (L)

89,575,356 (L)

998,775 (L)

Mr. Wang®@ Executive Director Interest in a controlled
(resigned on January corporations
9, 2023)

FhE WMITESE (102023F R LEER
1H9HEHT)

Mr. Qin® Executive Director, Interest in controlled
chief executive officer corporations

REEO WITES BRAITE R EE kR

Mr. Jin Yun Executive Director Beneficial interest
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11.67%

7.70%

0.08%
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Refers to the percentage of the number of relevant Shares involved divided
by the total number of Shares in issue of the Company as at December
31, 2022, namely 1,162,605,486 Shares. The letter “L” denotes the
person’s long position in the Shares.

As at December 31, 2022, () CDF ANE Limited (“CDF ANE”) beneficially
held 32,213,523 Shares, (i) Max Choice Ventures Limited (“Max Choice”)
beneficially held 76,466,665 Shares, (iii) Double Brighten Creation
Limited (“Double Brighten”) beneficially held 16,939,795 Shares, and
(iv) ANE-WYJ Holding Limited (“ANE-WYJ") beneficially held 10,000,000
Shares.

Max Choice is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CDF ANE, which is held
by CDF ANE LLP as to approximately 47.1%, CDF Elixir L.P. as to
approximately 42.50% and CDH ANE LLP as to approximately 10.40%.
The limited partnership interests in CDH ANE LLP and CDF Elixir L.P. are
held by Shanghai Anyun Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership)* (1=
BRZIRELBLEBERAE)). The majority limited partnership interests
in Shanghai Anyun are in turn held by Ningbo Meishan Bonded Area
Haoyuan Equity Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership) (Z)&1§
IR @B ES EABEE(BRAE)) whose general partner is
Shanghai Yuanyue Commercial Consulting Co., Ltd., a company controlled
by Mr. Wang.

Double Brighten Creation Limited is an investment vehicle which holds the
Shares on trust settled by Mr. Wang, and ANE-WYJ Holding Limited is
wholly owned by Mr. Wang.

As such, Mr. Wang is deemed to be interested in the shares held by CDF

ANE, Max Choice, Double Brighten and ANE-WYJ pursuant to Part XV of
the SFO.
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Choice]) Bz 4676,466,665 M -« (iii)
Double Brighten Creation Limited ([Double
Brighten |) E#5155 16,939,795 IL1D + K (iv)
ANE-WYJ Holding Limited ([ ANE-WYJ |) 3%
#5410,000,000 Bl 15 o

Max Choice ACDF ANEMIZ2EMBAR - M
CDF ANEHCDF ANE LLP * CDF Elixir L.P. %
CDH ANE LLPH RIFFHEK47.1% + 42.50% &
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(3) Mr. Qin is deemed to be interested in the total number of Shares held by
each of Great Vision L.P. and Giant Topway Holding Limited. Great Vision
is owned as to 99.00% by ANE-XH Holding Limited as a general partner
and 1.00% by ANE-SCS Holding Limited as a limited partner, respectively.
Giant Topway Holdings Limited is an investment vehicle which hold the
Shares on trust settled by Mr. Qin. As at December 31, 2022, Great Vision
L.P. and Giant Topway Holdings Limited beneficially held 54,119,274 and
35,456,082 Shares, respectively.

Save as disclosed above, so far as the Directors are aware, as at
December 31, 2021, none of our Directors or chief executives has any
interest and/or short position in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or our associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
they were taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions of
the SFO) or which were required to be registered in the register to be
kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN THE
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF
THE COMPANY

So far as the Directors or chief executives of the Company are aware,
as at December 31, 2022, the following persons (other than the
Directors and chief executives of the Company) had interests and/
or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which were
required to be notified to the Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO, or which were required to be recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO:

BEEAARRFRRITBAEBA - R20224F
12A81H U FAT (BEFHARAHESITE
ABBRIN) MR SABERG P B REBES
MEAEEHIEXVIBE2 K3 BRESZBME A
RNARER R RAE - RIREESRPE K
BIZE 336 1R EAF ARRRTFE K EL M
Tk, AR

Number | Approximate

of underlying |percentage of

shares | shareholding

Name of substantial shareholders Nature of interest interested interest"
BERRZ IREEREA
TERRER ERME EERGEE Boko
Centurium Capital Partners 2018, L.P.® Interest in controlled corporations 285,989,754 (L) 24.60%
Centurium Capital Partners 2018, L.P.? ¥ KE#ERS
Trident Trust Company (HK) Limited® Trustee 71,215,103(L) 6.13%
BREFE(FE)BRQFO FEA
Notes: BisE -

(1) Refers to the percentage of the number of relevant Shares involved divided
by the total number of Shares in issue of the Company as at December
31, 2022, namely 1,162,605,486 Shares. The letter “L” denotes the
person’s long position in the Shares.

(2) As at December 31, 2022, Topaz Gem Investment Holdings Limited
(“Topaz”) and Advance Step Holdings Limited (“Advance Step”)
beneficially held 185,954,093 and 100,035,661 Shares, respectively.
Topaz is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Advance Step, which in turn is
wholly owned by Centurium Capital Partners 2018, L.P. (“Centurium”).
Hence, Centurium is deemed to be interested in the total number of
Shares held by each of Topaz and Advance Step.
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(3) As at December 31, 2022, (i) Concord Dragon Consulting Limited
(“Concord Dragon”) beneficially held 20,513,512 Shares, (ii) Real Brighten
Trading Limited (“‘Real Brighten”) beneficially held 33,761,796 Shares,
and (i) Double Brighten Creation Limited (‘Double Brighten”) 16,939,795
Shares. Trident Trust Company (HK) Limited, as the trustee of Concord
Dragon, Real Brighten and Double Brighten, are taken to be interested in
the Shares held by Concord Dragon, Real Brighten and Double Brighten
for the purpose of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as far as the Directors are aware, as at
December 31, 2022, no person owns interests and short positions in
the Shares and underlying Shares which were required to be notified
to the Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were required to be recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

ARRANGEMENTS FOR PURCHASE OF
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the Reporting Period was the Company or any of
its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement that would enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate, and none
of the Directors or any of their spouse or children under the age of
18 had any right to subscribe for the equity or debt securities of the
Company or any other body corporate or had exercised any such
right.

V4

Report of Directors

EEEHE

(38) 2022412 A31H - (i) Concord Dragon
Consulting Limited ([ Concord Dragon ) B 45
F20,513,512% %1% -+ (i) Real Brighten Trading
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KEY RELATIONSHIP WITH
STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognizes that various stakeholders including customers,
suppliers, employees and other business associates are key to the
Group’s success. The Group strives to achieve corporate sustainability
through engaging, collaborating, and cultivating strong relationships
with them.

Our direct customers are primarily our freight partners, who, along
with our freight agents, own and operate pickup and dispatch
outlets. We provide our freight partners with access to our line-haul
transportation and sorting network, which form the infrastructure
of our LTL services to shippers. In addition, to a minor extent, we
directly serve some enterprise customers who have high and frequent
freight transportation demand. We are highly committed to fostering a
customer-centric culture. We provide service training and guidance to
our freight partners and agents and collaborate with them to ensure
high-quality customer services to our shippers. In order to deliver high
quality services, we provide centralised customer services to shippers
in addition to services by outlets. For shippers of our guaranteed
— safety product and other key customers, we have a dedicated
customer service line in place to better serve them and address their
needs. We directly provide customer services to shippers primarily
through call centres, online customer service and online Al-based
customer service. We provide regular trainings to our customer service
personnel and periodically review callers’ level of satisfaction with
the service they received from us. We provide real-time customer
assistance seven days a week. Our Al-enabled system allows us to
provide real-time customer assistance 24 hours a day and seven days
a week.

We primarily procure supplies, such as labour outsourcing, fuel,
line-haul trucks, line-haul transportation services provided by
third-party fleets, software development and premise leasing, through
centralised procurement. We endeavour to obtain the best available
pricing by periodically reviewing and strengthening our internal
procurement policy and processes.
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We believe that it is vital to attract, recruit and retain quality
employees. To maintain the quality, knowledge and skill levels of the
Group’s workforce and to remain competitive in the labor market,
we strive to provide employees with welfare benefits and a broad
range of career development opportunities. We have established
a sound talent cultivation mechanism and created an online-offline
combined training platform. We have also organised and carried out
vocational skills competitions and other activities for employees to
improve professional skills. We are also committed to complying with
applicable employment laws and regulations and have established
various policies on recruitment, talent development, promotion,
performance, compensation and benefits. For example, we have set
up a management trainee programme which aims to cultivate future
leaders of the company through a three-year training plan. We also
strive to help our employees balance their work and life. We have
organised various recreational and sports activities to enrich the
cultural life of employees. We have established a safety production
committee in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and
have established various policies on operation and workplace safety,
and a series of emergency plans in response to different types
of incidents. We have also purchased relevant insurance for our
employees to cover occupational accidents.

The details of an account of the Company’s key relationships with
its employees, customers and suppliers and others that have a
significant impact on the Company will be set out in the Company’s
environmental, social and governance report to be published in due
course.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

We mainly provide transportation services, value-added services and
dispatch services to our freight partners, our direct customers. We,
together with our freight partners and agents, served approximately
4.7 million shippers, our end-customers, across China. In the
Reporting Period, we did not have any substantial reliance on any
single customer and the Group’s five largest customers accounted
for less than 30% of the Group’s total revenue. Our results of
operations and financial conditions may be adversely affected by
the recoverability of our trade receivables. To manage risk arising
from trade receivables, we have policies in place requiring that all
customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored
on an ongoing basis and our exposure to bad debts is not significant.

We primarily procure supplies, such as labour outsourcing, fuel,
line-haul trucks, line-haul transportation services provided by
third-party fleets, software development and premise leasing, through
centralised procurement. In the Reporting Period, the Group’s five
largest suppliers accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total
purchase.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined
under the Listing Rules) or any Shareholders (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) has any beneficial interest in the Group’s five
largest suppliers or the Group’s five largest customers.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

As at the date of this annual report, the Company is not aware of any
tax relief or exemption available to the Shareholders of the Company
by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.
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EMPLOYEES

The Group had 3,894 employees as at December 31, 2022,
representing a reduction of 16.8% compared to 4,680 employees as
at December 31, 2021. The Group enters into employment contracts
with its employees to cover matters such as wages, benefits, and
grounds for termination.

Remuneration of the Group’s employees includes salary, bonus and
allowance elements. The compensation programs are designed to
remunerate the employees based on their performance, measured
against specified objective criteria. We also provide our employees
with welfare benefits in accordance with applicable regulations and
our internal policies. We provide periodic training to our employees
in order to improve their quality, skills and knowledge, including
introductory training for new employees, technical training, professional
and management training and health and safety training, as well as
extensive training to our sales and marketing team. The Group also
has in place incentive schemes for its employees, the details of which
are set out in the section headed “Equity Incentive Plans and Share
Award Scheme” of this report.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

In accordance with the laws and regulations of the PRC, the
employees of the Group based in China participate in defined
contribution retirement benefit schemes organised by the relevant
local governments. Under such retirement benefit schemes the
Group and its employees based in China are required to make
monthly contributions to these schemes, which are calculated as a
percentage of the employees’ salaries, subject to a certain ceiling.
The assets of these plans are held separately from those of the Group
in independent funds managed by the PRC government. The Group
has no other obligations for the payment of retirement and other post
— retirement benefits of employees or retirees other than the defined
contribution payments as disclosed above.

During the Reporting Period, no forfeited contributions had been used
by the Group to reduce the existing level of contributions.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for the Reporting
Period are set out in note 37 to the financial statements.

Save as disclosed below in the section headed “Connected and
Continuing Connected Transactions”, the related party transactions
disclosed in note 37 (a) to (c) to the financial statements were not
regarded as connected transactions or were exempt from reporting,
announcement and shareholders’ approval requirements under the
Listing Rules.

CONNECTED AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company entered into an agreement with Mr. Zhu on August
31, 2022 pursuant to which the Company shall engage Mr. Zhu and
Mr. Zhu shall provide consultation services to the Company from
September 10, 2022 to September 1, 2024 (the “Consultancy
Arrangement”).

Mr. Zhu was an executive Director and chief operating officer of the
Company who resigned from all positions of the Group with effect
from September 1, 2022, and is therefore a connected person of
the Company. Accordingly, the Consultancy Arrangement and the
transactions contemplated thereunder constitute continuing connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios (as defined under
Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules) in respect of the highest annual cap
amount under the Consultancy Arrangement are more than 0.1% but
less than 5%, the Consultancy Arrangement (including the annual
caps) and the transactions contemplated thereunder will be subject
to reporting, announcement and annual review requirements but are
exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval requirement
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Further details of the Consultancy Arrangement and the transactions
contemplated thereunder are set out in the Company’s announcement
dated September 1, 2022.

During the year ended December 31, 2021 after the Consultancy
Agreement was entered into, the quarterly fee is fixed as US$250,000
as disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated September 1,
2022.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the amount of service
fees charged under the Consultancy Arrangement was approximately
US$308,000.

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company have
reviewed the continuing connected transactions outlined above,
and confirmed that such continuing connected transactions had
been entered into: (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business
of the Group; (i) on normal commercial terms or better; and (iii) in
accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on terms
that were fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Group and the
Shareholders as a whole.

The Auditor has performed the relevant procedures regarding the
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter
on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing
Rules” issued by Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
The Auditor has issued an unqualified letter containing findings and
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed by the Group in the paragraph above in accordance with
Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. The Auditor’'s letter has been
submitted to the Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended December 31, 2022,
none of the related party transactions as disclosed in note 37 (a) to
(c) to the financial statements constitute any non-exempt connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction which should be
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules.

We have followed the pricing policies and guidelines provided by
Guidance Letter HKEX-GL73-14 in respect of the above continuing
connected transactions during the year.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

During the year ended December 31, 2022, none of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries entered into any contract of significance with
the controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries, and there is
no contract of significance in relation to provision of services by the
controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries to the Company or
any of its subsidiaries.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Board, since the Listing Date to the
date of this annual report, the Company has maintained the public
float as required under the Listing Rules.
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INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance) in relation to the director’s and officer’s liability
insurance is currently in force and was in force during the Reporting
Period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to ensuring high standards of corporate
governance and has adopted the code provisions set out in the CG
Code. Save as disclosed below, from the Listing Date to the date of
this report, the Company has complied with all the applicable code
provisions in the CG Code.

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. Throughout the Reporting Period,
Mr. Wang Yongjun has been the Chairman of the Board, while Mr.
Qin Xinghua being the Chief Executive Officer of the Company,
is responsible for the day-to-day management of the Company.
Therefore, the division of responsibilities between the chairman and
the chief executive has been clearly established throughout the
Reporting Period.

Mr. Wang resigned as the chairman of the Board and the executive
Director, with effect from January 9, 2023. Following Mr. Wang’s
resignation, Mr. Qin and Mr. Chen Weihao, a non-executive Director of
the Company, have been appointed as the co-chairmen of the Board
with effect from January 9, 2023. Accordingly, Mr. Qin has been both
the co-chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer since
January 9, 2023. However, the Board believes that vesting the roles of
both co-chairman and chief executive officer in Mr. Qin has the benefit
of ensuring consistent and continuous planning and execution of the
Company’s strategies. The Board considers that the balance of power
and authority, accountability and independent decision-making under
the present arrangement will not be impaired in light of the diverse
background and experience of the Board, with not less than one third
of them being independent non-executive directors. The Board will
continue to review and consider splitting the roles of chairman of the
Board and the chief executive officer of the Company at a time when it
is appropriate by taking into account the circumstances of the Group
as a whole.
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In order to maintain high standards of corporate governance, the
Board will continuously review and monitor the Company’s corporate
governance code.

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out in the “Corporate Governance Report” of this
annual report.

DONATIONS
During the Reporting Period,

the Company did not make any
donations.

AUDITOR

The Shares were only listed on the Stock Exchange on November 11,
2021, and there has been no change in auditor since the Listing Date.
The consolidated financial statements for the Reporting Period have
been audited by Ernst & Young, Certified Public Accountants, who are
proposed for reappointment at the forthcoming 2023 annual general
meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Mr. Chen Weihao and Mr. Qin Xinghua
Co-Chairmen

Hong Kong, March 28, 2023
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board of the Company is pleased to present this corporate
governance report in this annual report (the “Corporate Governance
Report”) for the Reporting Period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CULTURE
AND STRATEGY

Corporate Strategy, Business Model and Culture

The Company operates a leading express freight network in China’s
LTL market and mainly provides transportation services, value-added
services and dispatch services to our freight partners. The Company
insists on a brand strategy taking quality and profitability as the core,
and strives to ensure that a sound and complaint corporate culture
is built and followed. The Company always adheres to an operating
concept focusing on law-abiding, integrity and quality service, while
taking multiple measures to enhance corporate culture recognition
and manage and control operational risks to create desirable returns
for shareholders and long-term value for employees, partners, the
community and other stakeholders.
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The Company has formulated an appropriate policy which requires the
Board, the senior management and all employees to maintain a law-
abiding, honest and self-restraint work style, and handle any violations
and report independently and impartially. The Board has established
the following mission, vision, values and entrepreneurship to clearly
express the corporate culture to all members of the Company, provide
operating guidance for the management team and ensure high
degree of consistency and convergence of corporate culture and our
operating strategy:

a) Mission: Create infinite possibilities with logistics services

b) Vision: Provide the most efficient logistics infrastructure for
commerce in China

c) Core values: Trust, Collaborative entrepreneurship, Perseverance,
create sustainable profit with franchise partners, return
contributors with attractive rewards, create returns for
shareholders and provide better quality and services

d) Entrepreneurship: Execute on Request, Exert Excellence in

Execution, and Achieve Extraordinary Result

In future, the Board will keep focusing on the operating environment
and market demands and make prompt adjustment to business
strategies when necessary and achieve sustainable development with
efficient internal collaboration and scientific governance structure.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board of the Company is committed to achieving good corporate
governance standards.

The Board believes that good corporate governance standards are
essential in providing a framework for the Company to safeguard
the interests of shareholders, enhance corporate value, formulate its
business strategies and policies, and enhance its transparency and
accountability.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the
principles as set out in the Corporate Governance Code contained in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

The Board is of the view that throughout the Reporting Period, the

Company has complied with all the code provisions as set out in the
CG Code in force during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has devised its own code of conduct for the trading
of securities by its Directors and members of senior management
of the Group (who are likely to possess inside information about the
securities of the Company due to their offices or employments in the
Company or its subsidiaries) on terms that no less exacting than the
required standard set out in the Model Code.

Having made specific enquiry by the Company, all Directors and
members of senior management of the Group have confirmed that
they have complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code and the code of conduct of the Company throughout the
Reporting Period. The Company continues and will continue to ensure
the compliance with the corresponding provisions set out in the Model
Code and the code of conduct of the Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is headed by an effective Board which oversees the
Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and performance and takes
decisions objectively in the best interests of the Company.

The Board should regularly review the contribution required from a
Director to perform his responsibilities to the Company, and whether
the Director is spending sufficient time performing them.

The Company has mechanisms in place to ensure that independent
views and input are available to the Board and the Board conducts
annual review of such mechanisms. Such mechanisms include
appointing sufficient number of independent non-executive Directors,
reviewing their time contribution and assessing their performance
annually. Upon a reasonable request of any Director, the Board should
resolve to provide separate independent professional advice to the
Director(s) to assist such Director(s) or the Board in performing duties
to the Company at the Company’s expense.
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Board Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board comprised 8 Directors,
consisting of 2 executive Directors, 3 non-executive Directors and 3
independent non-executive Directors as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Wang Yongjun
(Chairman, resigned with effect from January 9, 2023)
Mr. Qin Xinghua (Co-Chairman, chief executive officer)
Mr. Zhu Jianhui (resigned with effect from September 1, 2022)
Mr. Jin Yun (appointed with effect from September 1, 2022)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chen Weihao (Co-Chairman)

Mr. Wang Jian

Ms. Li Dan (resigned with effect from March 30, 2023)
Mr. Wei Bin (appointed with effect from March 31, 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Li Wilson Wei

Mr. Geh George Shalchu

Mr. Lam Man Kwong

The biographical information of the Directors is set out in the section
headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” of this
annual report.

To the best of the knowledge of the Directors, none of the members
of the Board has financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships with one another.
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Chairman/Co-Chairmen and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual.

Throughout the Reporting Period, Mr. Wang Yongjun has been
the Chairman of the Board, while Mr. Qin Xinghua being the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company, is responsible for the day-to-day
management of the Company. Mr. Zhu Jianhui resigned as the chief
operating officer of the Company with effect from September 1, 2022,
before which he was also responsible for the day-to-day management
of the Company. Therefore, the division of responsibilities between
the chairman and the chief executive has been clearly established
throughout the Reporting Period.

Mr. Wang resigned as the chairman of the Board and the executive
Director, with effect from January 9, 2023. Following Mr. Wang’s
resignation, Mr. Qin and Mr. Chen Weihao, a non-executive Director of
the Company, have been appointed as the co-chairmen of the Board
with effect from January 9, 2023. Accordingly, Mr. Qin has been both
the co-chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer since
January 9, 2023, and the Company has therefore deviated from the
code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code since then. However, the Board
believes that vesting the roles of both co-chairman and chief executive
officer in Mr. Qin has the benefit of ensuring consistent and continuous
planning and execution of the Company’s strategies and will enable
the Board to function more effectively when Mr. Chen Weihao, the
co-chairman and non-executive director of the Company, is not
available to attend the Board meeting in person. The powers had
been shared between the co-chairmen and Mr. Chen Weihao would
also exercise his power and authorities as a co-chairman in managing
the affairs of the Board and the Company. The Board considers that
the balance of power and authority, accountability and independent
decision-making under the present arrangement will not be impaired in
light of the diverse background and experience of the Board, with not
less than one third of them being independent non-executive directors.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Throughout the Reporting Period, the Board at all times fulfilled the
requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at
least three independent non-executive directors representing one-third
of the board with one of whom possessing appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the independent non-executive Directors in respect of his
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all
independent non-executive Directors are independent.

Board Independence Evaluation

The Company has established a Board Independence Evaluation
Mechanism during the year which sets out the processes and
procedures to ensure a strong independent element on the Board,
which allows the Board effectively exercises independent judgment to
better safeguard Shareholders’ interests.

The objectives of the evaluation are to improve Board effectiveness,
maximise strengths, and identify the areas that need improvement
or further development. The evaluation process also clarifies what
actions of the Company need to be taken to maintain and improve the
Board performance, for instance, addressing individual training and
development needs of each Director.

Pursuant to the Board Independence Evaluation Mechanism, the
Board will conduct annual review on its independence. The Board
Independence Evaluation Report will be presented to the Board
which will collectively discuss the results and the action plan for
improvement, if appropriate.
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During the year ended December 31, 2022, all Directors has
completed the independence evaluation in the form of a questionnaire
individually and supplemented by individual interviews. The Board
Independence Evaluation Report was presented to the Board and the
evaluation results were satisfactory.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Board reviewed
the implementation and effectiveness of the Board Independence
Evaluation Mechanism and the results were satisfactory.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) of the Company are appointed for a specific term of three
years and are eligible for re-election upon expiry of their term of office
in accordance with the Articles of Association.

According to the Articles of Association, Directors are required to
retire from office by rotation once every three years and are subject
to re-election by Shareholders at the annual general meeting. Without
violating the relevant laws, regulations and regulatory rules of the
locality where the Company’s shares are listed, a person newly
appointed as director by the Board to fill a casual vacancy or as
an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the first
annual general meeting after their appointment, and shall be subject to
re-election at that meeting.
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Responsibilities of the Directors

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control
of the Company and is collectively responsible for directing and
supervising the Company'’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides direction to management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s operational and
financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control and risk
management systems are in place.

All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for
its efficient and effective functioning.

The independent non-executive Directors are responsible for ensuring
a high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company and providing
a balance in the Board for bringing effective independent judgement
on corporate actions and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the
Company and may, upon request, seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses, for
discharging their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices
held by them.
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The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to policy
matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of directors and other
significant operational matters of the Company. Responsibilities
relating to implementing decisions of the Board, directing and
coordinating the daily operation and management of the Company are

delegated to the management.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions taken
against Directors and senior management arising out of corporate
activities.

The management of our Company is responsible for daily
management, administration and operation of the Group. It oversees
the operation and management of our Company, organizing and
implementing the resolutions of the Board and other duties specified in
the Articles of Association. The Board shall discuss the authorization
function and duty periodically. Management shall obtain approval from
the Board before any significant transaction is entered into.

Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the Reporting Period.

The management has provided sufficient explanation and information
to the Board as necessary to enable the Board to carry out an
informed assessment of the financial information and position of the
Company in order to put forward such information to the Board for
approval.
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The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 141 to 148.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes
in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment
to ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations
of the Company and full awareness of Director’'s responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory
requirements.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors would be arranged and
reading material on relevant topics would be provided to Directors
where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant
training courses at the Company’s expenses.
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During the Reporting Period, all Directors attended training sessions RIREHA - FIAEEEHED2NMEREZ NS
on the respective obligations of the Directors and senior management. REEEBE B & THEIIRE o I - KA F]
In addition, relevant reading materials including legal and regulatory ERESEERELIELEETENNIEHEEE
update have been provided to the Directors for their reference and &#l - A E2ENER -

studying.

The record of continuous professional development relating to EERBEHANFESEHEETHRELEEM
director’s duties and regulatory and business development that HSERMNBFETERRELEBMAOT ¢

have been received by the Directors during the Reporting Period is

summarized as follows:

Directors Type of TrainingN°te

g5 g R

Executive Directors $i1TEE
Mr. Wang Yongjun (resigned with effect from January 9, 2023)

THERE (R2023F 1 59 HEHT) A/B
Mr. Qin Xinghua Z 812 5t 4 A/B
Mr. Zhu Jianhui (resigned with effect from September 1, 2022)

MEBR A (R202249 4 1 HEHT) A/B
Mr. Jin Yun (appointed with effect from September 1, 2022)

©EHRAE (R2022F9F 1 HEZE(TE) A/B

Non-executive Directors F}#HTEE

Mr. Chen Weihao FR1E S 54 A/B
Mr. Wang Jian £ &5 4 A/B
Ms. Li Dan (resigned with effect from March 30, 2023)

R+ (R202343 430 H ) A/B
Mr. Wei Bin (appointed with effect from March 31, 2023)

BOR L4 (R2023F3 31 HEZE) A/B

Independent Non-executive Directors B #HTEE

Mr. Li Wilson Wei Z= 4 55 4 A/B
Mr. Geh George Shalchu ZBE415t 4 A/B
Mr. Lam Man Kwong #R3Z I 5 4 A/B
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Notes:
Types of Training

A: Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings,

seminars, conferences and workshops

B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and
relevant publications

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) in order to enhance the effectiveness of the Board and to
maintain high standard of corporate governance. The Board Diversity
Policy sets out the criteria in selecting candidates to the Company’s
Board,
educational background and professional experience. The ultimate

including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.

Our Directors have a balanced mix of knowledge and skills, including
knowledge and experience in the areas of finance, banking,
information technology and investment. They obtained degrees
awarded by education institutions from the PRC, Hong Kong and
the United States across various disciplines including business
administration, economics, finance, engineering, accounting,
electronics and information systems. Following the resignation of Ms.
Li Dan, the Company did not have a Director of a different gender,
and hence the Company failed to meet the requirement set out in Rule
13.92 of the Listing Rules. The Board will make its best endeavors
to identify suitable candidate for appointment as a Director within
three months from the date of Ms. Li Dan’s resignation in order to
ensure compliance by the Company with the requirement under Rule
183.92 of the Listing Rules. Our Company targets to have at least
one female representation in the Board within three months from the
date of Ms. Li Dan’s resignation. To develop a pipeline of potential
female successors to the Board, our Company will (i) ensure that
there is gender diversity when recruiting staff at mid to senior levels;
and (i) engage more resources in training female staff with the aim
of promoting them to be members of our senior management or the
Board.
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The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the diversity of
the Board. Since the listing of the Shares, the Nomination Committee
has been monitoring and evaluating the implementation of the
Board Diversity Policy on an annual basis to ensure its continued
effectiveness.

Nomination Policy

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include, without
limitation, reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board,
assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors
and making recommendations to the Board of Directors on matters
relating to the appointment of Directors.

The Company has adopted a nomination policy for Directors which
sets out the objectives, selection criteria and nomination procedures
for identifying and recommending candidates for appointment or
reappointment of Directors.

During the Reporting Period, Mr. Zhu Jianhui resigned as an executive
Director. Mr. Jin Yun was appointed as an executive Director, with
effect from September 1, 2022. Other than this, there was no change
in the composition of the Board.

Director Nomination Policy

The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for selection
and appointment of Directors to the Nomination Committee of the
Company.

The Company has adopted a Director Nomination Policy which sets
out the selection criteria and nomination process and the Board
succession planning considerations in relation to nomination and
appointment of Directors of the Company and aims to ensure that the
Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the Company and the continuity of the Board and
appropriate leadership at Board level.
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nomination process set out in the Director Nomination Policy is as

follows:

Appointment of New Director

(i)

(i

(i)

(iv)

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board may select
candidates for directorship from various channels,
not limited to internal promotion, re-designation, referral by other
member of the management and external recruitment agents.

including but

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should, upon
receipt of the proposal on appointment of new Director and the
biographical information (or relevant details) of the candidate,
evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as set out above to
determine whether such candidate is qualified for directorship.

If the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should rank them by
order of preference based on the needs of the Company and
reference check of each candidate (where applicable).

The Nomination Committee should then recommend to the
Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for directorship, as
applicable.

For any person that is nominated by a Shareholder for election as
a Director at the general meeting of the Company, the Nomination
Committee and/or the Board should evaluate such candidate
based on the criteria as set out above to determine whether such
candidate is qualified for directorship.

Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board

should make recommendation to Shareholders in respect of the

proposed election of Director at the general meeting.
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Re-election of Director at General Meeting

(i)

(i

(i)

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should review the
overall contribution and service to the Company of the retiring
Director and the level of participation and performance on the
Board.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should also review
and determine whether the retiring Director continues to meet the
criteria as set out above.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should then make
recommendation to Shareholders in respect of the proposed re-
election of Director at the general meeting.

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect or re-elect a candidate

as Director at the general meeting, the relevant information of the

candidate will be disclosed in the circular to Shareholders and/or

explanatory statement accompanying the notice of the relevant general

meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules and/or applicable laws

and regulations.

The Director Nomination Policy sets out the criteria for assessing the

suitability and the potential contribution to the Board of a proposed

candidate, including but not limited to the following:

Integrity and reputation;

Educational background, professional qualifications and work
experience (including part-time jobs);

Whether or not they have the necessary skills and experience;

Whether or not they are able to spend sufficient time and energy
to handle the Company’s affairs;

Whether or not they will promote the diversity of the Board in all
aspects,
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skKills,

including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and

knowledge and term of office;
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e Whether or not the candidates for independent directors meet
the requirements for independence under Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules; and

e Any other relevant factors as determined by the Nomination
Committee or the Board from time to time.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Nomination
Committee recommended to the Board the appointment of a new
Executive Director, namely Mr. Jin Yun. The appointment was subject
to a stringent nomination process in accordance with the Director
Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity Policy, to ensure the
Board possesses the necessary skills, experience and knowledge in
alignment with the Company’s strategy.

The Nomination Committee will review the Director Nomination Policy,
as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established five committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee, the Environmental, Social and Governance Committee
and the Strategy Committee for overseeing particular aspects of the
Company'’s affairs.

Other than the Strategy Committee, all Board committees of the
Company are established with specific written terms of reference
which deal clearly with their authority and duties. Other than the
Strategy Committee, the terms of reference of the Board committees
are posted on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s
website and are available to the Shareholders upon request.

112 ANE (Cayman) Inc. ® ANNUAL REPORT 2022

e BUYBFENREARENELTRAUSE
BABRE THIBILERE © &

e REAZESREFSITRETNEMEM
MR X -

REZE2022F12A31AILFE - RBEEE
EEEEERAHATESTSELLE - ZEMA
DIRBESREABERESTENELZ UL
® BB ZREBEFRED  UBRRES
TAFHARRRE B2 VERE KB K
e -

REZBSHEZ RN ESRABER - UE
REAMIE

EEZET

ExgCRUSEERES  AIERZES &
MEeEe REZESMRRE HERERZ
BegkBmREZES AREEARARESE
MRS -

BRBRZESI  ARARMAEFZEEHR

FRAmHEHBERE  AMREEREILE
A BREBZEEIN EFZEeNRERE
BN R B KB S P A s - AT AR RER ©



V4

Corporate Governance Report

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of three independent non-executive
Mr. Geh George Shalchu and
Mr. Lam Man Kwong. Mr. Li Wilson Wei is the chairman of the Audit

Directors, namely, Mr. Li Wilson Wei,

Committee and holds the appropriate professional qualifications as
required under Rules 3.10(2) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less exacting
terms than those set out in the CG Code.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include but are not limited to:

e supervising and evaluating the work of external auditors;

e guiding the internal audit work;

e reviewing and issuing opinions on the financial reports of the
Company;

e evaluating the effectiveness of internal control;

e facilitating communications between the management, the internal
audit department and relevant departments of the Company and
external auditors; and

e other matters authorized by the Board of Directors and other
matters prescribed in relevant laws and regulations.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held two meetings
to review the annual financial results and reports and significant issues
on the financial reporting, operational and compliance controls, the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems
and internal audit function, re-appointment of external auditor and

engagement of non — audit services and relevant scope of works.

The Audit Committee also met the external auditor twice without the
presence of the executive Directors during the Reporting Period.

The attendance records of the Audit Committee are set out under
the section headed “Attendance Record of Directors and Committee
Members” in this report.
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Remuneration Committee

The

Remuneration Committee consists of one executive Director,

namely Mr. Qin, and two independent non-executive Directors,

namely, Mr. Lam Man Kwong and Mr. Li Wilson Wei. Mr. Lam Man

Kwong is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The

terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are of no less

exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.

The

main duties of the Remuneration Committee include but are not

limited to:

114

making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all Directors’ and Senior Management
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing remuneration policy;

reviewing and approving management’s remuneration proposals
with reference to the Board’s goals and objectives;

being responsible for either: (i) determining with delegated
responsibility, the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and Senior Management; or (i) making recommendations
to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and Senior Management including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or
appointment;

making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
Non-executive Directors;

considering salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities, and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group;

reviewing and approving the compensation payable to executive
Directors and Senior Management for any loss or termination of
office or appointment in order to ensure that such compensation
is consistent with the contractual terms and is otherwise fair and
not excessive;
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e reviewing and approving compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct in order to ensure
they are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise
reasonable and appropriate;

e ensuring that no Director or any of his associates is involved in
deciding his own remuneration;

e reviewing the Group’s policy on expense reimbursements for the
Directors and Senior Management;

e supervising the implementation of the Company’s remuneration
and evaluation system;

e reviewing and/or approving matters relating to share schemes
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, including any grants of

share options or awards to Directors or Senior Management; and

e other matters as authorized by the Board.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee held one
meeting to review and make recommendation to the Board on the
remuneration policy and structure of the Company, the remuneration
packages of the Directors and senior management, the adoption of a
post-IPO share award scheme and other related matters.

The attendance records of the Remuneration Committee are set
out under the section headed “Attendance Record of Directors and
Committee Members” in this report.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors for the year ended
December 31, 2022 are set out in note 10 to the financial statements
in this annual report. Details of the remuneration of the senior
management of the Company by band during the Reporting Period are

set out in the Report of Directors on page 59 of this annual report.
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The Company’s remuneration policy is to ensure that the remuneration
offered to employees, including Directors and senior management,
is based on skill, knowledge, responsibilities and involvement in the
Company’s affairs. The remuneration packages of Executive Directors
are also determined with reference to the Company’s performance
and profitability, the prevailing market conditions and the performance
or contribution of each Executive Director. The remuneration for the
Executive Directors comprises basic salary, pensions and performance
discretionary bonus. Executive Directors shall receive restricted shares
units or other share options in accordance with the terms of the
equity incentive plans, which may from time to time be granted as the
Board may determine in light of the Company’s business performance
and the Director’s individual performance after confirmation with the
Remuneration Committee. The remuneration policy for Non-Executive
Directors and Independent Non-executive Directors is to ensure that
Non-Executive Directors and Independent Non-executive Directors are
adequately compensated for their efforts and time dedicated to the
Company’s affairs, including their participation in Board committees.
The remuneration for the Non-Executive Directors and Independent
Non-executive Directors mainly comprises Director’s fee which is
determined with reference to their duties and responsibilities by the
Board. Non-Executive Directors and Independent Non-executive
Directors may receive restricted shares units or other share options in
accordance with the terms of the equity incentive plans, which may
from time to time be granted as the Board may determine in light of
the Company’s business performance and the Director’s individual
performance after confirmation with the Remuneration Committee.
Individual Directors and senior management have not been involved in
deciding their own remuneration.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of one executive Director, namely
Mr. Qin, and two independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr.
Lam Man Kwong and Mr. Li Wilson Wei. Mr. Qin is the chairman of the
Nomination Committee.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.
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The main duties of the Nomination Committee include but are not
limited to:

e reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) required of the Board annually and
making recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board
to complement the issuer’s corporate strategy;

e making recommendations to the board on the appointment or re —
appointment of directors and succession planning for directors in
particular the chairman and the chief executive;

e identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Directors
and selecting or making recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorship;

e assessing the independence of independent non-executive
Directors on an annual basis upon receipt and review of a written
confirmation from each of the independent non-executive Directors
in respect of his or her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules;

e reporting to the Company as to whether the INED Confirmations
have been received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors and their view in that regard;

e overseeing research and development activities of Directors and
the respective fee payments made by the Company to such
Directors;

e reviewing any payments to be made under agreements with any
independent non-executive Directors and the terms and conditions
and any payment to be made under any further agreements
between the Company and the independent non-executive
Directors in relation to any new research and development
projects, to assess the terms and conditions and the rate for
similar transactions in the market to ensure the reasonableness
and fairness of the underlying transactions;
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before appointments are made by the Board, evaluating the
balance of skills, knowledge and experience on the Board,
and, in the light of this evaluation preparing a description of the
role and capabilities required for a particular appointment. In
identifying suitable candidates, the Nomination Committee shall
(where applicable and appropriate): (i) use open advertising or the
services of external advisers to facilitate the search; (ii) consider
candidates from a wide range of backgrounds; and (iii) consider
candidates on merit and against objective criteria, taking care that
appointees have enough time available to devote to the position;

keeping under review the leadership needs of the organisation,
both executive and non-executive, with a view to ensuring the
continued ability of the organisation to compete effectively in the
marketplace;

keeping up to date and fully informed about strategic issues and
commercial changes affecting the Company and the market in
which it operates;

reviewing annually the time required from non-executive Directors.
Performance evaluations should be used to assess whether the
non-executive directors are spending enough time in fulfilling their
duties;

ensuring that on appointment to the Board, non-executive
Directors receive a formal letter of appointment setting out clearly

what is expected of them in terms of time commitment, committee
service and involvement outside board meetings;

formulating, or assisting the Board to formulate, a board diversity
policy for the Company; and

other matters as authorized by the Board.
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In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee would
take into account various aspects as well as factors concerning Board
diversity as set out in the Company’s Board Diversity Policy, including
but not limited to gender, age, race, language, cultural background,
educational background, industry experience and professional
experience. The Nomination Committee would discuss and agree on
measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board, where
necessary, and recommend them to the Board for adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships, the
Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s character,
qualifications, experience, independence, time commitment and other
relevant criteria necessary to complement the corporate strategy
and achieve Board diversity, where appropriate, before making
recommendation to the Board.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee held one
meeting to review the structure, size and composition of the Board
and the independence of the independent non-executive Directors,
and to review and make recommendation to the Board on re-election
of retiring Directors at the annual general meeting. The Nomination
Committee considered an appropriate balance of diversity perspectives
of the Board is maintained and has not set any measurable objective
implementing the Board diversity policy.

The attendance records of the Nomination Committee are set out
under the section headed “Attendance Record of Directors and
Committee Members” in this report.
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Environmental,

s "‘"“"‘L‘$E¢

Social and Governance Committee

The ESG Committee consists of one executive Director, namely Mr.

Qin,

one non-executive Director, namely Mr. Chen Weihao, and one

independent non-executive Director, namely Mr. Lam Man Kwong. Mr.
Chen Weihao is the chairman of the ESG Committee.

The main duties of the ESG Committee include but are not limited to:

120

reviewing, formulating and approving the Group’s vision, goals,
strategies and management policies regarding environmental,
social and governance (“ESG”) issues, and making
recommendations to the Board on the relevant ESG work;

reviewing and reporting to the Board on major international trends
in corporate ESG, identifying and assessing the ESG related risks
and opportunities that have a significant impact on the Group’s
operation;

supervising, assessing, reviewing and reporting to the Board on:

° actions taken by the Group to accomplish the vision and
strategies on ESG, and the progress made against ESG goals;

° the Group’s performance against the appropriate international
or national standard (if applicable) on ESG;

monitoring internal work in relation to ESG, and making work
improvement suggestions;

identifying, assessing and managing material ESG related issues, and
updating the assessment results to the Board on a regular basis;

reviewing annual ESG reports and making suggestions to the
Board for approval, and proposing specific actions or decisions for
the Board’s consideration to maintain the integrity of ESG reports;
and

reviewing the supervision and participation process of the Board of

the Group on ESG issues, and providing improvement suggestions
to the Board.
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During the Reporting Period, the ESG Committee held three meetings
to review annual ESG report and make suggestions to the Board for
approval.

The attendance records of the ESG Committee are set out under
the section headed “Attendance Record of Directors and Committee
Members” in this report.

Strategy Committee

The Company has established a Strategy Committee on September
1, 2022. The Strategy Committee consists of one executive Director,
namely Mr. Qin, three non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chen
Weihao, Mr. Wang Jian and Mr. Wei Bin. Mr. Chen Weihao is the
chairman of the Strategy Committee.

The main functions of the Strategy Committee are to, without
limitation, review, formulate and approve the Group’s vision, goals,
strategies and management policies, to identify, assess and manage
material operational and industry risks, and update the assessment
results to the Board on a regular basis, to advise the Board on material
organization changes of the Group, and to monitor management

performance and make management improvement suggestions.

During the Reporting Period, the Strategy Committee held four
meetings to review the Group’s strategies and management policies,
update the assessment results to the Board and advise to the Board.

The attendance records of the Strategy Committee are set out under
the section headed “Attendance Record of Directors and Committee
Members” in this report.
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the
code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

During the Reporting Period, the Board had reviewed the Company’s
corporate governance policies and practices, training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management, the
Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, the compliance of the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to the Directors and employees, and
the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this
Corporate Governance Report.

ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF DIRECTORS
AND COMMITTEE MEMBERS

According to code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code, board meetings
should be held at least four times a year at approximately quarterly
intervals with active participation, either in person or through electronic
means of communication, of the majority of the Directors. The
attendance record of each Director during their tenure of office at the
Board and Board Committee meetings and the general meetings of
the Company held during the Reporting Period is set out in the table
below:

122 ANE (Cayman) Inc. ® ANNUAL REPORT 2022

DEERBAE

EFEREETLREATATAELEAL
BT B e -

RBERR  EFGRS TARANDEER
BRIEEE BEENSRERENEINGE
BEZR BERETERVNEEZRNALQE
BRIEEE HBEAREERETIMNITRER
MERFMOETER - ARFHEEERT
M ETIHERARAREREAREMEIE -

EERZEEREHFTE

REBEEGEEATARXECSIGRE  EFF
SRESFELARNR  RONBFELR—
R RZBEEFRFEIEEEFTBEANTAE
B2R - REZERRETHAHERREHA
FHNARRIESE EFEZBEERLABR
REH I TR -



V4

Corporate Governance Report
TEERRE

Attendance/Number of Meetings

HE/ EERHY

Annual Other
Audit |Remuneration | Nomination ESG Strategy General General
Name of Director Board | Committee Committee | Committee | Committee [Committee® Meeting | Meetings?
BRR Hith
Exns REZEE REEE [BKEEEC BEXE | BRERAEM
Mr. Wang Yongjun'! 5/5 N/A N/A 1/1 3/3 4/4 11 N/A
FHEBRAEN 5/5 TiEA TEm il 3/3 4/4 171 TER
Mr. Qin Xinghua 5/5 N/A 11 N/A N/A 4/4 11 N/A
REEEAE 5/5 Gyl 11 ¥l TER 4/4 11 TER
Mr. Zhu Jianhui® 3/4 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A i1 N/A
mEEEae 5/5 NER TER TER NEH NEH 11 NEH
Mr. Jin Yun® 1/5 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
SEREO 5/5 TERA NEA TERA i A TEA N
Mr. Chen Weihao 5/5 N/A N/A N/A 3/3 4/4 0/1 N/A
RESEE 5/5 Gyl Gyl Gyl 3/3 4/4 0/ TER
Mr. Wang Jian 5/5 N/A N/A N/A N/A 4/4 il N/A
TRl 5/5 TEA @R @R TER 4/4 1/1 NEA
Ms. Li Dan® 5/5 N/A N/A N/A N/A 4/4 1/1 N/A
Rk tw 5/5 TEH TEH TEH TER 4/4 1/1 TER
Mr. Wei Bin® N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
B K ED Nk TERA TERA MER N TER TERA N
Mr. Li Wilson Wei 5/5 2/2 11 11 N/A N/A 0/1 N/A
FEiE 5/5 2/2 1/1 11 TR TiEH 0/ TR
Mr. Geh George Shalchu 5/5 2/2 N/A N/A N/A N/A 1/1 N/A
BBR%EE 5/5 2/2 TEm TEm TEm TEm 11 TEm
Mr. Lam Man Kwong 5/5 2/2 11 1/ 3/3 N/A 11 N/A
e qlbita 5/5 2/2 11 11 3/3 TER 11 Gyl

Notes: FIEE -

(1) Mr. Wang Yongjun resigned as an executive Director with effect from (1) TEELABHINITES - 52023F1 SoH#E
January 9, 2023. AR e

(2) Mr. Zhu Jianhui resigned as an executive Director with effect from  (2) MEBELFTNITES - B2022F9F1HEB
September 1, 2022. e

(3) Mr. Jin Yun was appointed as an executive Director with effect from (3) £ZELAEEZIAHNITES © H2022F9A1H
September 1, 2022. HEAERK o

(4) Ms. Li Dan resigned as a non-executive Director with effect from March  (4) TR L TETIERTES © §2023F3A30H
30, 2023. B o
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(5) Mr. Wei Bin was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect from
March 31, 2023.

(6) The Strategy Committee was established on September 1, 2022.

(7) Save for the annual general meeting of the Company held on June 8,
2022, no general meeting of the Company was held during the Reporting
Period.

Apart from regular Board meetings, during the Reporting Period, Mr.
Wang, being the chairman of the Board throughout the Reporting Period
and resigned with effect from January 9, 2023, held one meeting with
the independent non-executive Director without the presence of other
Directors in accordance with code provision C.2.7 of the CG Code.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. The
Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems. The Company is devoted to establishing and maintaining
risk management and internal control systems including policies
and procedures that it considers to be appropriate for its business
operations, and it is dedicated to continuously improving these
systems.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management,
reviewing the practices of management with respect to the design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk management and internal
control systems. This review formally takes place at each Audit
Committee meeting, one of which includes an annual review on the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems.
Heads of departments manage risks through identification, evaluation
and mitigation of risk identified.
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Risk Management

Details of major risks involved in the Company’s operations are set out

in “Management Discussion and Analysis — IV. Risk Management” of

this annual report.

Our risk management mainly includes the following four areas:

(i)

(i

(ii)

risk identification: each business and functional department and its
subsidiaries conducts, once in a year, an identification of potential
internal and external risks in its respective operation processes.
During risks identification, references are mainly made to the
impact the risks have on the Company’s objectives, and major
problems or risk incidents in the business activities for the past

year.

risk assessment: according to the risks assessment standards,
each business and functional department and its subsidiaries
reviews the risks identified, and assesses the possibilities of
occurrence and the extents of impacts in order to screen out the
significant risks. The Group adopts a combination of bottom-
up and top-down risk assessment procedures to fully identify all
of the Group’s significant risks, which are then given rankings.
Significant risks are then reported to the appropriate management
level, Audit Committee and the Board. A final list of significant
risks is confirmed after thorough communication and discussion.

risks response: the responsible department of the identified risks
formulates a risk response plan by properly applying methods
such as risk avoidance, risk reduction, risk sharing and risk
acceptance, with consideration of the Group’s level of risk
tolerance. This allows the Group to properly allocate resources for
risk mitigation or improvements on risk response measures, with
an aim to reduce the overall risk of the Group to an acceptable

level.
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(iv) risk monitoring and reporting:
carried out by integrating the use of risk warning indicators,
internal auditing and periodic summarized risk reports.

risk monitoring and reporting are

In conducting risk assessments, the Company comprehensively
utilized a combination of qualitative and quantitative methods to
analyse the possibility of risk occurrence and the impact on the
achievement of objectives, and finally prioritized the risks according to
their significance.

With regard to daily operations, each business group and functional
department of the Company identify, assess and respond to the risk
issues in their operations. The internal control department reports
significant risks at the Company level through collecting, consolidating
and analysing such risk issues, and ensures that appropriate response
strategies and control measures have been taken, which are reviewed
by the management teams. The internal control department reviews
and evaluates the actions made in response to the significant risks
from time to time.

Establishment of the Internal Control System

The Board has established the internal control system, and monitored
and reviewed on an annual basis in compliance with code provision
D.2 of the CG Code. Such system is designed to manage rather to
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. The Audit Committee is delegated to monitor the
implementation of the risk management policies across the Company
on an ongoing basis in order to ensure that the internal control system
is effective in identifying, managing and mitigating risks in its business
operations.
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The Company also maintains an internal audit department which
is responsible for reviewing the effectiveness of internal control
and reporting any issues identified by the department to the Audit
Committee. Members of the internal audit department hold regular
meetings with the management to discuss about internal control
issues it faces and the corresponding measures to resolve them. The
internal audit department reports to the Audit Committee to ensure
that any material issue identified is delivered to the committee in a
timely manner. The Audit Committee then discusses the reported
issues and reports to the Board when necessary.

Main Features of the Internal Control System and
Process Used to Review the Effectiveness of the
Internal Control System and Rectify Defects

Below is a summary of the internal control policies, measures and
procedures our Company has implemented:

e The Board has delegated the Audit Committee chaired by Mr. Li
Wilson Wei, with the responsibility to review and supervise the
financial reporting process and internal control system of the
Company on an on-going basis and to review the effectiveness
of the systems annually in compliance with code provision D.2 of
the CG Code. The review covers all material controls, including
financial, operational and compliance controls. The duties of the
Audit Committee shall include: (i) to supervise and evaluate the
work of external auditors; (ii) to guide the internal audit work; (i) to
review and issue opinions on the financial reports of the Company;
(iv) to evaluate the effectiveness of internal control; (v) to facilitate
communications between the management, the internal audit
department and relevant departments of the Company and
external auditors; and (vi) other matters authorized by the Board
and other matters prescribed in relevant laws and regulations.
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The Company has adopted various policies to ensure compliance
with the Listing Rules, including but not limited to aspects related
to risk management, connected transactions and information
disclosure.

The Company has adopted various measures regarding conflict
of interests in our operations, which enable us to identify, monitor
and review transactions with potential conflict of interests, and to
take corresponding actions.

The Company has provided and will continue to provide anti-
corruption and anti-bribery compliance training periodically to our
senior management and employees to enhance their knowledge
and compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and include
relevant policies against non-compliance in employee handbooks.

The Company has engaged Somerley Capital Limited as its
compliance adviser to provide advice to its Directors and
management team until the end of the first fiscal year after
the Listing regarding matters relating to the Listing Rules. The
Company’s compliance adviser is expected to ensure the use of
funding complies with the disclosure in the Prospectus, as well as
to provide support and advice regarding requirements of relevant
regulatory authorities in a timely fashion.

The Company will also consult its PRC Legal Advisor on a
regular basis for advice on relevant PRC laws and regulations to
increase compliance awareness and to keep it abreast of relevant
regulatory developments.
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Under the Company’s risk management and internal control
structure, the management is responsible for the design,
implementation and maintenance of risk management and internal
control systems to ensure, amongst others, (i) appropriate policies
and control procedures have been designed and established
to safeguard the Company’s assets against improper use or
disposal; (i) relevant laws, rules and regulations are adhered to
and complied with; and (i) that reliable financial and accounting
records are maintained in accordance with relevant accounting
standards and regulatory reporting requirements. During the
Reporting Period, major works performed by the management
in relation to risk management and internal control included the
following:

0 each major operation unit or department was responsible
for daily risk management activities, including identifying
major risks that may impact on the Company’s performance;
assessing and evaluating the identified risks according their
likely impacts and the likelihood of occurrence; formulating
and implementing measures, controls and response plans to
manage and mitigate such risks;

o the management, together with the controller’'s department,
monitored and reviewed the risk management and internal
control systems on an ongoing basis and reported to the
Audit Committee regarding the status of the systems;

o the management periodically followed up and reviewed the
implementation of the measures, controls and response plans
to major risks identified in order to make sure that sufficient
attention, monitor and responses were paid to all major risks
identified;
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o the management reviewed the risk management and internal
control systems periodically to identify process and control
deficiencies, and designed and implemented corrective
actions to address such deficiencies; and

o the management ensured appropriate procedures and
measures such as safeguarding assets against unauthorized
use or disposition, controlling capital expenditure, maintaining
proper accounting records and ensuring the reliability of
financial information used for business and publications, etc.
were in place.

Procedures and Internal Controls for Processing
and Releasing Inside Information

With approval from the Board and pursuant to the requirements of
domestic and foreign laws and regulations, Listing Rules and Articles
of Association as well as the practical conditions of our Company,
our Company has formulated a policy on information disclosure
management to determine the division of duties and responsibilities on
information disclosure, the procedures for processing and releasing
inside information and other information required to be disclosed.
Pursuant to this system, our Company must, as soon as any inside
information comes to its knowledge or a false market may be
established, disclose the information to the public to the reasonable
and practicable extent.

During the Reporting Period, our Company has truthfully, accurately,
legally and timely disclosed information in strict compliance with
the requirements of domestic and foreign laws and regulations, the
Listing Rules, the Articles of Association and the policy on information
disclosure management of our Company without any false statements,
misleading statements or material omissions, to ensure investors
will be able to receive the disclosed information fairly, timely and
effectively.
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Anti-corruption and Whistleblowing Policy

The Company has adopted anti-corruption and whistleblowing policies
to facilitate employees and other stakeholders to raise concerns, in
confidence, about possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal
control or other matters. The Audit Committee of the Company shall
review such policies regularly and ensure that proper arrangements
are in place for fair and independent investigation of these matters and
for appropriate follow-up action.

Effectiveness of Risk Management and Internal
Control

The Board and the management of our Company are jointly
responsible for the establishment, the effective implementation
and improvement of a sound risk management and internal control
system. The objectives of risk management and internal control of our
Company are: guaranteeing the legality of operations of our Company
and the execution of internal regulatory system, protecting against
operational risk and moral risk, securing the safety and completeness
of the assets of the clients and our Company, ensuring the reliability,
completeness and timeliness of the business records, financial
information and other information of our Company and improving the
operational efficiency and effectiveness of our Company.

As internal control has inherent restrictions, we can only reasonably
guarantee that the above objectives may be achieved. Furthermore,
the effectiveness of internal control may also change according to
our Company’s internal and external environment and operating
conditions. Our Company has set up an inspection and supervision
mechanism through which our Company can take measures to rectify
deficiencies in the internal control once identified.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any material
defect in internal control of the Group. The Board is of the view that
during the Reporting Period, the risk management and internal control
systems of the Company are effective and adequate and the Group
has established an effective risk management and internal control
system, which achieves our objectives of risk management and
internal control and is free of material defect and significant defect.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid and payable to the external auditors of the
Group in respect of audit services and non-audit services for the
year ended December 31, 2022 amounted to RMB5.0 million and nil
respectively.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Each of Mr. LONG Jianyao and Ms. LO Ka Man has tendered the
resignation as the joint company secretary of the Company with effect
from June 24, 2022.

Following the resignation of Mr. LONG Jianyao and Ms. LO Ka Man,
the Company engaged Ms. PUN Ka Ying (“Ms. Pun”), a senior
manager of Corporate Services of Tricor Services Limited (a company
secretarial service provider), as the sole company secretary of the
Company with effect from June 24, 2022. Ms. Pun is responsible for
advising the Board on corporate governance matters and ensuring
that Board policy and procedures, and applicable laws, rules and
regulations are followed. Ms. Pun’s primary contact person of the
Company is Mr. SUN Xin, the General Secretary of the Company.

Ms. Pun has confirmed that she received no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training during the year ended December 31,
2022.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolution
should be proposed for each substantially separate issue at general
meetings, including the election of individual Directors. All resolutions
put forward at general meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to
the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the websites of the
Company and of the Stock Exchange after each general meeting.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to Article 12.3 of the Articles of Association, the Board may,
whenever it thinks fit, convene an extraordinary general meeting.
General meetings shall also be convened on the written requisition
of any one or more members holding together, as at the date of
deposit of the requisition, shares representing not less than one-tenth
of the voting rights, on a one vote per share basis, of the Company
which carry the right of voting at general meetings of the Company.
The written requisition shall be deposited at the principal office of
the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to
have such a principal office, the registered office of the Company,
specifying the objects of the meeting and the resolutions to be added
to the meeting agenda, and signed by the requisitionist(s). If the Board
does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the requisition
proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held within a further 21
days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them representing more
than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may convene the
general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that
in which meetings may be convened by the Board provided that any
meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three
months from the date of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.
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Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There are no provisions under the Articles of Association or the
Cayman Companies Act regarding procedures for Shareholders to
put forward proposals at general meetings other than a proposal of a
person for election as a Director.

Shareholders may follow the procedures set out above to convene
an extraordinary general meeting for any business specified in such
written requisition.

For the proposal of a person for election as Director, pursuant to
Article 16.4 of the Articles of Association, no person shall, unless
recommended by the Board, be eligible for election to the office
of Director at any general meeting unless during the period, which
shall be at least seven days, commencing no earlier than the day
after the dispatch of the notice of the meeting appointed for such
election and ending no later than seven days prior to the date of
such meeting, there has been given to the company secretary notice
in writing by a member of the Company (not being the person to be
proposed), entitled to attend and vote at the meeting for which such
notice is given, of his intention to propose such person for election
and also notice in writing signed by the person to be proposed of his
willingness to be elected.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board
For putting forward any enquiry to the Board, Shareholders may send

written enquiries to the Company. The Company will not normally deal
with verbal or anonymous enquiries.
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Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned
above to the following:

Address: 8th Floor, Block B, E Linke World North District, 999
Huaxu Road, Xujing Town, Qingpu District, Shanghai,
PRC (For the attention of the Company Secretary)

Email: ir@aneb56.com

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must deposit and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry
(as the case may be) to the above address and provide their full
name, contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto.
Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.

COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS/
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies.
For this purpose, the Company has set up a website (www.ane56.
com), where relevant latest information, the up-to-date state of the
Company’s business operation and development, the Company’s
financial information and corporate governance practices and other
data are available to the public.
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The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
Shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings and
other general meetings. At the annual general meeting, Directors (or
their delegates as appropriate) are available to meet Shareholders and
answer their enquiries.

The Company’s management regularly reviewed the implementation
and effectiveness of these shareholder communication channels and
confirmed their effectiveness during the Reporting Period.

Changes in Constitutional Documents

At the Company’s annual general meeting held on June 8, 2022,
the Shareholders passed a special resolution in relation to the
amendments to the nineteenth amended and restated memorandum
and articles of association of the Company for the purpose of,
among others, (i) bringing the Memorandum and Articles in line with
amendments made to the Listing Rules, including the amendments
made to Appendix 3 to the Listing Rules which took effect on January
1, 2022, and (ii) incorporating certain housekeeping amendments. The
existing twentieth amended and restated memorandum and articles
of association of the Company became effective on June 8, 2022. For
details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated March
25, 2022 and circular dated May 17, 2022.

Save as above, during the Reporting Period, no changes were made
to the Memorandum and Articles of Association. The latest version of
the Memorandum and Articles of Association is also available on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.
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Shareholders’ Communication Policy

The Company has in place a shareholders’ communication policy
to ensure that Shareholders’ views and concerns are appropriately
addressed. The policy is regularly reviewed to ensure its effectiveness
and the results were satisfactory.

(a) Corporate Communication

“Corporate Communication” as defined under the Rules Governing
the Listing of securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) refers to
any document issued or to be issued by the Company for the
information or action of holders of any of its securities, including
but not limited to the following documents of the Company: (a)
the directors’ report, annual accounts together with a copy of
the auditor’s report and, where applicable, its summary financial
report; (b) the interim report and, where applicable, its summary
interim report; (c) a notice of meeting; (d) a listing document;
(e) a circular; and (f) a proxy form. Corporate communication
of the Company will be published on the Stock Exchange’s
website (www.hkex.com.hk) in a timely manner as required by
the Listing Rules. Corporate Communication will be provided to
the Shareholders and non-registered holders of the Company’s
securities in both English and Chinese versions or where
permitted, in a single language, in a timely manner as required by
the Listing Rules.

(b) Announcements and Other Documents pursuant to the Listing
Rules

The Company shall publish announcements (on inside information,
corporate actions and transactions etc.) and other documents
(e.g. Memorandum and Articles of Association) on the Stock
Exchange’s website in a timely manner in accordance with the
Listing Rules.
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Corporate Website

Any information or documents of the Company posted on
the Stock Exchange’s website will also be published on the
Company’s website (www.ane56.com).

Shareholders’ Meetings

The annual general meeting and other general meetings of the
Company are primary forum for communication between the
Company and its Shareholders. The Company shall provide
the Shareholders with relevant information on the resolutions(s)
proposed at a general meeting in a timely manner in accordance
with the Listing Rules. The information provided shall be
reasonably necessary to enable the Shareholders to make an
informed decision on the proposed resolution(s). The Shareholders
are encouraged to participate in general meetings or to appoint
proxies to attend and vote at the meetings for and on their behalf
if they are unable to attend the meetings. Where appropriate or
required, the Chairperson of the Board and other Board members,
the chairpersons of board committees or their delegates, and the
external auditors should attend general meetings of the Company
to answer the Shareholders’ questions (if any).
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(e) Shareholders’ Enquiries
Enquiries about Shareholdings

The Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the Company’s Hong Kong share registrar, Tricor
Investor Services Limited, by sending an email to is-enquiries@hk.
tricorglobal.com or call its hotline at +852 2980 1333, or go in
person to its public counter at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong.

Enquiries about Corporate Governance or Other Matters to be put
to the Board and the Company

The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous
enquiries. The shareholders may send written enquiries to the
Company, for the attention of the Board of Directors by mail to
8th Floor, Block B, E Linke World North District, 999 Huaxu Road,
Xujing Town, Qingpu District, Shanghai, PRC.

Note: The Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on payment of dividends.
The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend payout
ratio. Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and the
Group and the conditions and factors, among others, financial results,
cash flow situation, business conditions and strategies and future
operations and earnings, as set out in the dividend policy, dividends
may be proposed and/or declared by the Board during a financial
year and any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to
Shareholders’ approval.
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DIVERSITY

The Company is committed to promote diversity in our Company to
the extent practicable by taking into consideration a number of factors
in respect of our corporate governance structure. The Company
seeks to achieve board diversity and workforce diversity through the
consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to
gender, age, language, cultural background, educational background,
industry experience and professional experience.

We have adopted the board diversity policy which sets out the
objective and approach to achieve and maintain diversity of our
Board in order to enhance the effectiveness of our Board. Following
the resignation of Ms. Li Dan, the Company did not have a Director
of a different gender, and hence the Company failed to meet the
requirement set out in Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules. The Board will
make its best endeavors to identify suitable candidate for appointment
as a Director within three months from the date of Ms. Li Dan’s
resignation in order to ensure compliance by the Company with the
requirement under Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules. For more details,
please refer to the section headed “Corporate Governance Report —
Board of Directors — Board Diversity Policy” in this annual report. In
2022, we hired 1,210 full-time employees, of which 773 were male
and 437 were female. As at December 31, 2022, the gender ratio
in the workforce (including senior management) was approximately
1.87 males to 1 female. The Company will continue to monitor and
evaluate the diversity policy from time to time to ensure its continued
effectiveness.
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Independent auditor’s report

Ernst & Young

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King's Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

LK SR ES AT
Kigth—FE 27 18

To the shareholders of ANE (Cayman) Inc.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of ANE
(Cayman) Inc. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 149 to 267, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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Key audit matter
HAREISRE

Deferred tax assets JEFERIE & &

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had deferred
tax assets amounting to RMB269,576,000, including
RMB283,318,000 recognised for unused tax losses. The
deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits would be available against
which the deductible temporary differences and tax losses
can be utilised. The process of estimating the amount and
timing of future taxable profits is complex and involves
estimates and judgements that would be affected by
future operations, tax regulations, market or economic
conditions.

M2022F12HA31H  ESBENELERBEBEEAAR
#269,576,0007C * BIEABAHEBERERHARE
283,318,000 ° LT IAE E R FER A B EARTFER]
FA DA S5 AT F00R D B Z= 5B R TR IR S 1B R PR o [hRT AR R EREL
FHENSENRENBESEMD PRI IRRE
& BHOER - M5 REBERN T E R et A& -

Information about the deferred tax assets and the
unrecognised tax losses is disclosed in note 2.3, note 3
and note 23 to the financial statements.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RAEFAPEEBAREASZTEANS N

Our procedures related to deferred tax assets included the
following:

BAREEHRBEEMRBNEFEENT ¢

e Discussing with management on the process and
internal controls of recognition of deferred tax assets;

. REEENRER

1 Z A1 e HE R R AE AU TR & EE ROAR IR MR BRI

e Evaluating and testing management’s assumptions
used in estimating available future taxable profits
by comparing them to the Group’s business plans
approved by those charged with governance, future
profit forecasts, associated growth rates and historical
financial and tax information; and

. BARMANETANABMENREEEHHE . KK
ﬂﬁﬁm~m%‘ﬁﬁu&FE%WﬂMﬁﬁﬂLﬁm
B SEETURIE T IR S AR R A R B R B B I
BB

e Checking the adequacy of the relevant disclosures of
deferred tax assets in the financial statements.
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Key audit matter

BEETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RAESFAPEEBEREASETEANS N

Impairment of non-current non-financial assets (including goodwill) 3ERENFEE REEERE (BIERE)

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of non-
current non-financial assets, including property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets and goodwill,
was RMB2,848,596,000, which was material to the
consolidated financial statements.

MR2022F12A31 8 ' EnBFECREE (REME -
MERSE FHEEERBEZ)NEEEAARK
2,848,596,000 T ' 4R A MIEMAMEBEBERX -

The management assessed there were impairment
indicators during the year and the above non-current
non-financial assets were tested for impairment. The
management also performed goodwill impairment test on
annual basis. The impairment test was complex and highly
judgemental due to the significant estimation required by
management in determining the recoverable amounts of
cash-generating units (CGUs), which are the higher of the
fair value less costs of disposal and the value in use. The
estimation was sensitive to significant assumptions such
as the discount rate, revenue growth rate and operating
margin, which could be affected by expectations of future
market and economic conditions.

FR BEEFNEFERENR - XY HMSEREIFSHE
EETRENR - EEENSFETHERENA - ARE
BEERNEERSELEMUMNAKESE (AR BERLE
RAEREREEMETNREE) BFRELERMG - &
BEASEEERLAESEHENT - ZAETHETRE K
AEBREMEXMNBEREEABRESEE - MEFRER
“Ei‘ﬂﬂirh%fﬂ?%@ﬂjiﬁi‘&iﬁﬂﬂ’ﬁm“ 0

Information of non-current non-financial assets is disclosed
in note 2.3, note 3, note 15, note 16 and note 17 to the
financial statements.

FRBIFCRMEENEMNNIBHHMEAME2.3
FE15 - BIFE16RFEE17 I ER -
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Our audit procedures related to impairment of non-
financial assets (including goodwill), among others,
included the following:

BPEFEREE (£
T (EHef):

BEEE) RERBNESEFERET

e Obtaining an understanding of management’s process
of reviewing and evaluating impairment assessment of
non-financial assets (including goodwill);

s THEEEESNNMGEIFSHEE (H
HRAR

BEEME) ARG

e Reviewing the management’s identification of the
CGUs and the judgment regarding the allocation of

goodwill;
. EREHTReELBEMNBMNAREEES KA
Iﬁﬁ ;

e Obtaining the profit forecast of the CGUs and
assessed the reasonableness of key parameters or
assumptions applied upon it, by comparing them to
historical results, business plan, and economic and
industry forecast;

s REBASELEMUNHNBEER W’
B ERBEEIARBMITEIRA

378 38 G LB 5P 3¢

e |nvolving internal valuation specialists to assist in
evaluating the associated growth rates and the
discount rates applied; and

. ENBHEEEROHHT -
=1

FHEERE R X MAATR

e Performing sensitivity analyses of the significant
assumptions to evaluate the change in the recoverable
amounts of the CGUs that would result from changes
in the assumptions.
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Other information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Qur opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
If, based

on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material

the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e FEvaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

e FEvaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

e (Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Shun Lung Wai.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

28 March 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
meBEER

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #,Z20224F 12 531 H 1F F/Z

2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARBFT
Revenue YA 5 9,334,931 9,645,366
Cost of revenue & 2 7K (8,604,569) (8,579,169)
Gross profit EF 730,362 1,066,197
Other income and gains/(losses), net £MUA KUz /(E18) » /#58 6 (8,584) (18,002)
General and administrative expenses — A% M 1T 7 3% (892,779) (791,005)
Operating (loss)/profit &4 (j&18),/ I (171,001) 257,190
Finance costs B 7R 7 (120,199) (152,396)
Fair value changes of financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
NWARBEFEEHESFAEHERNEREEREBN AR BEED 8 10,081 (2,042,724)
Changes in the expected redemption amounts associated with the put option liabilities
BRI ERRNRREN SRS - (191,533)
LOSS BEFORE TAX A& 18 9 (281,119) (2,129,463)
Income tax (expense)/credit Fr{5# (Fisz),/ % 12 (128,148) 122,392
LOSS FOR THE YEAR F A58 (409,267) (2,007,071)
Attributable to: LA TSI &S :
Owners of the parent BAFI#EB A (408,426) (2,014,548)
Non-controlling interests FF{% A& % (841) 7,477
(409,267) (2,007,071)
LLOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS
OF THE PARENT B A7) & B 158 A (G BAREE 14
Basic (RMB) £& (AR T) (0.35) (5.08)
Diluted (RMB) #58 (AR 1) (0.35) (5.08)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

mEEHERER

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #2022 12 531 H1FF/E

2022 2021
2022 20214
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARYT T ARBT T
LOSS FOR THE YEAR F A #E (409,267) (2,007,071)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Hth 2 E Yz
Other comprehensive income that may be reclassified to
profit or loss in subsequent periods:
ERTRBREN D EEEE c HM 2 EKE ¢
Exchange differences on translation of the financial statements of subsidiaries
BRENB ARV BHRKR ENEZRE (852,757) 76,997
Other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified to
profit or loss in subsequent periods:
RAZPBRETEEN P EEEn s AtEE K
Exchange differences on translation of the financial statements of the Company
BRERRAGHERRCERZH 415,738 17,037
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX
FREMPEWE - FBRTIE 62,981 94,034
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR N2 M 18458 (346,286) (1,913,037)
Attributable to: LA TS IBEAS
Owners of the parent &A=& A A (345,445) (1,920,514)
Non-controlling interests JE#5 i 1 2 (841) 7,477
(346,286) (1,913,037)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e PR R

31 DECEMBER 2022 R20224F 12531 H

2022 2021
2022 F 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTTT

NON-CURRENT ASSETS kR &E

Property, plant and equipment ¥1% - HE M & & 15 1,734,558 1,857,344
Prepayments for property, plant and equipment #1% - &= K & # A 208 5,957 25,312
Right-of-use assets i A& & & 16 982,511 1,225,534
Goodwill & 17 131,527 146,253
Other intangible assets E 24 & 18 13,822 31,707
Deferred tax assets ELF B E & 23 269,576 396,390
Restricted cash 2R #IIR& 25 9,726 11,329
Other non-current assets H 3R ENE & 22 76,934 88,558
Total non-current assets FE7EE)E E42E 3,224,611 3,782,427
CURRENT ASSETS REBI&EE

Inventories 7 & 19 9,061 11,529
Trade receivables & 5 JE M GKE 20 23,464 39,799
Prepayments 81} 718 21 90,272 133,985
Other receivables and other assets H b & I zR18 % H {th & & 22 602,489 866,064
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

NAnBEFEEEZHFAERERNEREE 24 841,673 546,737
Restricted cash 2R #IIR & 25 313 727
Cash and cash equivalents IR & MR & EEY 25 1,039,345 954,318
Total current assets i Z) & &= 218 2,606,617 2,553,159
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e PRIR R

31 DECEMBER 2022 R20224 12531 H

2022 2021
2022 F 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTT

CURRENT LIABILITIES B & &

Trade and bills payables & 5 & {5 3078 & &+ Z 1% 26 306,018 450,804
Other payables and accruals Hftb f& {5 I8 K& fE5+ & F 27 949,122 968,992
Interest-bearing borrowings 5t B.f& & 28 789,056 705,713
Tax payable FE{SFE18 5,698 5,264
Lease liabilities THE & & 16 522,058 520,886
Total current liabilities 7 Eh & {E42%E 2,571,952 2,651,659
NET CURRENT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) RBIEE (AE) B&E 34,665 (98,500)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES & ERRE AR 3,259,276 3,683,927
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ¥R & &
Interest-bearing borrowings &t 2 &% 28 248,245 302,390
Lease liabilities THE & 1& 16 510,359 713,229
Total non-current liabilities JER BN & (E 4258 758,604 1,015,619
Net assets EEF# 2,500,672 2,668,308
EQUITY ##
Equity attributable to owners of the parent &2 F# A A EEER
Share capital B 29 149 149
Treasury shares E1FRD 30 (11,983) =
Reserves & 31 2,026,916 2,181,017
2,015,082 2,181,166
Non-controlling interests FE#ZE A fEZE 485,590 487,142
Total equity & 2,500,672 2,668,308
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Share
capital

i
RMB'000
ARETFT
(note 29)
(Fi7¥29)

GEREZBER

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #,Z20224F 12 531 H 1F F/Z

Attributable to owners of the parent

AFEfh

Exchange Statutory Non-
Capital Share | fluctuation surplus | Accumulated controlling

* *

reserve’ premium reserve’ reserve* losses® interests | Total equity
ETE

ARG | ROEE | RBE BRGE | ZtEE t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 | RMB'000 | RMB'000 | RMB'000
ARETT | ARBTR | ARETR | ARETR | ARETR | ARETR | ARETR | ARETR
(note 30) (note 31) (note 31) (note 31)

(MeEso) | (Waat) | (Was1) | (W)

At 1 January 2021 R2021 1718 22 455,038 - 67,729 10327 (6,523,984 (5,990,868 2293 (5,988,575
(Loss)/profit for the year 74 (§5%8) / - - - - - (2014548 (2014,549) 7477 (2,007,071)
Other comprehensive income for the year:
EREMZENG
Exchange differences on translation of foreign

operations /N EBAEMEL £ - - = 94,034 = = 94,034 = 94,034
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year
En2EYE/(BR) &8 - - - 94,034 - 014548 (1920514) 7477 (1913,037)
Warrant exercised {12 = 1453 = = = = 1453 = 1453
Gapital contribution from & non-controlling shareholder

of a subsidiary
RE-ZMEAREERRRNIE - - - - - - - 192 192
Share-based payments 33 - 151,048 - - - - 151,048 - 151048
Reclassification from financial liability to non-controlling

interest e MABENAREFAMER - - - - - - - AT dTATH
Issuance of shares E{TRR 15 - - - - - 15 - 15
Issuance of ordinary shares relating to initial public

offering BTEERAREERBNTRR 10 - 916,596 - - - 916,606 - 916,606
Share issue expenses REE/THY - (44,020 - - - - (44,020) - (44,020)
Disposal of a subsidiary (ti & —FHEA - - - - - - - (1,520) (1,520)
Deregistration of subsidiaries 332K B2 &l - - - - (1,092 - (1,002 - (1,092
Conversion of preferred shares (8 %R &# 102 9,068,436 = = = - 9068538 - 9088538
Acquisition of a subsidiary Y& —RHEL - - - - - - - 3,986 3,986
At 31 December 2021 720215124318 149 9,631,955 916,596 161,763 9235 (8538532 2,181,166 487,142 2,668,308
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mERRBHR

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #2022 12 531 H1FF/E

Attributable to owners of the parent

BORREARL

Exchange | Statutory Non-

Share | Treasury Capital Share | fluctuation surplus |Accumulated controlling Total

capital shares reserve* | premium* reserve* reserve* losses* Total | interests equity
EX EE

x| ERRG | E4GE | RORE | RDRE | 2REE | RSEE ac | FERER g

RMB’000 | RMB'000 | RMB’000 | RMB'000 | RMB'000 | RMB'000 RMB’000 | RMB’000 | RMB'000 | RMB’000

ARBTR | ARBTR | ARETR | ARETR | ARBTR | ARBTR | ARMTR |ARMTR | ARSTR | ARMTR
(note 29) | (note 30) | (note 31) | (note 31) | (note 31) | (note 31)
(Wt20) | (WaEs0) | (ReE3t) | (Wias1) | (W&E31) | (Mi&st)

At 1 January 2022 #2022 1A 1H 149 - 9,631,955 916,596 161,763 9,235  (8,538,532) 2,181,166 487,142 2,668,308
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - (408,426)  (408,426) (841)  (409,267)
Other comprehensive income for the year:

EREMZENG

Exchange differences on translation

of foreign operations
BARHRENEL 28 - - - s 62,981 -

62,981

62,981

Total comprehensive income/(loss)

for the year FR2ENRE /(BB) 4% - - - - 62,981 - (408,426)  (345,445) (841)  (346,286)
Share-based payments (3 3 fif - - 191,344 - - - - 191,344 - 191,344
Shares repurchased for a share award

scheme A1 REE BB E Rk - (11,989 - - - - - (11,089) - (11,983
Deregistration of subsidlaries &£ M B2l - - - - - - - - (1) (M)
At 31 December 2022 12022512 A31H 149 (11,983) 9,823,200 016596 224,744 9235  (8,946958) 2,015,082 485590 2,500,672

*

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * ZEMEREBEGAVERKARPNLEERE
RMB2,026,916,000 (2021: RMB2,181,017,000) in the consolidated B ARE2,026,916,0007T (2021 4F : AR
statement of financial position. 2,181,017,0007T) °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
nv_\éiﬁﬁ)‘ﬁéﬁ

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #,Z20224F 12 531 H 1F F/Z

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES B& EHFEHERE

2022
2022 %

RMB’000
ARMBT

2021
20214
RMB’000
ARBT T

Loss before tax i AIE 18 (281,119) (2,129,463)
Adjustments for: FLIA N ZIBIEL FHEE -
Finance costs B1#5A A 7 120,199 152,396
Fair value changes of convertible redeemable preferred shares
AEBRAELOEERNAABES 8 - 2,011,241
Fair value changes of convertible loans AJE 2 ER A A 1 BEE S 8 - 5,302
Fair value changes of a prepaid forward contract
BEHEHNNAABEED 8 - 26,790
Fair value changes of warrants RIZEE A BEZE 8 - 608
Changes in the expected redemption amounts associated
with the put option liabilities B384 B4 & &8 7 ) 76 HA i [0l & 58 & - 191,533
Fair value changes of financial products & Rl @A f (B EE 5 8 (10,081) (1,217)
Gain on disposal of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
HEARABEFEERZHFAEHESNEHEEN PR (6,771) (4,002)
Share-based payment expenses %1 X {5 5% 191,344 151,048
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
HEWE - BELREBOHERER 9 13,985 11,613
Loss on disposal of other intangible assets H & Hth 2 & E H) E5 18 1,579 =
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ¥ % - = M R EITE 15 437,755 307,010
Depreciation of right-of-use assets {# FI#E&E T &E 16 621,075 580,052
Amortisation of other intangible assets Hfth i & 2= # 54 18 22,301 26,412
Impairment losses on trade receivables and other receivables
B 5 FE W IR I H A e W IR R (B B 1R 9 18,166 49,409
Impairment of property, plant and equipment ¥7% - BE N & & RIE 9 8,896 =
Impairment of goodwill 742 E 17 14,726 =
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries i &HtE A RlH Uk S 33 (7,371) =
Deregistration of a subsidiary FE#— K B 7 (711) -
1,143,973 1,378,732
Decrease/(increase) in inventories F &R 4/ (3E4N0) 2,468 (2,257)
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables & 5 EUWFIER A (3EHN0) 16,323 (26,222)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, other receivables and other assets
ANRE - EttEEREREMEER D (15h0) 312,574 (132,586)
Decrease in restricted cash X [R l|ZR &5 208 66,424
Decrease in trade and bills payables & 5 J& {208 K &+ 2= 3565 (132,042) (289,176)
Increase in other payables and accruals Hth f& < ZiIE & FE =+ & FH 18 0 102,174 91,524
Cash generated from operations #£ & FT{SIH & 1,445,678 1,086,439
Income tax paid 21 F5 % (900) (1,920)
Net cash flows from operating activities & /E TSR &R E/F 5 1,444,778 1,084,519
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GEHERER

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #2022 12 531 H1FF/E

2022 2021
2022 F 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTTT

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REFZEFIBRERE
Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment

BEYX  BMELEREEE (579,341) (1,394,829)
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, plant and equipment

HEWE - BENMREEB 2SR 2,786 10,516
Purchases of items of other intangible assets & B & & EIER (5,995) (23,592)
Purchases of items of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
BEUAARBETEAHEHFAEHIERNEMEETEE (1,355,892) (2,561,304)

Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

HEARABEFEEEZHFAERERN SR EENASHIE 1,132,607 2,025,870
Consideration paid for previously acquired subsidiaries

AR B E R BE H(E - (23,338)
Acquisition of a subsidiary Y& — KB A7 = (61,789)
Disposal of subsidiaries & /B A 7 33 30,859 (618)
Advances of loans to a related party [f]#5E5 FE &K (500) (25,000)
Repayment from related parties B8 77 & & - 3,117
Advances of loans to third parties A% = BN E X (12,215) (2,640)
Net cash flows used in investing activities I & E B FTAIR &R = /F 58 (787,691) (2,053,607)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES @& ZB iSRS RE

Principal portion of lease payments &A% 25 (631,619) (630,105)
Interest portion of lease payments T2 & 1t 7k Fl| & &85 (58,379) (68,380)
Interest paid 21 F 8 (60,806) (85,237)
New interest-bearing borrowings #71& 5 5 &3 933,450 934,000
Repayments of interest-bearing borrowings 1Ei& 5T B &3 (752,714) (750,263)
Proceeds from issue of convertible redeemable preferred shares

B {7 A $2 0 ] BB Ol B St IR A PTS RUIE - 1,169,132
Increase in restricted cash R &3R8 £ 3L N (2,364) (39,690)
Decrease in restricted cash 2[R #3145 4 4,173 47,471
Repurchase of shares & @l A% {5 (11,983) =
Capital injection from non-controlling interests in a subsidiary

RKE—KWB R R EIERERAEE - 192
Proceeds from initial public offering of shares & X /AR Z1TAY ZFT 15 718 - 872,586

Net cash flows (used in)/from financing activities
BEES (FTH),/ FiERE&EnEFH (580,242) 1,449,706
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
mEEHERER

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #,Z20224F 12 531 H 1F F/Z

2022 2021
2022 F 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTTT

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

HeMReEEY 2B INFEE 76,845 480,618
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year F #1318 & MR & 5 EY) 954,318 498,740
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [ R & 8 #) 5/ £ 8,182 (25,040)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR £ R & LIS EEY 25 1,039,345 954,318

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Re MR FBWERDIT
Cash and bank balances IR 4 & $R1T45 88 25 999,384 788,681
Non-pledged time deposits with original maturity of less
than three months when acquired

BARTIHALHN=M@EA 2 IEEREHFR 25 50,000 177,693
Restricted cash 2R #I|IR & 25 (10,039) (12,056)

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the consolidated statement
of cash flows R MEMEXRMHFRE KA SEEY 1,039,345 954,318
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Notes to Financial Statements

B RS ERAR B AL

31 DECEMBER 2022 20224 12 531 H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP AEREEEHR

INFORMATION

ZEEVIREBRBRAR ([RA7]) AR
ERSTMKILZERREAT - XRRFIZ
sEfIE A Sertus Chambers, P.O. Box
2547, Cassia Court Bay, Grand Cayman °

ANE (Cayman) Inc. (“the Company”) is an exempted company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The registered address of the
Company is Sertus Chambers, P.O. Box 2547, Cassia Court Bay,
Grand Cayman.

ARBRREZERAT - RFA - ARQA
MEABRRFEARKME (AT H
B ) e ETERE ([RERE) -

The Company is an investment holding company. During
the year, the Company’s subsidiaries were involved in the
less-than-truckload services (‘LTL Services”) in the People’s
Republic of China (hereafter, the “PRC”).

g N

Information about subsidiaries
AARNEEWBE A RGBS HEFIOT ¢

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Place and date of

incorporation/
registration and
place of operations

MR/ ERHER
FEDYEES A

Issued ordinary
shares/registered
share capital
BRfTEER/
kA

Direct
E# i

Percentage of equity
attributable to the
Company
ADEEL
RERAL

Indirect

Principal
activities

IERHED

ANE Fast (Cayman) Inc. (@  Cayman Islands US$50,000 100% Investment holding
11 February 2015 50,000%7 REER
REHE
01552A118
ANE Fast Holding Limited (a)  British Virgin Islands US$50,000 = 100%  Investment holding
10 November 2014 50,000%7C RARRK
ERARRES
20145118108
ANE Fast Logistics (Hong Kong) Limited (‘ANE Hong Kong') ()  Hong Kong 25 HK$10,000 = 100%  Investment holding
November 2014 1000037 RERER
&4
2014511 A25H
Shanghai Anneng Juchuang Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd.* ()  PRC/Mainland China RMB3,669,914,940 - 100%  Express freight
(“Shanghai ANE') 1 June 2015 AR¥ 3669,914,9407 services
PEZRREMEEERERAA ([ LERAERA]) hE /hER gk
2015%6A18
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Notes to Financial Statements

BA TSR B EE

31 DECEMBER 2022 20224 12 31 H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. PEIREEER (&

INFORMATION (Continued)
M A RER (’)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Place and date of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary | Percentage of equity
registration and shares/registered attributable to the Principal
place of operations share capital Company activities
HAMAL/ B ER BRTEER/ A0REL
RANREELY iR REB AL IEEKED
Direct | Indirect
B [
Anneng Juchuang Supply Chain Management (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd." ()  PRC/Mainland China RMB150,000,000 - 100%  Express freight
R RARERER (RY) BRAT 10 July 2015 AB#150,000,0007 senvices
hE/ hEm RERE
201557410
Changshan Giant Truck Supply Chain Management Co., Lid." ()  PRC/Mainland China RMB1,500,000,000 = 100%  Line-haul
BURRENEEEERERAR 25 September 2015 A %1,500,000,0007T transportation
hE /PER #iEn
015597258
Changshan Zhongchuang Transportation Co., Ltd.* ()  PRC/Mainland China RMBS,000,000 = 100%  Line-haul
BLREERER AT 13 September 2016 AR 5,000,000 transportation
hE /hER BREE
016597138
Changshan Zhongyu Transportation Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd.* (@  PRG/Mainland China RMB1,100,000,000 - 100%  Line-haul
BURBENEEEERERAT 18 February 2020 AK%1,100,000,0007C fransportation
hE /hERk B5ER
202052 A18H
Changshan Zhongying Transportation Supply Chain Management Co., Lid* (3 ~ PRC/Mainland China RMBS5,000,000 = 100%  Ling-haul
RURRENERERERAT 23 October 2020 ARE5,000,0007 fransportation
hE /hERk BiER
202051023
Changshan Zhongrun Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd. (3  PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 - 100%  Ling-haul
FUREHEEERERAA 23 June 2021 ARH5,000,0007 transportation
hE /RN BhEs
2021%6A23H
Changshan Zhongka Logistics Industrial Park Investment Co., Ltd.* ()  PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 - 90%  Investment holding
BURTIREREREARAT 8 December 2017 AR#50,000,0007C REZK
hE /hERk
2017512 A8H

RRMREEARAR o 2022 F]H
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Br RS SRR MY EE

31 DECEMBER 2022 20224 12 531 H

1.

2.1

160

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
Notes:

(@)

Registered as limited liability enterprises under PRC law.

*

The English names of these companies represent the best effort made
by the management of the Company to directly translate the Chinese
names as they do not register any official English names.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for financial assets and liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss and financial liabilities associated
with a put option. These financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

ANE (Cayman) Inc. ® ANNUAL REPORT 2022

2.1

A REBEF (F)

fiE A RE R (]
GEE

(a) BIEFFEEFIMAR/EREFELE -

* O HRZSEARNLEZAMEMNE FEXS
B HAXEZWDOHALREEERENE
ERX AR o

ERBRINESRREAFREREENER
FEIBRAKREEEFEIZNONAE
REAMBLRFE - EEZRA - REHEEMHE
RAMFBEREEHERBRITE

mREE

MBHRDIBETESHMAG ([FES
SRR E ) BB EMBEREEL ([&F
BUBREER ) (BEMERBYHEHRS
R BAEGEL ([FHREHER ) &
BEMEBEAREFTRAUAREERAE
BRI BERE MRS

MBRRIRBELKANERE - UAAR
BEFEAEZDFTAEHNEENEHE
ERBBEAREREREABNERAE
BRIN c ZETBREAARE ([ARKD
25 BREBEEBI  AEREHOEE
REMTAL -



4

Notes to Financial Statements

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2022.
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly
or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved
when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing
rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control. When the Company has, directly or indirectly,
less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Br RS SRR MY EE

31 DECEMBER 2022 20224 12 431 A

1 mREE (&)

mEERE

BAMBHRERBEERARRREKBAR (4
HIAE®E]) NEZE2022F12 A31HILF
BB HRE - MBRARIEIARAEE
SHEEEHNER (RELEEEE) o i
REBEBA2EEREFERMNEZERA
ERSHEIEE SN Z0%  BHENBE
BITFEERRETNENTZEBBRR -
BIAE B A % B RS A 4E Hil 4 (BDIRESAE 7
AEBXBHIRE S HBEE A8 I
F) o

R—RIBEATEHFESZ BREEL KIS
BZHE - MARBEEKEAEEE IR
WIETKRZ BN R RELECER - Al
AEERFHERTHEAUHIRE TR
N @EEMBEHEBEERER 8
¥

(@) BZWRESTHEMEEERBANE
#IzHE

(o) KEEMENLHNEN &
) AEBENKREENBLERERE
B I 2 R T B R B AR B 48 R e o A A
R — 2 BOR R AR B HE - B
REZHEE A ANEE RS 2 A HE

REANER YHEBESAANRZEEEZEFE
HIERIE AR -
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31 DECEMBER 2022 20224 12 31 A

2.1

162

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the
non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and
liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control described above. A change
in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control,
is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i) the
fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus
or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate,
on the same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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Notes to Financial Statements

22I1SSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in the financial

statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)

HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 17

Amendment to HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture’
Insurance Contracts'’
Lease Liability in a Sale
and Leaseback?
Insurance Contracts™ ®

Initial Application of HKFRS 17
and HKFRS 9 — Comparative
Informatior?

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current
(the “2020 Amendments”)?

Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants
(the “2022 Amendments”)?

Disclosure of Accounting Policies’

Definition of Accounting Estimates’

Deferred Tax related to Assets

and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction’

Br RS SRR MY EE

31 DECEMBER 2022 20224 12 31 H

22 B M ERERERNE RN
wE

%

Z Al

AEBRMBHRRLARFAATERME
WARERH I REERTBEM B REE
All -

BEMBRSENR0R KEZLAP LN AAAELF
REREHERNFNE ZHHRELELTE
(BFT%) (2011%)

BEMBRSENS TR REAY

BRMBREEE 165 ERHONHERE

(31%)
ERAMERELANER RBAY °
CHES)
BENBRERANENTR BEYBHLEAEI7HREE
CHES) HERERAEIG S
B~ BB
BAGTHEAEIR BEESBARG AT
(BFTA) ([2020F£3T%1)?
BAGTIEAEIR MEZEDHRERE ([2022F
CHES) EiT%))?

EREENEIRR
BENEREENER
NEER (BAIK)

Bl HRZRE

ER G EAFeHR Bitfait EE
(BATE)

BREHEAE 12N  AE-XFELHNEERAEN
(BFTA) BHECHE
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31 DECEMBER 2022 20224 12 531 H

s R E RN E B

(%)

2.2ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

22 BB
B®wE

i

—

7N

-

M2023F 1 A1 B EARBRMNFE BME

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

Gy

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 2 R2024F1 A1 HEERBHNFEBBA
2

3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption 3 HABTERHIEBBE - BB AIHER

4 As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments, the effective date of 4  HR2022F(EETA » 2020 F ] AN £

the 2020 Amendments was deferred to annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2024. In addition, as a consequence of the 2020
Amendments and 2022 Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5
Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower
of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause
was revised to align the corresponding wording with no change in
conclusion

HEHIRE2024F1 A1 Ak & RIAN T
EHAR o B AR2020F 5T AN [ 2022
FEFA  BERBESRYBHELZNE
#— EANCEBFEANEAE)ERHE A
P BEEITIER] - LEHERRARE —
B AT

As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in 5 HR2020F10 A EH BB BEMEERSE
October 2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary 1755 (IBETAN) - BAEMEIRE LR F 4574
exemption that permits insurers to apply HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 1B ETHE R BR 28 6 DA FF R AR 2023 FF 1
9 for annual periods beginning before 1 January 2023 A1BRIARNFEHEERAST S g%
E395% - MIEB BB RELEAIFE IR
An entity that chooses to apply the transition option relating to the 6 ERNREREABBMBHRELENEITR
classification overlay set out in this amendment shall apply it on initial RERAZETAREFT YR ZBE
application of HKFRS 17 R
Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be EHBERARAER  ZEE 50 BRE
applicable to the Group is described below. R 7 — BRI T ) EHq o
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2.2ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in
HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting
from a downstream transaction when the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture
constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets that
do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor's profit or loss only to
the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or
joint venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS
10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January
2016 and a new mandatory effective date will be determined after
the completion of a broader review of accounting for associates
and joint ventures. However, the amendments are available for
adoption now.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a
seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a
sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does
not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the
right of use it retains. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be applied
retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions entered into
after the date of initial application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January
2019). Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

2.2 C B
&

Br RS SRR MY EE

31 DECEMBER 2022 20224 12 31 H
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities
as current or non-current, in particular the determination over
whether an entity has a right to defer settlement of the liabilities
for at least 12 months after the reporting period. Classification of
a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise
its right to defer settlement of the liability. The amendments also
clarify the situations that are considered a settlement of a liability.
In 2022, the HKICPA issued the 2022 Amendments to further
clarify that, among covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, only those with which an entity must comply on or
before the reporting date affect the classification of that liability
In addition, the 2022 Amendments
require additional disclosures by an entity that classifies liabilities

as current or non-current.

arising from loan arrangements as non-current when it has a
right to defer settlement of those liabilities that are subject to
the entity complying with future covenants within 12 months
after the reporting period. The amendments are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall
be applied retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted. An
entity that applies the 2020 Amendments early is required to
apply simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The
Group is currently assessing the impact of the amendments and
whether existing loan agreements may require revision. Based on
a preliminary assessment, the amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.2ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies require
entities to disclose their material accounting policy information
rather than their significant accounting policies. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together with other
information included in an entity’s financial statements, it can
reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary
users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis
of those financial statements. Amendments to HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance on how to apply
the concept of materiality to accounting policy disclosures.
Amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2023 and earlier application is permitted.
Since the guidance provided in the amendments to HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 is non-mandatory, an effective date for these
amendments is not necessary. The Group is currently revisiting
the accounting policy disclosures to ensure consistency with the
amendments.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes
in accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies.
Accounting estimates are defined as monetary amounts in financial
statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty. The
amendments also clarify how entities use measurement techniques
and inputs to develop accounting estimates. The amendments
are effective for annual reporting period beginning on or after 1
January 2023 and apply to changes in accounting policies and
changes in accounting estimates that occur on or after the start
of that period. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception in HKAS 12 so that it no longer applies
to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences, such as leases and decommissioning
obligations. Therefore, entities are required to recognise a deferred
tax asset (provided that sufficient taxable profit is available) and a
deferred tax liability for temporary differences arising from these
transactions. The amendments are effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and shall be applied
to transactions related to leases and decommissioning obligations
at the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented,
with any cumulative effect recognised as an adjustment to the
opening balance of retained profits or other component of equity
as appropriate at that date. In addition, the amendments shall
be applied prospectively to transactions other than leases and
decommissioning obligations. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the
acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.
This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host
contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value
and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of
this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of
the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at
31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups
of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of
units.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised.
An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill
disposed of in these circumstances is measured based on the
relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures certain financial liabilities at fair value at the
end of the reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the
absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market
for the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an
asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming
that market participants act in their economic best interest.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling
it to another market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair
value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the

lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Fair value measurement (Continued)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than deferred
tax assets and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of
the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair
value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. In testing
a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the carrying
amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building)
is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be
allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to
the smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit
or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in
the period in which it arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

() has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the
other entity);

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to
the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

(vi) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance,
is normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria
are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised
in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required
to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as
individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 5%
19% - 32%
19% - 32%
19% - 32%
19% - 32%
Over the shorter of lease terms

Motor vehicles

Office equipment

Electronic equipment

Operating equipment

Leasehold improvements
and estimated useful lives

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal.
Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit
or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents a leasehold improvement
under construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of
construction and capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed
funds during the period of construction. Construction in progress
is reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for use.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life
are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets are amortised on the straight-line basis over the
following useful economic lives:

Software 5 years
Franchise 5 years
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(Continued)

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or loss as
incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that
it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its
ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future
economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the
project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during
the development. Product development expenditure which does
not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset
for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make
lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to
use the underlying assets.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost,
less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement date less any
lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and
the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Buildings 1 to 10 years

Land use rights 50 years

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be
paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also
include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of
penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects
the Group exercising the option to terminate the lease. The
variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

180

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to its short-term leases (that is those leases that have a
lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option). Lease payments
on short-term leases are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or
when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an
operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are
classified as operating leases. Rental income is accounted for
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in
revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating
nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased
asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as
rental income.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics
and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the
exception of trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group initially measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that
do not contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient are measured at the
transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with
the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income,
it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount
outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI
are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss,
irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at
amortised cost are held within a business model with the objective
to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income are held within a business model
with the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash
flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held within the
aforementioned business models are classified and measured at
fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.
Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in
fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under
a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

Br RS SRR MY EE

31 DECEMBER 2022 20224 12 31 H

23FESFTTHRMBE (&)

REREMEREE (B)

BB AT EN A E (EFTA)

WEER AT ENEREEEREAER
MEEAE WA BERTE - EEE
RAETER - BRTIRER - WS REER
BRRPHER

URRBEFEHAEEB A Z B
THEE

RRABEFELEEHTAZTHESN
ERMEER QA BERMBRRKI R
mARBENFESHANIRERAMER -

RIEEITTMEE

TREE (K (MER) —BEREEN
”i ABRLeREENTD) ERE TS
BN TR IR (B AR ESE BN
=HIE)

s NEEWHREARENENEER ;
%

s AKRECHBEUEEWDMREREN
A XERBEIBTF I LHAERS
=hERBEXAMNMREEREAEERXN

EROEME  R@AKECHEREE
BB A B D B &@ﬁ’ﬁﬁ$%@
BEAREEXNREEENBARIL D
SAEE EEE&QF%TH%°

TR EB AR R A » 2022 F 183



X

Notes to Financial Statements

B

5 ¥ R Y &

31 DECEMBER 2022 20224 12 531 H

2.3

184

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset
nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to
recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and

obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration
that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(‘ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held
or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual
terms.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result
from default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information. The Group considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more than
30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases,
the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default
when internal or external information indicates that the Group
is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the
Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under
the general approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables
which apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount

equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but that
are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to

lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime

ECLs
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach
in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by the
Group (treasury shares) are recognised directly in equity at cost.
No gain or loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss
on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own
equity instruments.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on the weighted average cost basis and net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of
generally within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to
cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting
period of the future expenditures expected to be required to
settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted present value
amount arising from the passage of time is included in finance
costs in the statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

e in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward
of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised,
except:

e when the deferred tax assets relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be recovered.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised
or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only
if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different
taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities
and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be
settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there
is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates
to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic
basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a
deferred income account and is released to the statement of profit
or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the
asset and released to the statement of profit or loss by way of a
reduced depreciation charge.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

192

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group is mainly involved in the business of providing LTL

Services and Express Parcel Services to its customers and

normally charges fees for (a) transportation and dispatch services,

including sorting and line-haul transportation services and dispatch

and arrangement for dispatch services, and (b) value-added

services. Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised

when control of goods or services is transferred to the customers

at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group

expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

(a)

(b)

Transportation and dispatch services

The Group provides sorting and line-haul transportation
services between its sorting centres and then dispatch the
goods for its customers. The Group recognises revenue from
transportation services and dispatch services over time as
customers receive the benefit of the services as the goods
are transported from one location to another. As such,
revenue from transportation services and dispatch services
is recognised proportionally as goods are transported from
one location to another and the related costs are recognised
as incurred. The Group uses an output method of progress
based on time-in-transit as it best depicts the transfer of
control to the customer. The Group also provides arrangement
for dispatch services from which the revenue is recognised at
the point in time upon completion of the services.

Value-added services

The Group also provides value-added services to customers,
such as sales of freight related consumables, insurance and
operation management and logistics technology services.
Revenues are recognised at a point in time when control of
the goods is transferred to the customer or recognised over
time or at a point in time upon completion of the services.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life
of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate,
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer services to a
customer for which the Group has received a consideration (or
an amount of consideration that is due) from the customer. A
contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related services to the
customer).

Share-based payments

The Company operates share award schemes for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form
of share-based payments, whereby employees render services in
exchange for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for grants
are measured by reference to the fair values at the dates at which
they are granted. The fair values are determined by an external
valuer using a binomial model, further details of which are given in
note 32 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in
equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service
conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for
equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting period until
the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has
expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the
statement of profit or loss for a period represents the movement
in the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end
of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected
within the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached
to an award, but without an associated service requirement,
are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting
conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to
an immediate expensing of an award unless there are also service
and/or performance conditions.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Share-based payments (Continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial
to the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of
either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new
award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as
a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled
and new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the
original award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Other employee benefits

Pension scheme

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. The
subsidiaries are required to contribute certain percentages of their
payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are
charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of association
grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currencies

The financial statements is presented in RMB, which is different
from the Company’s functional currency, the United States dollar
(“US$”). As the major revenues and assets of the Group are
derived from operations in Mainland China, RMB is chosen as
the presentation currency to present the financial statements.
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each entity
are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional
currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured.
The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item
measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the
gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised
in other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an
advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date
on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability arising from the advance consideration.
If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the
advance consideration.

The functional currencies of the Company and certain overseas
subsidiaries are currencies other than RMB. As at the end of
the reporting period, for entities whose functional currencies
are different from the Group’s presentation currency, the assets
and liabilities of these entities are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and
their statements of profit or loss are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing at the dates
of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and
any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities
of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of these entities are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of these entities which arise throughout the
year are translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange
rates for the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are described below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables and contract assets. The provision rates are based
on days past due for groupings of various customer segments
that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by geography, service type,
customer type and rating, and coverage by letters of credit and
other forms of credit insurance).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e.,
gross domestic product) are expected to deteriorate over the next
year which can lead to an increased number of defaults in the
logistics industry, the historical default rates are adjusted. At each
reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated
and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes
in circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The Group’s
historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic
conditions may also not be representative of a customer’s actual
default in the future. The information about the ECLs on the
Group’s trade receivables and contract assets is disclosed in note
20 to the financial statements.

ANE (Cayman) Inc. ® ANNUAL REPORT 2022

3. EXERHE R AMEE (&)

EET A REEME ()

B SN BRI E BB

AEBEERABEREEFTEE S RYGRIAR
BHEENHEHEEESE - BHEXDER
A RUBEERN (AR ENE - R
EFEARIR  AREAZERH
WEANEERRNEZSHEE D) WTF

B -

BEF D EAR B A EE

BREEEIEREASEBEBEEMNED
Rt E - ARERBEAREREUARESR
EEEBEBLERNMATEMEER - fim - &
AR ERR (BN EELE) RARK—
FRRL  EMBBMRITENZOHE
B BERNERETHE - REMEH
B BEBEMNEORBTUESR  AH

AT R AR

HPEBRERNBHX - BRALBERRRTE
HEEBBRZHANEREFGHN—BREE
MfbEr - BREEEENSBEEIRENE
ARBERAGE - AEEHBEEEER
AR B N 3 R EGIR O B TEORI 7 A BE AR
EFRABRMNERENERL - BHAAKHE
BHRURERANEENEREREER

BERNM I HRMT20HE -



4

Notes to Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
The carrying amount of goodwill as at 31 December 2022 was
RMB131,527,000 (2021: RMB146,253,000). Further details are
included in note 17 to the financial statements.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary
differences and unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences and the unused tax losses can be utilised.
Significant management judgement is required to determine the
amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based
upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together
with future tax planning strategies. The carrying value of deferred
tax assets relating to recognised tax losses at 31 December
2022 was RMB283,318,000 (2021: RMB372,993,000). The
amount of unrecognised tax losses at 31 December 2022 was
RMB1,847,174,000 (2021: RMB1,115,937,000). Further details
are included in note 23 to the financial statements.
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3. EXREFHE KA (&)

EET A REEME ()

AEBELRFEEEETHERS
BRE ZBEEFEAFAESREEEN
ReELBUNERER ~A&EBEAR
HETEREERYREELESBENUNTELD
RARBESMEEL A - TEAEREE
MTREUFEZSTREeRENERME -
M2022F12A31H  BEMNEEEAS
AR®131,527,0007T (20214 : AR
146,253,0007T) ° FFIBEEH NI B mEK M 5
17 °

EEHEEE

REBBEEDRAIMREREZE LAY
BHEEEMER - HEAEE R FE
AN AT R SR =R RS AR
EEBERR A THRRANELERIEBEE
HEERTEERBERRATELEER
Tt )8 0 B ) R BB DA e R SR B TE A B R
BEHEXNFABRETE - R202212 A
31H  rEmRMMNIB/EIBEENRELTER
BEEMKRAEERARM283,318,0007T
(20214 : AR#372,993,0007T) ° K
2022F12A31H ' KAERNFIEBIES
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202

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in a
lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”)
to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the
Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a
similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar
value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.
The IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would have to
pay”, which requires estimation when no observable rates are
available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing
transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect the terms
and conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not in
the subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group estimates the
IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when
available and is required to make certain entity-specific estimates
(such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets (including the right-of-use
assets) at the end of the reporting period. Other non-financial
assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that
the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment
exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair
value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation
of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on available data
from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of
similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs
for disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations are
undertaken, management must estimate the expected future cash
flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows.
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Notes to Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Fair value measurement of share-based payments

The Group has set up the 2015 equity incentive plan (the “2015
Plan”) and the 2016 equity incentive plan (the “2016 Plan”) in
2015 and the 2021 equity incentive plan, and granted options
and restricted share units (‘RSUs”) to the Company’s directors,
the Group’s employees and consultants. The fair values of the
options are determined using the binomial option-pricing model at
the grant dates. Significant estimates on assumptions, including
the underlying equity value, discount rate, expected volatility,
and dividend vyield, are made by the board of directors of the
Company. The fair values of the RSUs are determined using
valuation techniques, including the discounted cash flow method
and the equity allocation model. Further details are included in
note 32 to the financial statements.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

No operating segment information is presented as the Group’s
revenue and reported results during the reporting period, and
the Group’s total assets as at the end of the reporting period
were derived from one single operating segment, i.e., provision of
transportation and related services.

Geographical information

As the Group generates all of its revenues and all the non-current
assets are allocated in the PRC during the reporting period, no
geographical segments are presented.

Information about major customers

The Group has a large number of customers and no revenue from

a single customer is accounted for more than 10% of the Group’s
total revenue for the reporting period.
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5. REVENUE

An analysis of revenue is as follows:

Revenue from contracts with customers: ZF &AW A -
Less-than-truckload Z#&

5. LA

WADHTIT

2022
2022

RMB’000
AR®TTR

2021
20214
RMB’000
ARETTL

Transportation & &j 5,339,150 5,612,420

Dispatch Jk % 2,282,851 2,318,417

Value-added services 3#E1E R 1,670,350 1,714,529
9,292,351 9,645,366

Full-truckload &

Transportation & # 42,580 =

Total #5t 9,334,931 9,645,366

(i) Disaggregated revenue information

Timing of revenue recognition B2 UL A K B
Over time: I —ERBFR ¢

(i) ZHFVAEHR

2022
2022

RMB’000
ARBTR

2021
20214
RMB’000
ARETTL

Transportation & &i 5,381,730 5,612,420
Dispatch services J& i iR 2,282,851 2,318,417
Value-added services 1B iR 7% 104,974 144,952
At a point in time: R —RFE2E

Value-added services ¥ {E iR 1,565,376 1,569,577
Total revenue from contracts with customers EF & #4218 A 9,334,931 9,645,366
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5. REVENUE (Continued)
(ii) Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Transportation and dispatch services

The Group provides sorting and line-haul transportation
services between its sorting centres and then dispatches
the goods for its customers. The Group also provides
arrangement for dispatch services. The performance
obligations for transportation and dispatch services are
satisfied over time when the goods are transported from one
location to another. Performance obligations are generally
short-term in nature with transit days being less than a week
for each shipment. Payment in advance is normally required.

Value-added services

The performance obligations for value-added services are
satisfied upon delivery of the related consumables or upon
completion of the services. Payment in advance is normally
required.

The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognised
during the reporting period that were included in the contract
liabilities at the beginning of the respective periods:

B TSR AR B RE

31 DECEMBER 2022 20224 12 31 H

5. WA (&)
(i) BREE

BRAEEROEETNEMBMIT -

Bl KRR R

AEBERED BT L2 BERHE DB R
BRERRT  BRAERREPIKXE
Yo ARB I RERERB RS - B
B MR AR BENEEREmA —
ExEER S —EhR N —RERA
EX - BREE-—RBEHEE &
HEENERRBRIR—EEY -
BEERAMNEA -

BERE

BERBHNEOREREBEERR

4 SRS SRR - B BTN
$oF -

TRINTRRENERERL NS H
HRENFARNBENRASER

Transportation and dispatch services &) & Ik i AR 1%

Value-added services E1&E iR 7%
Total #5t

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TRT ARBT T
81,349 74,879
11,861 3,210
93,210 78,089
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6.

206

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS/
(LOSSES), NET

An analysis of other income and gains/(losses), net is as follows:

Provision for impairment of 35 {B &
— Trade receivables and other receivables

B AR W3S (B5iE) -

R

Hl A RWas /(BR)  FEI TN

T

2022
20228

RMB’000
ARBTR

2021
20214
RMB’000
ARBTT

— B 5 WA K& E A e W kIR (18,166) (49,409)
— Property, plant and equipment — 4% - &= M & & (8,896) -
— Goodwill — £ 17 (14,726) =
Government grants* B # Bh* 21,078 29,860
Foreign exchange differences, net SN = 58% 58 (2,173) 10,524
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
HEWE - BEKRENERER (13,985) (11,613)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries &M B A FEUES 7,371 =
Interest income 8 YW A 15,120 9,613
Others H fth 5,793 (6,977)
(8,584) (18,002)

*

Government grants mainly represent various supports awarded by the
local governments to support the Group’s operation.
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31 DECEMBER 2022 20224 12 31 H

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. B A

An analysis of finance costs is as follows: AT
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥F T AREFIT
Interest on bank loans and other loans $R17 & 7 & E th & 317 B, 61,820 59,656
Interest on lease liabilities THE & &5 & 58,379 68,380

Transaction costs for the issue of convertible redeemable
preferred shares, convertible loans and a prepaid
forward contract

FATAHRAEE ALK - TBRERRAMEBEONRHAAR = 24,360

120,199 152,396

8. FAIR VALUE CHANGES OF FINANCIAL 8. XA nEEzIE B A B E 5

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AT FAIR AEBESNERAENSR
VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS BHNAREBERE

2022

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETTT

Fair value changes of convertible redeemable preferred shares

AR ATERELERN AR EBEED = (2,011,241)

Fair value changes of convertible loans A] 2 B A i EEEE) - (5,302)

Fair value changes of a prepaid forward contract

RGN AREEE - (26,790)

Fair value changes of warrants RIXEEN AL BEZH - (608)

Fair value changes of financial products & B @A A 7t B{E & F) 10,081 1,217
10,081 (2,042,724)
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9. LOSS BEFORE TAX 9. BiAIEIR
The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): REBOFRATBES G (GTA) T7&
18 :
2022 2021
20225 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREBTT
Cost of revenue* & A* 7,331,152 7,583,778
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
W% - BB RREBITE 15 437,755 307,010
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 1 A EEHE 16 621,075 580,052
Amortisation of other intangible assets E At /& = # §5 18 22,301 26,412
Fair value changes of convertible redeemable preferred shares
AERAEREBERNLABEEZS 8 - 2,011,241
Fair value changes of convertible loans AIE#E R A 1 BEEES) 8 - 5,302
Fair value changes of a prepaid forward contract
ANERENNRABERED 8 - 26,790
Fair value changes of warrants R EZEHN AL EBEEH 8 - 608
Fair value changes of financial products £ BiZE KA A2 EEE &) 8 (10,081) (1,217)

Changes in the expected redemption amount
associated with the put option liabilities

L HEAEAENTERER S EE - 191,533
Government grants B 7 8 6 (21,078) (29,860)
Auditors’ remuneration #ZZ R4 5,000 3,000

Employee benefit expenses
(including directors’ and supervisors’ remuneration):

BTIRMAX (BREEREEME)

Wages, salaries and allowances T& « ¥4 K28k 610,185 454,499
Pension scheme contributions R K4 &2 7 57,585 56,467
Share-based payment expenses %5 x5t FI % 191,344 151,048
Impairment losses on trade receivables and other receivables
B 5 RWGRIE K B A YR IR E &R 18,166 49,409
Impairment of property, plant and equipment #1% - [liE K& ERE 8,896 =
Impairment of goodwill 725 {& 14,726 -
Lease expenses** F &R+ 16 93,621 106,503
Utility fee AR EXER 44,073 44,876
Interest income FJ 2 U A 6 (15,120) (9,613)
Listing expense MRS - 28,987
Loss on disposal of other intangible assets
HEHMETLEENER 1,579 -
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
HEWX - BE RERENEER 6 13,985 11,613
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries & iB A & # U zs 33 (7,371) =
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- -l - = E
9. LOSS BEFORE TAX (Continued) 9. BAIEE (&)

*  The amount of cost of revenue excludes those included in the * EERASBIEEZETTADE  HBE
depreciation of property, plant and equipment, depreciation of REIE  FRAEBEERE  BIEN
right-of-use assets, employee benefit expenses, lease expenses and Y HERIRAREXEANSHEE -
utility fee.

**  The Group applies the available practical expedients of HKFRS 16 o AEEREABRBMBHRELENE165EHIE
wherein it applies the short-term lease exemption to leases with a BUTEERE  HPRBHEERREA
lease term that ends within 12 months from the lease commencement RABHEROMG AR 12EARER
date. KIFEAT ©

10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S 10.EENESTHAE#ME
REMUNERATION

Mr. Wang Yongjun and Mr. Qin Xinghua were appointed as THESERFRBELEDFIN20145F7
executive directors of the Company on 31 July 2014 and 28 A31A k201562 A28 HEZF AR AT
February 2015, respectively. HITES ©

Mr. Zhu Jianhui was appointed as executive directors of the PEE L ER2015F7 H23HEZE RN
Company on 23 July 2015 and resigned on 1 September 2022. NEITESE » WH202299 A1 BHEAE »
Mr. Jin Yun was appointed as an executive director of the SELENR2022F9 A1 BEZERR A
Company on 1 September 2022. TE=E o
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10.

210

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (Continued)

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c)
and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors)

Regulation, is as follows:

WESKRESTRAEMNS

(1

RIELEMRE - FERQAGRDIZE383(1)
(@)~ (b) ~ () R(IFARAR (REEEF
HEM) ROIFE2HBBRENEZTRRZSTHR
ABFAMEMT

i

2022 2021

20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%T T AR¥BT T

Fees #%& 1,326 204
Other emoluments: EE& -

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥4 - 28 R EWEF 8,826 6,242

Share-based payment expenses %15 3z < B sz 7,425 13,235

Pension scheme contributions B K& 5T 23 165 147

Termination benefits BiEBE4E 12,700 -

30,442 19,828

During the year, certain directors were granted restricted share
units, in respect of their services to the Group, under the equity
incentive scheme of the Company, further details of which are
set out in note 32 to the financial statements. The fair value of
restricted share units, which has been recognised in the statement
of profit or loss over the vesting period, was determined as at the
date of grant and the amount included in the financial statements
for the current year is included in the above directors’ and chief
executive’s remuneration disclosures.
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10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S 10.EERESTHAEME

REMUNERATION (Continued) (%)
(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) B FHITES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during FAZNTEIERTESTHEESN
the year were as follows: T 8
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTIT
Mr. Geh George Shalchu BEEX St 4 442 68
Mr. Lam Man Kwong #R3Z Il 5 4 442 68
Mr. Li Wilson Wei Z=#E % & 442 68
1,326 204
There were no other emoluments payable to the independent FRALBERNBLFRTEETNEMHNES
non-executive directors during the year (2021: Nil). (2021%F : &) »
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10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 10. RESTHRAEME

REMUNERATION (Continued) (#&)
(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors b)BITEE - FHITESRES
and the chief executive THAE
Salaries, | Share-based Pension
allowances and payment scheme | Termination
benefits in kind expenses | contributions benefits Total
e 2 R Bie
ik RENEF XX aTEIfR BRER @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 | RMB’000
ARET R AR%T R AR%T R AR¥T R ARETR (AR¥TR
2022 2022
Executive directors: H/TE£E :
Mr. Wang Yongjun THE %4 - 3,106 2,575 63 = 5,744
Mr. Zhu Jianhui #3218 5% & - 2,248 2,146 25 12,700 17,119
Mr. Jin Yun €254 - 369 129 14 - 512

Non-executive directors: EH{TES :
Mr. Chen Weihao FRZZ L4 - - - - - -
Mr. Wang Jian T &% 4 - - - - - -
Ms. Li Dan 121+ - - - - - -
Chief executive: &BTHAE :
Mr. Qin Xinghua Z &% & - 3,103 2,575 63 - 5,741

= 8,826 7,425 165 12,700 29,116
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10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S 10.EERESTHAEME

REMUNERATION (Continued) (%&)
(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors b)EFITEE - kHTEERERS
and the chief executive (Continued) ITBAE ()
Salaries, Share-based Pension
allowances and payment scheme
Fees | benefits in kind expenses contributions Total
E2 =i ) Rike
ik REVE SRRAZ FTEIfR m@st
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT AREFT ARETT ARETTT
2021 20214
Executive directors: 1172 % :
Mr. Wang Yongjun THE %4 - 2,053 4,671 57 6,781
Mr. Zhu Jianhui fLEEIB S AE - 2,137 3,893 33 6,063

Non-executive directors: JFHITESE :
Mr. Yang Ling & %4 = = = = -
Mr. Ying Wei B2 L4 - = = = -
Mr. Chen Weihao FRIE % L4 - - = = =
Mr. Liu Xinghe %127 % & = = = = =
Mr. Lin Xiaogin #f/)\R & 4 - = = - -
Mr. Wang Jian T8I% 4 - - = = =
Ms. Li Dan %+ - - = = =

Chief executive: ZEBITHAE :

Mr. Qin Xinghua Z&Z % 4£ - 2,052 4,671 57 6,780
- 6,242 13,235 147 19,624
Notes: B EE -
() Salary paid to a director is generally an emolument paid or i) ETNTFT-RESFHNHF RARZALTE
receivable in respect of that person’s other services in connection EEARRIEMBRAREETEMNEAM
with the management of the affairs of the Company or its R M2 sk BB S -

subsidiary undertakings.

(i) There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief iy FAVEEZXSESTRAEREZEXRE
executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the WEEAME 2 ZHE
year.
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11

214

. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included two
directors and the chief executive (2021: two directors and the
chief executive), details of whose remuneration are set out in note
10.

Details of the remaining two (2021: two) highest paid employees
during the reporting period are as follows:

NEBRRESHMNET

RAFE  IEReFMEIEmEE
EREEITHAER (2021F  MBEENR
SETBAR)  EHMEFBHNHIFEI0 -

RBEHR - B TMA (2021F : MB) &
BEME THRFBMT

2022 2021
20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARETIT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind # 4 - 284 R E¥1E 7 3,577 4,291
Share-based payment expenses A% 32 {52 8,966 12,290
Pension scheme contributions Rk & 520 5k 84 109

12,627 16,690

The number of non-director highest paid employees whose
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

FHNTUTHENEESRSTME T
RABNT -

2022 2021
2022 F 20214

Nil to HK$3,000,000 Z % 3,000,000/ 7T,

HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 7T % 4,500,000 % 7T
HK$9,500,001 to HK$10,000,000 9,500,001 % 7T % 10,000,0007% 7T
HK$17,500,001 to HK$18,000,000 17,500,001/ 7t & 18,000,000 7T

- 1
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12.INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE)

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands, the
Group is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman Islands.

No Hong Kong profits tax has been provided as there was no
assessable profit earned in or derived from Hong Kong during the
reporting period.

All of the Group’s subsidiaries registered in the PRC, except for
certain subsidiaries which enjoy a tax rate of 2.5% or 5%, are
subject to PRC enterprise income tax (“EIT”) at a rate of 25%.

B TSR AR B RE

31 DECEMBER 2022 20224 12 31 H

12. ieBiE % (BA%)

RERASHENRULRN  AEEEA
ERSRESBMETAMER -

HRRBEHELERBTERRNIREE
R ERTAE - AL ERBFEN ST
TR

AEERTEETMOMENBERR (B=E
B2.5%HE5% B ERHE THIERAIN) AR
25% BT RGN BB RS ([
BHl) -

2022 2021
2022 F 20214

RMB’000
ARBT T

RMB’000
ARBTT

Current income tax BNERFTS L 757 486
Adjustments in respect of prior years B € FH% 577 =
Deferred income tax (note 23) MEIEFTEAT (FI5E23) 126,814 (122,878)
Tax charge/(credit) for the year ERTHIEZ H /(3E%) 128,148 (122,392)
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12.INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE) 12 FiB8HER (BAX) (&)
(Continued)
A reconciliation of the tax charge/(credit) applicable to loss before ERARERE R EREEREAER
tax at the statutory rate applicable in Mainland China to the tax AIBENHESH (Ee) BEEERHE
expense at the effective tax rates is as follows: FTEMNBIERZOEERNAT
2022 2021
20224 20214
2]Y[=X0]0]0] RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T
Loss before tax Al &5 18 (281,119) (2,129,463)
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 25% A TE M R 25% 5 E T IA (70,280) (532,366)
Lower tax rates enacted by local authorities & it 5 75 #4 B8 i & HOBR T & 29,786 566,244
Adjustments in respect of current tax of previous periods
AT HMM BN AR B AR 577 -
Expired tax losses in respect of deferred tax assets recognised in
previous periods K iR 1T BAfE i sR 60 R 1 18 & & 1 48 BR AR 1E /B 18 89,675 -
Income not subject to tax 78 &1 FH KU A = (1,149
Expenses not deductible for tax 7~ a] 1 5 52 530 17,443
Tax losses utilised from previous periods &%+ £/ 2 &) A 7 18 &5 18 (41,276) (67,982)

Tax losses not recognised/(recognition of tax losses
not recognised in prior years), net

AERBIEES (HERABEFEARBERANTIEESE) 8 119,136 (104,582)

Tax charge/(credit) for the year at the Group’s effective rate

AEBREBRHREFENFAREIL (L) 128,148 (122,392)
13. DIVIDEND 13. 2

The directors of the Company do not recommend the payment of ARAEETERNAFEIRETARS -

any dividend in respect of the year.
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14.LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT

The calculation of the basic loss per share amounts is based on
the loss for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
1,162,605,486 (2021: 396,317,915) in issue during the year.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue
during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

The calculations of basic and diluted loss per share are based on:

Loss per share - basic

B TSR AR B RE

31 DECEMBER 2022 20224 12 31 H

WA EEREREEAE
EEREE

BREXRBESBENIRES AR L @ARE
HREARGFRAEBERFRNBETER
A% /9 A 19 201,162,605,486 J% L i@ %
(20214 : 396,317,915/%) 5+ &

AEEREZE2022F K2021F12 A31H
I FEWEEBITEEE ST @K -

BREAREFEERIDEN TS EF

=

BRER - EX

2022 2021
20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

Loss 58

Loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent

ARBTFR ARMBTTT

B AR EBRERRTE ARGER (408,426) (2,014,548)
Shares &%
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during

the year used in the basic loss per share calculation
AR EERERNBENFAEETERRNMETHE 1,162,605,486 396,317,915
Loss per share (RMB) &% &8 (AR L) (0.35) (5.08)
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B RS ERAR B AL

31 DECEMBER 2022 20224 12 531 H

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15.¥% - BER®E

Electronic Motor Office | Operating Leasehold | Construction

Buildings | equipment vehicles | equipment | equipment | improvements | in progress Total

By | S7kk RE | WOERR | HERR HE%E KBIR &t

RMB'000 |  RMB'000 | RMB'000 [ RMB'000 |  RMB'000 RMB'000 [  RMB'000 |  RMB'000
ARRTR | ARMTR | ARWTR | ARMTR | ARMTR | ARMTR [ ARBTZ | ARETZ

31 December 2022 2022125318
At 1 January 2022: 1820221 1R :

Cost J(A 111,944 49,576 2,029,238 32,964 34,121 214,578 3,437 2,535,858

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

SHERAE (1,379) (39,936) (385,635) (12,658) (8,995) (229,911) - (678,514)
Net carrying amount SREF(E 110,565 9,640 1,643,603 20,306 25,126 44,667 3,437 1,857,344

At 1 January 2022, net of accumulated
depreciation and impairment

20221 A1 R E N ERAE 110,565 9,640 1,643,603 20,306 25,126 44,667 3437 1,857,344
Additions & 110,200 1,259 234,675 722 7,370 - 21,589 381,815
Disposals Hi& - (733) (14,816) (556) (3,229) - - (19,334)
Disposals of subsidiaries i EHEA A (38,616) - - - - - - (38,616)
Depreciation provided during the year

FMiENE (8,311) (4309)  (383,882) (3,126) (5,707) (32,420) - (437,755)
Impairment provided during the year

ERzriRAE - - (8,39) - - - - (8,396)
Transfers €32 1,937 - - - - 21,328 (23,265) -

At 31 December 2022, net of accumulated
depreciation and impairment

R202E12B318 MR Z T ERAE 175,175 5857 1,470,684 17,346 23,560 33,575 7,061 1,734,558
At 31 December 2022: 120225128318 :

Cost i 182,988 48,165 2,185,087 32,594 37,230 295,906 7761 2,789,731

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

ZIHEREE (7,213) (42,308) (714,403 (15,248) (13,670) (262,331) - (1,085,173)
Net carrying amount BRET;H(E 175,775 5857 1,470,684 17,346 23,560 33,575 7,761 1,734,558
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Electronic Motor

B TSR AR B RE

31 DECEMBER 2022 20224 12 31 H

15. 9% - BMERRKRE (&)

Office

Buildings equipment vehicles equipment

g7 | ETRB nE | ROERA
RMB'000 |  RMB'000 |  RMB'000 |  RWB'000
ARRTR | ARETR | ARETR | ARETR

Operating Leasehold |  Construction
equipment | improvements in progress Total
2Rk BERE ERIR it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETL | ARETR | ARETR

31 December 2021 20215124318
At 1 January 2021 B021 61418 -

Cost fi & - 71,357 998,236 25,538 267,982 235,398 1308 1,599,819

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

ZFEREE - (64112 (209,760) (14807)  (247,774) (204,428) (254  (761,135)
Net carrying amount B/ F(E - 7,045 768,476 10,731 20,208 30,970 1,054 838,684
At 1 January 2021, net of accumulated

depreciation and impairment
20211418 - IR Eer B R - 7,045 768,476 10,731 20,208 30,970 1,054 838,684
Additions & 6,813 7857 1,119,903 14,004 13,436 509 7655 1230076
Acquisition of a subsidiary Y —RHEA 49,966 154 29,662 631 500 4,041 20,948 105,902
Disposals (H& - (433) (13,851) (1,884) (3,140) = = (19,308)
Transfers &2 55,165 - - - - 39,954 (95,119) -
Depreciation provided during the year
EMiRIE (1,379) (5,183  (260587) (3,176) [5,878) (30,807) = (307,010)
At 31 December 2021, net of accumulated

depreciation and impairment
20214124318 - AR BT ERAE 110,565 9,640 1,643,608 20,306 25,126 44,667 3437 1857344
At 31 December 2021: K2021%12 8318 :

Cost FR 111,044 49576 2,029,238 32,964 34,121 274578 3437 253,858

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

S TERAE (1,379) (39935 (385,635) (12,658) (8,995) (229911) = (678514)
Net carrying amount BRI/ FE 110,565 9640 1,643,603 20,306 25,126 44,667 3437 1857,344

Certain of the Group’s motor vehicles with a net carrying amount
of approximately RMB657,236,000 (2021: RMB618,368,000) were
pledged to secure bank and other borrowings (note 28).

Certain of the Group’s buildings with a net carrying amount of
approximately RMB107,147,000 (2021: Nil) were pledged to
secure bank and other borrowings (note 28).

REEEEFELNASAREG657,236,000
7L (20214 : AR#¥618,368,0007T) H9%
FRECEBIERRITREABRAER
(PffzE28) °

AEBER@DFELNABARE107,147,000

TL(2021 % : B) METEFEEMERR
1T REA B R ER (HRE28) -

REMREBARAT » 2022 F 219



X

Notes to Financial Statements

B RS ERAR B AL

31 DECEMBER 2022 20224 12 531 H

15.

16.

220

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Certain items of the property, plant and equipment were no
longer in use by the Group, which indicated there was potential
impairment. Management provided impairment for the items
when their carrying amounts exceed their net realisable values.
The net realisable values are determined by the Group with
reference to the prevailing market conditions and existing prices,
less applicable disposal cost at the end of the reporting period.
As at 31 December 2022, the impairment of property, plant and
equipment was RMB12,674,000 (2021: RMB4,491,000).

LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group leases certain buildings for its offices and sorting hubs.
The movements in right-of-use assets and lease liabilities during
the reporting period are as follows:

(a) Right-of-use assets:

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and
the movements during the year are as follows:

15. 9% - BERRKRE (&)

AEEBTHEAME  BEREENET
ER G EXAGFEEBERE - EHEFAEE
- EEEHZEEE
ATIRREEE - IRBRFEAAEESR
ZHROMARBEEEREE - WHRREH
MARNBREANREENRA - BiZE2022F
12A3181 W% BERZERER
AR#12,674,00070 (20214F « ARME
4,491,0007T) °

16. HE
AEBEREREBA

AEBHE -LBFERAZRIHET
O e ERERR  ERREERBEAR
VEEMT -

(@) EHEER -

AEBEAEEENFEERFRE
EERE

Total

@t
RMB’000
AREFT

Buildings
BF

Land use rights
TR
RMB’000
ARETT

RMB’000
ARBTT

As at 1 January 2021 72202141 A1H 856,381 = 856,381
Additions & 996,852 - 996,852
Acquisition of a subsidiary 48— M B2 7] = 11,486 11,486
Depreciation charge T &% (579,871) (181) (580,052)
Termination £ 1F (59,133 - (59,133)
As at 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022

2021412 A31 B %2022 1A1R 1,214,229 11,305 1,225,534
Additions A& 489,958 - 489,958
Disposal of subsidiaries(note 33) & &1 7] (P3£33) - (5,856) (5,856)
Depreciation charge fTEE (620,854) (221) (621,075)
Termination £ 1t (106,050) - (106,050)
As at 31 December 2022 #2022 12 A31H 977,283 5,228 982,511
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BA TSR B EE

31 DECEMBER 2022 20224 12 31 H

16. LEASES (Continued) 16. #HE (&)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) EEBEEREAEA (&)
(b) Lease liabilities: b) HEEE :
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements FAHEEBENEREEELREDBRLN
during the year are as follows: i
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Carrying amount at 1 January 71 81 B EREE 1,234,115 902,074
New leases #1FH4Y 489,958 996,852
Accretion of interest recognised during the year
FRERNN SIE K 58,379 68,380
Payments {3k (641,422) (676,879)
Termination 4% |F (108,613) (56,312)
Carrying amount at 31 December 7212 831 H R EREE 1,032,417 1,234,115
Analysed into: i N4 :
Current portion i EIEED 522,058 520,886
Non-current portion JEREN =5 510,359 713,229
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 40 HEBENIPDTRTBHRKRM T
to the financial statements. 40 B FR -
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31 DECEMBER 2022 20224 12 531 H

16. LEASES (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases
are as follows:

16. HE (%)

REBEREBEA (&)

(c) FEiBa8 IR EHIE B BIH) 2 B
I

2022 2021
20224 20214

RMB’000
ARBTR

RMB’000
ARETIT

Interest on lease liabilities FHE & &EF| & 58,379 68,380
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets & B &EENITE E A 621,075 580,052
Expense relating to short term leases H258 EATH 495 BRI B 93,621 106,503
Disposal (gains)/losses on termination of right-of-use assets

RILERREENRE (Km),BE (2,563) 2,821
Total amount recognised in profit or loss P IE#E R FER R 424 58 770,512 757,756

(d) The total cash outflow for leases and the future cash outflows
relating to leases that have not yet commenced are disclosed
in notes 34(c) and 36(b), respectively, to the financial
statements.

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its motor vehicles and buildings under operating
lease arrangements. The terms of the leases generally require
the lessees to pay security deposits. Rental income recognised
by the Group during the year was RMB15,039,000 (2021:
RMB13,752,000).
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BA TSR B EE

31 DECEMBER 2022 20224 12 31 H

16. LEASES (Continued) 16. #HE (&)
The Group as a lessor (Continued) AEBEEAEHBA ()
At 31 December 2022, the undiscounted lease payments R2022F 12 A31 8 » ANEER F BEH &K
receivable by the Group in future periods under non-cancellable BMAZTH B EHER R RS H
operating leases with its lessees are as follows: W ARTRBEERNTOT -
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTIT
Within one year 1F R 18,845 19,344
After one year but within two years 1F#&{BE2F R 6,536 10,481
After two years but within three years 2 &8 35X 1,826 1,519
After three years but within four years 3 1BE45E R 941 -
After four years but within five years 4 F&{BE5F R 753 =
After five years 5F 1% 801 -
29,702 31,344
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31 DECEMBER 2022 20224 12 531 H

17. GOODWILL 17. 52

RMB’000
ARETTT

At 1 January 2021: 722021F1 H18 :
Cost A7 113,910
Accumulated impairment ZzHEE -

Net carrying amount BREFE 113,910
Cost at 1 January 2021, net of accumulated impairment
202191 A1 BEIAA - FIBR REHRE 113,910
Acquisition of a subsidiary Y88 — &2 A 32,343

Impairment during the year & REE -

Cost and net carrying amount at 31 December 2021

7202112 A31 BB A R EREDFE 146,253
At 31 December 2021: 722021412 A31H :
Cost KA 146,253
Accumulated impairment Z5HEE -
Net carrying amount BREFE 146,253
Cost at 1 January 2022, net of accumulated impairment
202241 A1 BRI - Fkx R5HRUIE 146,253
Impairment during the year % AR (& (14,726)
Cost and net carrying amount at 31 December 2022
2022412 A31 B A R ARE FE 131,527
At 31 December 2022: 72022412 H318 :
Cost AR 146,253
Accumulated impairment Z51HEE (14,726)
Net carrying amount BREFE 131,527
Impairment testing of goodwill SR E R
Goodwill arose from the acquisition of Changshan Giant Truck EEFE2018F9 A0 A KB E LR REN
Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd. on 30 September 2018 HEEEERR QA KLN2021F8 A3A UK
and the acquisition of Changshan Zhongka Logistics Industrial BELRNYREXERKREBRQRME
Park Investment Co., Ltd. on 3 August 2021. Goodwill acquired o BREBEHESHRNEDEZE T
through business combinations is allocated to the following ReEEBMIERBRR

cash-generating units for impairment testing:

e LTL Services cash-generating unit; and s TERBREELESM: K
e Logistic industrial park services cash-generating unit. s YMREXEBERBRESELESN -
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17. GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)
LTL Services cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the LTL Services cash-generating unit
was determined based on a value in use calculation using cash
flow projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year
period approved by senior management. The discount rate applied
to the cash flow projections was 13% (2021: 16.1%) and the
cash flows beyond the five-year period were extrapolated using
a growth rate of 2.3% (2021: 3%), which was the same as the
long-term average growth rate of the LTL Services industry.

Logistic industrial park services cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the logistic industrial park services
cash-generating unit was determined based on a value in use
calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets
covering a five-year period approved by senior management.
The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections was 12%
(2021: 16%) and cash flows beyond the five-year period were
extrapolated using a growth rate of 2.3% (2021: 3%), which was
the same as the long-term average growth rate of the logistic
industrial park services industry.

The carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to the cash-generating
units (“CGUSs”) are as follows:

LTL Services
ZHRRK%

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR | ARETT

113,910 113,910

Carrying amounts of goodwill EZ8EEE

20224
RMB’000
ARET R

B TSR AR B RE

31 DECEMBER 2022 20224 12 31 H

1. 52 (§)

B R E R ()
TERB R ELEN

TERFRSEABEMMNITKRESERIR
BeREEEENAFRMEEERD
BensRBAENFEREEET - @
ARBReRERAMNITIREF13% (2021
F:16.1%) AFHENRESREHA
2.3% MR R (20214  3%) #E/THHE -
EHRTERBSITENRPFEEREER -

Y RERERER 2 ELEN

MREXBERERCEEETHTKRES
EERBERREEEHEN A FHRUBG
HENRERERANFENFEAEEE
E o BARREREEAMNITRER12%
(20214 : 16%) - AFHENIRES TR
F12.3% (20214 : 3%) Mg K RiE/TH
B cHEYREXERSENRIGFHIE
REER -

PEERSEAEM([REEEENM) Y
REEmESELT ¢

Logistic industrial

park services
REXE RS

2022 2021 2022 2021
20214 2022 20214
RMB'000 | RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT | AE%TR | ARETT

17,617 32,343 131,527 146,253
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31 DECEMBER 2022 20224 12 531 H

17.

226

GOODWILL (Continued)
Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)
Logistic industrial park services cash-generating unit (Continued)

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the
CGUs. The following describes each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to undertake
impairment testing of goodwill:

Discount rate — The discount rates used are before tax and
reflects specific risks relating to the relevant unit.

Terminal growth rate — The forecasted terminal growth rate is
based on senior management’s expectations and does not exceed
the long-term average growth rate for the industry relevant to the
cash-generating unit.

The values assigned to the key assumption are consistent with
external information sources.
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31 DECEMBER 2022 20224 12 31 H

18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 1. EMELEE

Software

LA

RMB'000
ARBTT

31 December 2022 2022512831 H
Cost at 1 January 2022, net of accumulated amortisation

Franchise
RMB’000
ARETTT

Total

met
RMB’000
ARBTT

R2022F1 A1 BRIACA « 1Bk REH#E S 18,381 13,326 31,707
Additions R E 1,885 4,110 5,995
Disposals & (1,579) - (1,579)
Amortisation provided during the year & R5TH2 & 5 (8,497) (13,804) (22,301)
At 31 December 2022 72022412 531 H 10,190 3,632 13,822
At 31 December 2022: 132022412 A31 8 :
Cost A 73,970 46,521 120,491
Accumulated amortisation 2 514 (63,780) (42,889) (106,669)
Net carrying amount BRI (& 10,190 3,632 13,822
31 December 2021 2021512 H31H
Cost at 1 January 2021, net of accumulated amortisation
R202141 A1 BRI » $0Br REHEEH 26,292 8,235 34,527
Additions /R & 1,327 22,265 23,592
Amortisation provided during the year & &2 # §4 (9,238) (17,174) (26,412)
At 31 December 2021 72021412 531 H 18,381 13,326 31,707
At 31 December 2021: }A2021412 A31 8 :
Cost FA 73,664 42,411 116,075
Accumulated amortisation 2 54 (55,283) (29,085) (84,368)
Net carrying amount B (& 18,381 13,326 31,707
A
19. INVENTORIES 19. 78

Consumables SH#E M

2022
20224

RMB’000
ARBTFR

9,061

2021
20214
RMB’000
ARBTIT

11,529
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31 DECEMBER 2022 20224 12 531 H

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES

20. B 5 FEWRRIR

2022 2021
2022 F 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREFIT

Trade receivables & 5 fEU 718 72,298 102,762
Impairment J& & (48,834) (62,963)
23,464 39,799

The Group generally requires payment in advance from its
customers and seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding

receivables and overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing. The
credit terms granted by the Group are generally within 90 days.
An ageing analysis of the Group’s trade receivables, based on the
transaction date and net of loss allowance, as at the end of the
reporting period is as follows:

AEBBEERECENNE  BRYH
RENEURRER RS RERE
BETHESABEY - BIEUHET
HE - AEEETHEAHEEROR
R o BB 5 B ERINR BB A - R
Ik AR 5 R AR B 5 I
o

2022 2021
20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AREFIT

Within 1 year 15 A 23,464 39,060
1to 2 years 1E24 - 739
Total #5t 23,464 39,799

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

B S RNFIBREBERENZ BB R
R ¢

2022 2021

20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%ET AREFIT

At beginning of year F ] 62,963 26,010
Impairment losses JH{E 518 12 43,509
Amount written off as uncollectible #fl #% s @] ) 4 58 (14,141) (6,556)
At end of year K 48,834 62,963
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20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a
provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision
rates are based on days past due for groupings of various
customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by geography,
service type, customer type and rating, and coverage by letters of
credit or other forms of credit insurance). The calculation reflects
the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and
reasonable and supportable information that is available at the
reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts
of future economic conditions. Generally, trade receivables are
written off if past due for more than two years and are not subject
to enforcement activity.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on
the Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2022

B TSR AR B RE

31 DECEMBER 2022 20224 12 31 H

20. & 5 EULFRIE (38)

RERE ARG RBBREEEETRED
i T EEBEERRX - BEXDHER
SERRUBEREN (ARG E - R
BE - FPRILFH  ARERERH
AN ERRRNEZSEEE D) OTF

BEEDHMARNNBMAHSE - HEER
RER T E AR - B ROEREEEN

R#BERMANBESZMH - BERREKR
REEMRRTA SRR HFEER - —
RME > BZREFAMANBEBME
AIF LAMEE - B ARRIRBHBMITIER -

TXEIANARBEESLAKEESE
WokIE R (= A E R iR O B #L

7A2022F12H31H

Past due

Within 1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 3 years
15/ 1226 2Z3F

B
Above 3 years
3ELE
100.0% 100.0% 67.5%
8,005 38,283 72,298
8,005 38,283 48,834

Expected credit loss rate (%)

BHEEBREE (%) 8.5% 100.0%
Gross carrying amount (RMB’000)
BEREE(ARETT) 25,656 354
Expected credit losses (RMB’000)
EHEERX(ARETT) 2,192 354

As at 31 December 2021

R2021F12 A31H

Past due

Within 1 year 110 2 years 2 to 3 years | Above 3 years
1R 122F 2E3F SEUE

BHEEBRRE (%) 18.2% 91.9%
Gross carrying amount (RMB’000)
BEEE(ARSETT) 47,761 9,096
Expected credit losses (RMB’000)
BHEERRX(ARETT) 8,701 8,357

Expected credit loss rate (%)

100.0% 100.0% 61.3%
38,148 7,757 102,762
38,148 7,757 62,963
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31 DECEMBER 2022 20224 12 531 H

21. PREPAYMENTS

Prepayments F8 {78

21. A RRIE

2022
20224

2021
20214
RMB’000
ARBT T

133,985

RMB’000
ARET T

90,272

Prepayments represent advances to suppliers for the purchase of

goods or services.

22. OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER
ASSETS

TSRO G B BT
5 -

2 HEMWEWREREMEE

2022 2021

20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ET T ARETIT

Deposits and other receivables 24 K E & Uk 3k 18 (a) 257,867 325,510
Loans to third parties EE=HEX (b) 24,683 11,969
Deductible value-added tax £ #5138 & % 404,507 666,368
Loans to a related party — non-trade ¥ H B — IEE 5 500 =
Impairment allowance Ji{ (B &5 (8,134) (49,225)
Less: Other non-current assets i : Efh3ERENEE (76,934) (88,558)
Total current portion 7 ENEF 7 45t 602,489 866,064
(a) Deposits and other receivables mainly represent deposits to suppliers, (a) EHekEMEWFEE:ZEEFEERNIR
and were non-interest-bearing and trade in nature. The general & BRESREILE - REREME

expected timing of settlement for deposits and other receivables WoRIEH) — R TE R E R A1 F234F -

ranges from 1 year to 3 years.
(o) Loans to third parties included in other receivables and other assets b) BREEEMERZKEBEREMEEFRMNRSE
were non-trade in nature, interest-bearing and repayable on demand. =FEFBRIBESME ;T ERERE
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22. OTHER RECEIVABLES AND OTHER 2 HEWFEREMEE

ASSETS (Continued) (%)
The Group has applied the general approach prescribed by REECHKABBY BmEENFEIRAFT
HKFRS 9, by measuring the loss allowance at an amount equal HAE—RA%E  EFRIRBRIREERERS M
to 12-month ECLs for deposits and other receivables in stage 1 E i RIEm12@AFERERELIAN G
and lifetime ECLs in stage 2 and stage 3. To measure the ECLs, BARFEF2RBIRBREERMFELE
deposits and other receivables have been grouped based on HEEBANSETEEEBEE - At
shared credit risk characteristics, ECLs are estimated based on EHEEEX  Re REMERRIEER
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are BAREARBEEETHAE  EHEE
specific to the debtors and general economic conditions. BEAREBEESLEEBRERETMH - I
BIEEHEANETERERR —REEMRRE
1THE -
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on UTREARAEEEMEUGREREME
the Group’s other receivables and other assets, using a provision ENERRREBONER - FRAREER
matrix: =
As at 31 December 2022 R20225612H31H

Expected credit Gross carrying

loss rate amount Impairment

AHEERAR AR {E AR

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ET T AR¥T T

Deposits and other receivables: & & & Eth fE Uk Z 18 : 3.15% 257,867 8,134
As at 31 December 2021 R2021412 B31H

Expected credit Gross carrying
loss rate amount Impairment

BHEERAX #ARMEE IE

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTT

Deposits and other receivables: 124 K H b e W 58 - 15.12% 325,510 49,225
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23. DEFERRED TAX 23.

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the
reporting period are as follows:

Deferred tax assets

Accounting

depreciation in

excess of tax

Provision depreciation

i FIE B 1R

RBERENREHRIBEEERBEZESH N
-

EEBEEE

Losses
available for
offsetting | Asset related

against future | government

and accruals allowance | taxable profits grants
AR 8
BEHBENE ARERY | REEEEN
BERETER | BRENGHITE FENER BB B3
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFT AEETT AREFT ARETT
As 1 January 2021 #2021461H18 8,503 27,959 265,906 - 302,368
Acquisition of a subsidiary Y8 — KB Al - - - 5,349 5,349
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to
the statement of profit or loss during the year
FRME/GIA) BREHETHE 9,154 (27,099) 140,864 (48) 122,871
Elimination of deferred tax assets and tax payable
PRI A E R EMNTR = = (33,777) = (33,777)
As at 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022
©®2021F12 A31H K%2022F1 A1H 17,657 860 372,993 5,301 396,811
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to
the statement of profit or loss during the year
RN/ (GIA) BRERNOELEHE 373 (140) (89,675) (3,034) (92,476)
As at 31 December 2022 722022412 A31H 18,030 720 283,318 2,267 304,335
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Deferred tax liabilities

As 1 January 2021 7202141 81H
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23 IEERIE (4F)
EERIBEE

Depreciation

allowance
in excess
of related
depreciation

BBRBTE
HTERE
RMB’000
ARBT

Fair value
adjustments
arising from

acquisition of
a subsidiary
Wi — XM
RAEAFRBAR
BEERAR
RMB’000
ARBT T

#st
RMB’000
ARBT R

Acquisition of a subsidiary & —x KB A7 - 428 428
Deferred tax credited to the statement of

profit or loss during the year
FRFFABRRAEERIA - (7) (7)
As at 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022
7202112 H31H KX2022F1 A1 H - 421 421
Deferred tax credited to the statement of

profit or loss during the year
FRFFABRRIELEHREA 34,355 (17) 34,338
As at 31 December 2022 72022412 318 34,355 404 34,759

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and
liabilities have been offset in the statement of financial position.
The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the

Group for financial reporting purposes:

Net deferred tax assets recognised in the consolidated statement

of financial position

KRB B ARN R MR RO IR ST T TR & B % 3R

2022
2022

RMB’000
ARMBT T

269,576

REVIBH - ETEERRAEERAER
R EARRR PRI - AT RAREEE
BB A REM R E DT

2021
20214
RMB’000
ARBT T

396,390

REMREBARAT » 2022 F 233



X

Notes to Financial Statements

B RS ERAR B AL

31 DECEMBER 2022 20224 12 531 H

23. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)
Deferred tax liabilities (Continued)

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the
following items:

3IEERE ()

EEHEEE (&)

RARH T 510 B ERETEHRAEE

2022 2021
20224 20214

RMB’000
ARETIT

RMB’000
ARBTR

Tax losses FLIAEE 1,847,174 1,115,937
Deductible temporary differences 7] +0 & iF 2= 58 8,885 60,334
1,856,059 1,176,271

The Group has tax losses arising in Mainland China of
RMB1,845,012,000 (2021: RMB1,115,820,000) that will expire in
one to five years for offsetting against their future taxable profits.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these
losses as it is not considered probable that enough taxable profits
will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

24. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Current R &)
Financial products % &l &

AREEBRTPBEANEENFTEIBEBEAA
R¥1,845,012,0007T (20214 : AR¥
1,115,820,0007T) * ZEBEBE—ZEH
FAZEH (REBEERRERBFBME)

HARZSEBEERRBELCHBAEE AR
ARARERSRFAARREEEEHEDN
RAERBAE -

20214

RMB’000
ARETIT

RMB’000
ARBFR

841,673 546,737

The Group’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are financial products invest primarily in short-term deposits and
premium money market investments, seeking to hedge its capital
and liquidity by calculating U.S. dollar returns at money market
rates. The Group manages and evaluates the performance of
investments on a fair value basis in accordance with the Group’s
risk management and investment strategy.
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25.CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND X BAERBEESEEBYWURZR

RESTRICTED CASH 5|38 &
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETIT
Cash and bank balances IR & & R1T45 88 999,384 788,681
Time deposits & EiFR 50,000 177,693
1,049,384 966,374

Less: restricted cash: i : FRHIIRS -
Current portion 7 EI B

Pledged for interest-bearing borrowings &t 2. f& 7k # (15) (221)
Restricted for others = th R % (298) (506)
(313) (727)
Non-current portion FE7EhE85
Pledged for interest-bearing borrowings &t 8 {& # i 3 (7,198) (8,801)
Pledged for letter of guarantee & KK 47 (2,528) (2,528)
(9,726) (11,329)
1,039,345 954,318
Denominated in: & :
RMB AR 953,842 701,190
US$ =T 56,527 247,188
HK$ % T 28,976 5,940
1,039,345 954,318
The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however, ARBAAERALBAEEMER AW -
under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations R R B A A CONEE B IR AP ) R (&
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign fE - EENNESERE) AEEEER
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB BEREETIERBENRITEARER
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign BAREMEE -

exchange business.
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25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
RESTRICTED CASH (Continued)

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Long term time deposits have a term of 3 years,
and earn interest at an interest rate of 3%. The bank balances
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default. The carrying amounts of the cash and bank balances
approximated to their fair values.

26. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

BRAETRBATEBYUARZR
#HEE (F)

RITASEBREBEEARITERNEFTED
FBHEFREUK R - RHE BFEROHIR
R=F  WI%WMHEGE - |RITERTFHE
EERFASIEBENCENRT - RE
KMIRITRSNRmSREE AL EEES -

6.EZRAREREMNRE

2022
20224

2021
20214
RMB’000
ARBT T

RMB’000
ARBT R

Trade payables & 5 & <t ZUIE 305,910 450,804
Bills payable fEf}Zi% 108 =
306,018 450,804

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

RBEHRNE Z RN FIBERENRIER
o (IREZEH) BT

2022 2021
20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARET T

Within 3 months 31& A & 286,367 391,022
3 to 6 months 3ZE 6@ A 17,954 21,902
6 to 12 months 6 2 121{E A 1,697 37,880
306,018 450,804

The trade and bills payables are non-interest-bearing and are
normally settled on 90-day terms.
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27.OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS . HthENRIEREEHA

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETTT
Deposits from suppliers £ fE 12 & 17,487 6,966
Deposits from customers B L& 265,787 264,467
Advances from customers & F &K 97,779 99,977
Contract liabilities &4 & & (a) 119,810 93,210
Other payables H th & 1<t 5K I8 (b) 110,496 159,948
Payables for purchase of property, plant and equipment

BEWME - BB LREHERNKIE 27,070 30,322
Accrued operating expenses JET L& E A 77,517 68,795
Payroll and welfare payables f&ft L& K42 A 226,199 224,311
Other tax payable E b &8 6,804 20,938
Interest payables &7 2 173 58
949,122 968,992

(a) Details of contract liabilities are as follows: (@) BAWAREHANT

2022 2021
20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AR®T T

Advances received from customers: W B &P 8B K

Transportation and dispatch services i& i) & i 3% fR 7% 106,038 81,349

Value-added services 1% (B iR 13,772 11,861
Total contract liabilities & £ & E#E 5 119,810 93,210
Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to provide EHNEEBERARHETERSE MK E
LTL services. The increase in contract liabilities in 2022 and 2021 HATEF 3R © 20224F K 2021 FA KB EMIL
was mainly due to the increase in short-term advances received from MEZRENRFRUEE S R U E 0 R H
customers in relation to the provision of LTL services at the end of the THEREE AR BRIERMFEM -
year.

(o) Other payables mainly include short-term operating rental payables b) EMENZEBEIZERHCLHSEN
and amounts collected from shippers on behalf of freight partners, FERMREREESGEENRHEFPES
which were trade in nature, non-interest-bearing and repayable on MR HERESME  EOREBERE
demand. KIEE -
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28. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS 28. 5 BB

Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) | Maturity | RMB’000 rate (%) Maturity | RMB’000
Wi |EBRFIZE (%) HEA | AR®T R |ERA® HEE | ARETT
Current B
Bank loans - secured $f1TE 3 — B HEKH 3-5 2023 395,100 3-5 2022 329,923
2023F 20224
Bank loans - unsecured $R7 &5 — &5 - - - 3 2022 50,000
20224
Current portion of long term KRB B S
- bank loans - secured — SE1TEH — BEH (a) 6-9 2023 29,692 6-9 2022 23,724
2023F 20224
~ other borrowings - secured — £ fE5R — B#HE  (b) 7-12 2023 364,264 7-12 2022 302,066
2023F 20226
789,056 705,713
Non-current 3R &
Bank loans - secured $1TE N — HHEH (@) 5-12  2024-2037 72,457 6-12  2023-2024 18,828
20245 — 2023 —
20376 20244
Other borrowings — secured E At & — B K (b) 5-12 2024-2025 175,788 5-12  2023-2024 283,562
2024F — 20234 —
2025 20244
248,245 302,390
1,037,301 1,008,103
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28.INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS 28. 5 BB (&)
(Continued)

2022 2021
20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T ARETT

Analysed into: fEZAT AT

Bank loans repayable: fEEERITE R
Within one year 1F R 424,792 403,647
In the second year 524 6,678 18,803
In the third to fifth years, inclusive £3E5F (B EREME) 15,974 25
Beyond five years iRiB54F 49,805 =
497,249 422,475
Other borrowings repayable: E{E&H AL
Within one year 1R 364,264 302,066
In the second year 24 128,601 262,922
In the third year 34 47,187 20,640
540,052 585,628
1,037,301 1,008,103
Notes: BIeE
(a) Certain of the Group’s bank loans are secured by: (a) AEEMHTRITERANU NS BEEER -
(i) mortgages over certain of the Group’s motor vehicles with a net i) "EEETEARFEAEAREK
carrying amount of RMB50,721,000 (2021: RMB51,624,000). 50,721,0007C (20214 : AR

51,624,0007T) KT E BV -

(i) mortgages over certain of the Group’s buildings with a net iy *"&EEBETEEBFEAARK
carrying amount of RMB107,147,000 (2021: Nil). 107,147,0007T (2021 4F : &) HIEF
B
(o) Certain of the Group’s other borrowings are secured by: b) AEEMNETFTHAMBRHEATSEER
e
(i) mortgages over certain of the Group’s motor vehicles with a net i) *&EEBETEEBFEAARKE
carrying amount of RMB606,515,000 (2021: RMB566,744,000). 606,515,0007T (20214 : ARM

566,744,0007T) K] /R E A HKIF o

(c) All Group’s borrowings are denominated in RMB. () AEEMBEFKHUAREE -
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29. SHARE CAPITAL 29, iR A<
Pursuant to the nineteenth amended and restated memorandum BIER2021FE11 A1 HERNE TN
and articles effected on 11 November 2021, the share capital of REETMNEINEEAARERHA
the Company is US$50,000 divided into 2,500,000,000 shares of Bl RARIMRAA50,000E7T ' 95
a nominal or par value of US$0.00002 each. 2,500,000,000 B EEEEXEAE

0.00002 & JTHY AR 17 ©

Shares % 13

2022 2021
20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARETIT

Issued and fully paid: B 21T M &2
1,162,605,486 (2021: 1,162,605,486) Ordinary shares

1,162,605,486 % (20214 : 1,162,605,486 % ) L@ % 149 149
149 149
30. TREASURY SHARES 0. EfF R0
On 8 June 2022, the board of directors of the Group approved 202296 A8H  ARBEEE KM
the adoption of a Share Award Scheme (“the Scheme”) and Rcin S8t & ([ et @1 )) RRIB &8I
the share purchase pursuant to the Scheme. Futu Trustee (the IZRNEE - KRB THEXERET
“Trustee”) is appointed by the Company for the administration (TZFEAD) BEEZTE - M2022F12 4
of the Scheme from time to time. As at 31 December 2022, an 318 - RiFZT S X @E3,004,000 B &
aggregate of 3,004,000 ordinary shares were repurchased at a B - ¥{E#7513,387,335/8 T (HHE
total consideration of approximately HK$13,387,335 (equivalent to REB/ARHK11,983,0007T) * ZERH
approximately RMB11,983,000) for the purpose of the Scheme, R2022F12 A31 B 2 iR E MBI KT
which were recorded as treasury shares in the consolidated AERBEFERD -

statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022.
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31. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity of the Group.

(a) Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents the reserve arisen pursuant
to the acquisition of subsidiaries, derecognition of warrants,
share-based payments and conversion of preferred shares.
The derecognition of warrants represents the repurchase of
warrants from warrant holders. Details of the movement in
capital reserve are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity of the financial statements.

(b) Share premium

The share premium of the Group represents the amount paid
by shareholders for capital injection in excess of its nominal
value. Details of the movements in the share premium are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

(c) Exchange fluctuation reserve

The exchange fluctuation reserve is used to record exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of entities of which the functional currencies are
not RMB.

(d) Statutory surplus reserve

In accordance with the PRC Company Law, certain
subsidiaries of the Group which are domestic enterprises
are required to allocate 10% of their profit after tax, as
determined in accordance with the relevant PRC accounting
standards, to their respective statutory surplus reserves until
the reserves reach 50% of their respective registered capital.
Subject to certain restrictions set out in the PRC Company
Law, part of the statutory surplus reserves may be converted
to share capital, provided that the remaining balance after the
capitalisation is not less than 25% of the registered capital.

Br RS SRR MY EE

31 DECEMBER 2022 20224 12 31 H

31, e

AEERAFERBEFEZRBEER
HEHEREAREGERRESH KT
N ©

(a) EX

EARREEKWENE QR ELDF
B RIEERRBBER - RO
ﬁi*&ﬁﬁﬁxi?ﬁ AR 1L R AR AR
EEARREEREADERRRE
=°§$1§§1 HE) BN M B RE
MR EREBR o

(b) B 221

74 S5 P15 1 F AR SR 0% 8 T 2 A
BOBRB I E B S o 1% B
EBHBERNGARBEDE -

(c) EXR KEN A

KRB AN EE A
FARBHERNMBERRBREES
M ZHE -

(d) EEBERFRE

BE(REAREXNMBERARE) - A%
BETHEAR (RBEATE) ARK
EEEMEERABRBOEERKRRER
MEW10% (RERTEG £RIE
) EERBEESAEMEAR
50% ° E(FEARKMBERABE) R
ENETRET Mo EERRER
AER BRI - HHE A CRAERER
PRIREMEARHI25% -
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32.

242

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company operates two share-based payment schemes,
the 2015 Plan and the 2016 Plan (the “Schemes”), which were
further amended in 2020, for the purpose of providing incentives
and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success
of the Group’s operations. Eligible participants of the Schemes
include the Company’s directors, the Group’s employees and
consultants. The main amendment to the Schemes in 2020 is to
add certain terms of RSUs.

2015 Plan

The 2015 Plan became effective in May 2015 and, unless
otherwise cancelled or amended, will continue in effect for a term
of 10 years from the date of grant. The Group accumulatively
granted 55,184,800 options at an exercise price of par value each
share (considering the Share Subdivision) under the 2015 Plan as
of 31 December 2020.

2016 Plan

The 2016 Plan became effective in December 2015 and, unless
otherwise cancelled or amended, will continue in effect for a term
of 10 years from the date of grant. The Group accumulatively
granted 18,528,805 options at an exercise price of par value each
share (considering the Share Subdivision) under the 2016 Plan as
of 31 December 2020.
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

(Continued)
Share options

The share options have vesting terms in schedule from the
grant date over 3 years on the condition that the directors and
employees remain in service.

Subject to the directors’ and employees’ continued status as
a service provider through each of the applicable vesting dates
and to the extent permitted by applicable law, the option shall be
vested in whole or in part in accordance with the option rules and
the vesting schedule set forth as follows:

() one third (1/3) of the shares subject to the options shall vest
on the first anniversary of the effective date of grant;

(i) one third (1/3) of the shares subject to the options shall vest
on the second anniversary of the effective date of grant; and

(i) the remaining one third (1/3) of the shares subject to the
options shall vest on the third anniversary of the effective date
of grant.

A resolution was passed in December 2020 to replace all the
granted options with RSUs with no other terms amended. As the
exercise price is equal to the par value of ordinary shares which is
minimal, incremental cost of the replacement is not significant.
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2. 32 (&)

B

BhEFBEHREREKE S  BRLBEH
ERH=F RSEFNMNEITNHEE -

EEZRETIRZERRE A BIHEER
BIRHENRRT - AREBRARAF
AEEA - BRERREL NHIIEK
BANLEBEEXR2MRMBORE

() =2Z2—(1/3)BREN LI EER
HAEMAH—BERER

iy =9 2—(1/3)ERBERT S ID EER
EAMEH - RERSB &

(i) Fer=22—(1/3)BIREFT T FE
EREAEREH=AFRER -

MR2020F 12 ABB— T ARERUEBNA
BEZBRAIRMBEMOREHERE mHE
MR ARIEE] - ARITEBEFEL B’
HEERSE  SHEBEEEELMIES K AT
TEX o
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32.

244

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
(Continued)

Equity incentive

In 2022, the Company granted 2,694,377 restricted share units to
the Group’s employees. The fair value is computed based on the
Company’s share price on the grant date.

138,182 RSUs have vesting terms in schedule over 25 years from
the grant date on the condition that the directors and employees
remain in service.

561,552 RSUs have vesting terms in schedule over 3 years from
the grant date on the condition that the directors and employees
remain in service.

Subject to the directors’ and employees’ continued status as
a service provider through each of the applicable vesting dates
and to the extent permitted by applicable law, the RSUs shall be
vested in whole or in part in accordance with the RSU rules and
the vesting schedule set forth as follows:

(i) one third (1/3) of the shares subject to the RSUs shall vest on
the first anniversary of the effective date of grant;

(i) one third (1/3) of the shares subject to the RSUs shall vest on

the second anniversary of the effective date of grant; and

(i) the remaining one third (1/3) of the shares subject to the
RSUs shall vest on the third anniversary of the effective date
of grant.
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 32. R 21+ (&)

(Continued)

Equity incentive (Continued) IR R (&)

1,994,643 RSUs shall vest in whole or in part in accordance with 1,994,643 2R I i {7 B8 A7 FEAR 5 LA T &,

the RSU rules and the vesting schedule set forth as follows: PN R B9 BB A AR Bl K BR B el 2k 2 0

HED BB

(i) one third (1/3) of the shares subject to the RSUs shall vest on ) =92—(1/3)Z BRI ECLFTIF AR
the effective date of grant; MEEREERB SRS :

(i) one third (1/3) of the shares subject to the RSUs shall vest on (i) =5 2—(1/3)Z R IR B FTIF AR
the first anniversary of the effective date of grant; and NEERLEXRBH —REREE :

54

(i) the remaining one third (1/3) of the shares subject to the (i) ®er=m 22— (1/3)Z R HID EALFT
RSUs shall vest on the second anniversary of the effective BROBERLESRBR _BAFTHE
date of grant. B -

The following RSUs were outstanding under the Schemes as at 31 R2022F12A318  REBEZSTEET

December 2022: WARITEZ ZREIRMECLT -

31 December 31 December
2022 2021
2022F12H31H | 2021412 A31H

’000 '000
T 1@ &

Restricted share units: SR 4| RGBT :

At the beginning of the year F 4] 108,388 60,748
Granted during the year I R#% 4 2,694 47,887
Forfeited during the year I A8 UK (918) (140)
Exercised during the period 7 F R1T{E (3,158) =
Expired during the year 7% A& i (7,368) (107)
At 31 December 2022 72022412 31 H 99,638 108,388
Exercisable as of 31 December 2022 # 22022412 431 BB A1 7{E 67,869 61,169
24 July 2016 to 24 July 2016 to

12 July 2046 1 April 2031

201657H24HZE 2016F7H24BE

Exercise period 171# HifH 2046F7H12H 20314 H1H
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 32. B0 245 (&)
(Continued)
Equity incentive (Continued) IR RER R (4])
The fair value of the RSUs granted during the year was FARHNZRHRODEMN AR EES
RMB15,066,000 (2021: RMB337,915,000). The Group recognised AR¥15,066,0007T (20214F : AREE
share-based payment expenses of RMB191,344,000 (2021: 337,915,0007T) ° A& B MR Ll 52
RMB151,048,000) related to the above share awards. ENFERERAR (D S I AR 191,344,000

7T (20214 : AR#¥151,048,0007T) °

In June 2022, the board of directors of the Company approved R2022F 68 - AR ESSHEFTMK
the adoption of a share award scheme (“the 2022 Scheme”). The 7 iEE)ET &) ([20224F 518 ) - 2022F &
purposes and objectives of the 2022 Scheme are (i) to recognise EMEMNEERA)RITII1IBEERS
the contributions of 111 eligible participants and to provide them HENER - WRKSREEE - SR
with incentives in order to encourage and retain them for the MMREES  FAKESUFELE RE
continual operation and development of the Group; and (ii) to B R(i)RSIEGEHAE - NE—TER
attract suitable personnel for further development of the Group. REE - R2022F  ApalRAEEET
In 2022, the Company granted certain share units with fair value BRENBETRODEMNNAABEAARE
of RMB70,836,000 to the Group’s employees, which were vested 70,836,000t + B ENEGRE ©
immediately.
33. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 33 HEM B A F
2022
20225
RMB’000
AR¥T
Property, plant and equipment ¥13 « FiE & & & 156 38,616
Right-of-use assets {F FIE& & 16 5,856
Cash and bank balances 3R & & iR 17 45 6% 11
Accruals and other payables fE&TE i & B b & (< 2018 4,629
Total identifiable net assets at fair value LAA 7t (BIET £/ A # B E E FEEE 49,112
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries & M B A mlH) W 6 7,371
56,483

Satisfied by: JA 577 E -

Cash I & 30,859
Consideration received in prior years @7 F & 2 W B 25,624
56,483
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33. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the disposal is as
follows:

BA TSR B EE

31 DECEMBER 2022 20224 12 31 H

BEHEMBAR ()

ERLEREREONWT

RMB’000
ARETIT

Cash consideration 38 & %8 30,859
Cash and bank balances disposed of B &R & LIRT1T4E 6 (1)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries

HEWBARNRERREEEMRAFHE 30,848

34.NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of RMB489,958,000
(2021: RMB996,852,000) in respect of lease arrangements for
sorting and distribution centres.

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities

UGFERERERMEE

(a) TEHFRERS

FR - RoBRERPONEELZHEM
5 AKEERNERAREERTEERE
MIERSARE A AR 489,958,000
(20214 : AR¥996,852,0007T) °

(b) MEEZBELENEERE

Interest- Other
bearing payables and Lease
borrowings accruals liabilities

Hit 8

EIBSYEEN RERA HERE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR

At 1 January 2022 #2022%1 A1H 1,008,103 968,992 1,234,115
Changes from financing cash flows &R &R EE 174,736 (42,461) (641,422)
Changes from other investing cash flows Eftiik EH & m 88 (141,315) (79,583) =
Changes from operating cash flows &£ &H &R 2% (4,223) 102,174 =
Additions of lease liabilities (note 16) FAE & E5E N (F1:116) - - 489,958
Termination of lease contract K IFFEA 4] - - (108,613)
Interest expense (note 16) #2851 (Fiz16) - - 58,379
At 31 December 2022 #2022F12 A31H 1,037,301 949,122 1,032,417
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34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED UESHERERMETE ()
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(Continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) MEZTHELANEBEE (&)
activities (Continued)

Convertible
Interest- redeemable Other Other
Convertible bearing preferred | payablesand |  non-current Lease
loans borrowings shares accruals liabilities liabilities

ABEARE | AR 5
BHEH sTEER @R | RESER | HRDAR HERE
RMB'O00 |  RMB'000 [  RMB'000 |  RMB'O0O |  RMB'000 [  RMB'000
ARBFL | ARBTR | ARETRL | AREBTR | ARETR | ARETR

At 1 January 2021 #2021F1 818 1,040,970 655,966 4,806,414 1,090,894 418,260 902,074
Changes from financing cash flows BB £ K228 = 183,737 1,169,132 (22,479) = (676,879)
Changes from other investing cash flows
AR ERSREED - 158,477 - (191,203) = =
Changes from operating cash flows £& R & FEEE) - 9,923 - 91,457 = =
Additions of lease liabilities (note 16)
BEAEEM (Fit16) - - - - - 996,852
Fair value changes A7t BEEE) 5,302 - 2,011,241 608 218,323 =
Termination of lease contract 4 IHEA ) - - - - - (56,312)
Exchange realignment & 7 5% (4,743) - (121,032) 1,168 (615) -
Warrant exercised 1715 78 g & = = = = (474,714) -
Reclassification from financial liabilities
BEREENENIE - - - (1,459) - -
Converted to convertible redeemable preferred shares
s EnEnELR (1,041,529) = 1,202,783 - (161,254) =
Converted to ordinary shares &4 ALK - - (9,068,538) - = =
Interest expense (note 16) 7|5 Fix (fitsE16) - - - - = 68,380
At 31 December 2021 2021512 A31H - 1,008,103 - 968,992 - 1,234,115
(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) HENRESRLAE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of SIINBERERZAENRSRL R
cash flows is as follows: B -
2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETTT
Within operating activities &£ & E &N 93,621 106,503
Within financing activities g8 & )& B 641,422 698,485
735,043 804,988
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35. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 35. WAEE
The Group has guaranteed certain bank loans made to AEBERRMERFPRHENSE TRITER
its customers, which amounted to RMB3,169,000 (2021: REER  ZFERB/ARES,169,0007T
RMB20,571,000). (20214 : AR¥20,571,0007T) °

36. COMMITMENTS 36, A IE
(a) The Group had the following capital commitments at the end (a) RIBEHR  AKEREAEENT :

of the reporting period:

2022 2021
2022 F 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTTT

Contracted, but not provided for:

Motor vehicles /35 B 5] 4B RET IR B ERIFIE 36,528 9,773
() The Group has various lease contracts that have not o) AEBEEEHARBENZHHEES
yet commenced. The future lease payments for these 49 o 202112 A31 8 » s E AT
non-cancellable lease contracts are RMB4,244,000 due within EHESYMRKREENRAARE
one year and RMB3,532,000 due in the second to fifth years 4,244,0007T (R—FAEH) RAR
as at 31 December 2021. The future lease payments for these #£3,532,0007C (RE_FEERAFE
non-cancellable lease contracts are RMB23,598,000 due Hf) - %R2022F 12 A31H » &7
within one year and RMB52,421,000 due in the second to fifth BHEHAESANARKEENRIAAR
years as at 31 December 2022. #23,598,0007T (M —F R H) KA
R#52,421,0007T (RE_FEZFERF
FH) -
37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS BB ARS
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, W— BN B EEEH S —
directly or indirectly, to control the other party or exercise S—AELM B R EERREBMERNTE
significant influence over the other party in making financial and N BTG HAR S H R -

operating decisions.

Related parties of the Group are mainly entities over which key REENEBMSEZERARAZEZEEA
management of the Company has direct or indirect significant BEHEAERNMBEEATZENERE -
influence.
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37.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS . RIS (1)
(Continued)
(@) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in the (a) RMBHRESITHANRZIN - K&
financial statements, the Group had the following material BERFEFATEBR T HETATERR
transactions with related parties during the year. Z

2022 2021
20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARETIT

Services received from: KB T3 & F KR :
Shenzhen Zhiwei Tongchuang Industrial Co., Ltd.
ANERRBIEEBRAR - 14

Borrowings provided to: [ ~ 7| & HF iR HAEK ¢
Changshan Zhongka Logistics Industrial Park Investment
Co., Ltd.
FURRYREXEREERAF (i) - 25,000
Shanghai Qinghong Juyue Investment Management Center
(Limited Partnership)
FPESUREREETEHTL (BRAR) (ii) 500 -

500 25,000

Repayment of borrowings provided to:
HERHEFTIRATHER
Shanghai Ruitu Transportation Co., Ltd.
LB REBARAT - 682
Shanghai Yelan Investment Management Center
(Limited Partnership)
FEERKREEEFTL (BRA%) - 2,435

- 3,117
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37.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS . A RS (1)
(Continued)
(@) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in the () BFBHRERBITHANZTZI » KE
financial statements, the Group had the following material ERFANEEERFETUATERAR
transactions with related parties during the year. (Continued) 2o (&)

2022 2021
20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBET T

Rental expenses: &M X :
Taizhou Zhicheng Storage and Transportation Co., Ltd.

FINERHEBR A F] - 1,023

Huaian Yuchu Storage and Transportation Co., Ltd.

ELTFREERRAA 5,505 9,684

Wuhu Yuchu Storage Service Co., Ltd.

BHNTRAMBREAER AR 5,259 3,888

Jurong Yuchu Storage and Transportation Co., Ltd.

ARREHEBRADF] 15,445 9,449
26,209 24,044

Interest income: A EWA :
Shanghai Ruitu Transportation Co., Ltd.

tEHREGARAA - 138

Changshan Zhongka Logistics Industrial Park Investment Co., Ltd.

BLURTOREXRKZEBR AT - 317

- 455

The above related party transactions were conducted in LR T X 5 IRIES LR E A IE

accordance with the terms mutually agreed between the AT ©

parties.

Notes: MIaE -

(i)  The interest rates of borrowings to Changshan Zhongka Logistics () M2020FMABLRRYREXEREBR
Industrial Park Investment Co., Ltd. in 2020 are 0% and 12% and N AREE B KRR S B R0% K 12% JA K
the maturity dates are 1 February 2021 and 22 June 2022. EHB 2R A£2021F2 818 %2022F6 A

22H -

(i) The borrowings to Shanghai Qinghong Juyue Investment Management (i) MEBFTUREREBERL (BRERE)
Center (Limited Partnership) are non-interest-bearing and the maturity MR A EMER - BIAIH A20235F7
date is 11 July 2023. H118 °
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS . RIS (1)
(Continued)
(b) Outstanding balances with related parties: (o) BEEGHHIREZLER

2021
20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBET T

Due from related parties: FEUREBE 5 FRIE :
Non-trade related 3 ¥ 5 10E3
Ningbo Meishan Free Trade Port Zone Qinghong Equity Investment
Partnership Enterprise (Limited Partnership)
ERBLUARTERSIBRERESREE (BRAR) 2,040 2,040
Shanghai Qinghong Juyue Investment Management Center
(Limited Partnership)
FEFUREREERFTL (ARER) 500 -

2,540 2,040

Trade related ¥ 5 18E3
Jurong Dingchu Storage and Transportation Co., Ltd.

ARREHEBRAF] 2,331 3,699
Huaian Yuchu Storage and Transportation Co., Ltd.

ERFRFERRAF - 993
Wuhu Yuchu Storage Service Co., Ltd.

HNFRAERBRBEERRAR 664 1,699

Taizhou Zhicheng Storage and Transportation Co., Ltd.
EMEKHERR AR

- Gross — 8% 468 468
— Provision — #{# (468) =
Shanghai Leili Transportation Co., Ltd.
EEREHBRAF
- Gross — #4%8 - 40,000
— Provision — B - (40,000)
2,995 6,859

Due to a related party: FE1{BIE: T 7B -

Trade related & 3 1HE8

Wuhu Yuchu Storage Service Co., Ltd.

#ERFRERRFERAR - 971

- 971
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37.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(©

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:

B TSR AR B RE

31 DECEMBER 2022 20224 12 31 H

.M E RS ()

) AEEEXREEABHHN

2022 2021
20224

20214
RMB’000
AREEFIT

RMB’000
ARMBT T

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind &4 - 288 R B ¥4E 7 47,976 33,831
Share-based payment expenses A% 3 {52 24,986 40,380
Pension scheme contributions iE (k4 5t &4t 5 1,812 1,633
Total #5t 74,774 75,844

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note
10 to the financial statements.

The related party transactions disclosed in notes (a), (b) and
(c) do not constitute connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Continuing connected transactions of the Group:

Mr. Zhu Jianhui 7 2258 % 4

EHRESMEMNE - THBHRYH
HARMEET0

M (a) ~ (b) R ()BT 2 5

Y AEKREMRAE T HAZMRAED
FEXHUFFEMERS -

AEEFEBRERS :

2022
20224

RMB’000
ARBT T

2,183

Mr. Zhu Jianhui was an executive Director and chief operating
officer of the Company who resigned from all positions of the
Group with effect from September 1, 2022, and is therefore
a connected person of the Company. The Board resolves
to engage Mr. Zhu Jianhui as a consultant for his continuing
advice to the Group for the period from September 10,
2022 to September 1, 2024 for quarterly consultancy fees
of US$250,000. Accordingly, the Consultancy Arrangement
and the transactions contemplated thereunder constitute
continuing connected transactions of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

MEBEERERRBRNITESTRER
EEE  B2022F9A1HEHEMEAR
SEMARE At AKRQRBEEA
T EBEEEARABRLTENEBLERE
M - 2022698108 E2024F 98
1HHERE  #ERASEREER -
ZEEEE A250,000% 7T - At 0 1B
BEMRAETHAE - BERTHERE
BTEETZRBRARBHER
ERS o
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 38 RERETHWERMTA
CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RBEHR - ST ANKREMEN
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: N
2022 20224
Financial assets LA E

Financial assets
at fair value | Financial assets
through profit at amortised
or loss cost

A REE

FEREHEE

STABHRE 3 ELIEN
MemEE | TENSMEE #st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT ARBET T ARBT R

Trade receivables & 5 fEU 718 - 23,464 23,464
Financial assets included in other receivables and
other assets

STARMENRIEREMEEN SRIEE - 197,982 197,982
Financial assets included in other non-current assets
FFARMIERBEENTREE - 76,934 76,934
Restricted cash R fl3R & - 10,039 10,039
Cash and cash equivalents R4 KIS EY - 1,039,345 1,039,345
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
NARBEFEEEEHFTAZTHERNEREE 841,673 - 841,673
841,673 1,347,764 2,189,437
Financial liabilities THBE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
R
TENSEAS
RMB’000
AR¥ T
Trade and bills payables & 5 F& 28 K B =& 306,018
Lease liabilities HE & & 1,032,417
Interest-bearing borrowings &t 2 &% 1,037,301
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals
STARMENREREAERNSRAE 715,946
3,091,682
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 38. Eﬂ%ﬁﬂﬂ%ﬂﬁﬁ’ﬂﬁ@l,\
CATEGORY (Continued) (%&)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial MNEEH R SREMNSHTEAMNEEDEN
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: T : (&)
(Continued)
2021 2021 ¢
Financial assets SEEE

Financial assets
at fair value Financial assets
through profit at amortised
or loss cost

RAREE

AT AEHBS 76 S I
MEMEE | HENSREE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT

Trade receivables & 5 fE W FE = 39,799 39,799
Financial assets included in other receivables and
other assets

STAEMBRREREMEENEREE - 199,696 199,696
Financial assets included in other non-current assets
STAERMIERBEENSHEE - 88,558 88,558
Restricted cash R 3R & - 12,056 12,056
Cash and cash equivalents F & &3 & FEY) - 954,318 954,318
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
NAnBEAELAZHAAENESNSRAE 546,737 - 546,737
546,737 1,294,427 1,841,164
Financial liabilities LHAE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
B SHRK R
AENERAE
RMB’000
AREFT
Trade and bills payables & 5 f& < 7018 & i -+ Z 1% 450,804
Lease liabilities HE & & 1,234,115
Interest-bearing borrowings &t B f& &% 1,008,103
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals
STARMBENRIEREAERNSRAE 723,685
3,416,707
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39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that
reasonably approximate to their fair values, are as follows:

Carrying amounts

[

D
i H
25w

AEESRTANKEERAAEE (R
HEEQXAEESEBAEEAIN OT

Fair values

SREE DNREE

2022

2022 £
RMB’000
ARET T

Financial assets £ @& &
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

2021
20214
RMB’000
ARETTT

2022
20224
RMB’000
AR¥T

2021

2021 4
RMB’000
AREFT

URAAREBEFEEEEFHFTAZHESNESREE 841,673 546,737 841,673 546,737
Financial liabilities £Rl & &
Interest-bearing borrowings & 2 & 1,037,301 1,008,103 1,002,912 973,237

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, restricted cash, trade receivables, financial assets
included in other receivables and other assets, financial liabilities
included in other payables and accruals approximate to their
carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these
instruments.

The Group’s finance department headed by the finance manager
is responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the
fair value measurement of financial instruments. At each reporting
period, the finance department analyses the movements in the
values of financial instruments and determines the major inputs
applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved
by the chief financial officer.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced
or liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were
used to estimate the fair values:
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39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 39.@@1,\5’9__@/ BEERAAR
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL BEE& (&)
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The fair value of the long-term interest-bearing borrowings RO EEFRN AN BEEABKAAR
has been calculated by discounting the expected future cash L& - EARR R TS BHHRATA
flows using rates currently available for instruments with similar BRIATAMMERNBBEHARRRERES
terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The Group’s E o REEK2022F12 A31 B R K
own non-performance risk for the long-term interest-bearing Jrg%?ﬁ$%ﬁ’\]$@%’9@ﬁﬁ%&%¥1ﬁﬁ%?\
borrowings as at the end of the 31 December 2022 was assessed E-PNL

to be insignificant.

Fair value hierarchy AREEER

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy TERHAREESRIT AN AR BE=
of the Group’s financial instruments: B4

As at 31 December 2022: 20226128318 :

Fair value measurement categorised into

MAEEFESEAR

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable | unobservable
markets inputs inputs

RERT S EXTHE | EXFTEE

HEHE WAHE WAHE
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(B-%) (B=#&) =) Bt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBT T ARBT T ARBT T

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
NARBEFEBEAEDH AERERNERERE - 841,673 - 841,673
Interest-bearing borrowings &t B &% - 1,002,912 - 1,002,912
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39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE NEFMTENAIABERLA
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL EEER (E)
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued) ARAEBEERER (&)
As at 31 December 2021: R2021F12 8318 :

Fair value measurement categorised into
ARBEAEIER

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
N EXABR | EXATAER
WRE BWABE BWABE
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(B—#&) (E=8) (B=&) @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT AREFT

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

WRAABEFEBAASDHAEHESNERMEE - 546,737 - 546,737
Interest-bearing borrowings &t B f& 5k - 973,237 - 973,237
40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 4 R EREEERERBE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and AEENEIEZSRTABRREMNEESSF
cash equivalents and restricted cash. The main purpose of these BYMUEXRHERE - ZFeMIATE
financial instruments is to support the Group’s operations. The BEEXHEASENEE AEEEBZ R
Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as HiheMEELBE  WEEKEAEE
trade receivables and trade and bills payables which arise directly RERBRE 5 WA A KB 5 & {5
from its operations. HR BRI -
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Continued)

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity
risk. As the Group’s exposure to these risks is kept to a minimum,
the Group has not used any derivatives and other instruments for
hedging purposes. The Group does not hold or issue derivative
financial instruments for trading purposes. The board of directors
reviews and agrees policies for managing these risks and they are
summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates
relates primarily to its interest-bearing borrowings and long-term
interest-bearing borrowings. The Group does not use derivative
financial instruments to hedge its interest rate risk.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in interest rate, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s (loss)/profit before tax (through the
impact on floating rate borrowings).

2022 20224
If interest rate increases fifiFl| &= &
If interest rate decreases 14 7= 4>

2021 20214
If interest rate increases fifiFl| &= & N
If interest rate decreases 14 F =g 4>

BA TSR B EE

31 DECEMBER 2022 20224 12 31 H

0. S BEREREBEREE

(#&)

AEESRTAEEANTIEZRR AN EE
B NERR - ERERMRSE S
o B AN ER B H R A % T R R R 2 &
K SAREYEEREMTETARE
it TRAESIH ARG - AEEY EITH R
TITEERTAFEERRZ - KEZERE
B MR E AN E R IR % F R A BER RN
XA o

FEER

AEEEERO TSN XS EHE KR E R LR
SENFEEREEYFTEEXAR - K
SEYEERTESR T AMPENERE

7a
i

o o
ZoN

T AEEE (BR) FIEHFIEE
AREESHNGURNE (RBHTEEERNE
&) -

Increase/

Increase/ (decrease) in

(decrease) in

(loss)/profit

basis points before tax
B | Biat (BR) RE

#h, (R #m, i)
RMB’000

ARMT T

100 (9,699)

(100) 9,699

100 (8,887)

(100) 8,887
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40.

260

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group’s businesses are located in Mainland China and all
transactions are conducted in RMB. Most of the Group’s assets
and liabilities were denominated in RMB, except for certain bank
balances and financial assets denominated in US$ and HKS$.

The Group’s assets denominated in US$ and HK$ were mainly
held by certain subsidiaries incorporated outside Mainland China
which had US$ as their functional currency and the Group did
not have material foreign currency transactions in Mainland China
during the year.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to
trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures.
In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing
basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.

ANE (Cayman) Inc. ® ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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31 DECEMBER 2022 20224 12 31 H

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 4. TREREEERRBUR
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (#&)
(Continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging B = B B AL P B
The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum TEREIENRAEEEERRNEEE S
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which EeafERRE  FE2ER@HER (BRIE
is mainly based on past due information unless other information B BRI EEANE TR ERNLE S
is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging BB NETS) - k2022412 H31 AHY
classification as at 31 December 2022. The amounts presented FHEBBESE cHESREENERR
are gross carrying amounts for financial assets. =N
31 December 2022 2022612831 H

12 months ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12 ARBEREL ERFERRNEEEX

Simplified

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
£-ER KB KR it it
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AEBTR AEBTR ARET R ARETR ARBTR

Trade receivables’ & 5B FUE" - - - 72,298 72,298
Financial assets included in other receivables and other assets

AARBEYGEREMARNERAR

- Normal* - E%* 197,982 - - - 197,082

- Doubtful* — & - - 8,134 - 8,134
Other non-current assets £t FRE &

- Normal* - E%* 76,034 - - - 76,034
Restricted cash %R#I% %

- Not yet past due — A E 10,039 = - - 10,039
Cash and cash equivalents £ R £ 5 (B4

- Not yet past due — HREH 1,039,345 - - - 1,039,345
Total £z 1,324,300 - 8,134 72,298 1,404,732
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 0. cREREEBFERBEE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (#&)
(Continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging BE R FERER (8)
(Continued)
31 December 2021 202112 A31H

Lifetime ECLS

+

Simplified

Stage 1 Stage 2 approach Total
518 Rl S s fit
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

NS ARBTT ARBTT ARETT NS

Trade receivables & 7B UGUE: - - = 102,762 102,762
Financial assets included in other receivables and other assets

SARBEYGEREMARNERAR

- Normal** — E&* 199,696 - - - 199,696
- Doulotful* — AT - - 49,225 - 49,005
Other non-current assets 24 3EREEE
-~ Normal** — E&* 88,508 - - - 88,508
Restricted cash %R #% 2
- Not yet past due — HABH 12,056 - - - 12,056
Cash and cash equivalents & RE £ 5EH
- Not yet past due — ARRH 954 318 = = = 954318
Total 4857 1,254,628 - 49,205 102,762 1,406,615
*  For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified * AKERE S EWEIAE BB EAETT
approach for impairment, information based on the provision matrix is B R AR R ) ORI B P B S R
disclosed in note 20 to the financial statements. KHIFE20 ©
**  The credit quality of the financial assets included in other receivables > FAHMEBRREREMEEN SR EE
and other assets is considered to be “normal” when they are not past ZREEEEREABHRERAIEE]
due and there is no information indicating that the financial assets had EEEHBERSRMEEB B RERBUR
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, MERARBRAERIEM - T8 SREEN
the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”. EEERWARAIAIE] -
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40. & mh AR B IE B R R BUR
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (#&)
(Continued)
Liquidity risk REE SR
The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a AEFEMNALEEERBESRE THER
recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity HESRBERR BHEIAEZEESRT
of both its financial instruments and financial assets (e.g., trade ARemEE (NESEKE) WEIEAE
receivables) and projected cash flows from operations. AR EERMBIERABRERE °
The liquidity of the Group is primarily dependent on its ability AEENTRHES T ERUARNEHFTEH
to maintain adequate cash inflows from operations to meet its MEEMERESRANBITRHEREE
debt obligations as they fall due, and its ability to obtain external KIBE D+ LARERBINEE B & DA B A B 4
financing to meet its committed future capital expenditure. BIRREARFZHIREN ©
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end REBER IR EARBIES LRITIRAT R
of the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted TRIBEIHBERET

payments, is as follows:

On demand | Within 1 year | 1to 5 years | Over 5 years Total

BREX —FR ik EFNE EH
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR | ARBTR [ ARMTR | AR®TR| ARMTR

Trade and bills payables & 5 EMFERENEE - 306,018 - - 306,018
Lease liabilities & & & - 522,114 510,410 4 1,032,528
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals

SARMENFEREGERANERAR - 715,946 - - 715,946
Interest-bearing borrowings &t B /& - 831,570 284,273 - 1,115,843
Total #:t - 2,375,648 794,683 4 3,170,335
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40.

264

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

40.

SHEREEREREE

(#&)

RBESER (&)

2021
20214

On demand | Within 1 year 1to5years | Overb years Total

BEX —FR —ERF AFME Bat

RMB’000 RMB'’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETTL AREBFTL AREBFIL ARETL ARETTL

Trade and bills payables & 5 & (T 508 & R Z 1 = 450,804 = = 450,804

Lease liabilities & & & - 576,866 763,761 3,787 1,344,414

Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals

FARtENREREGEANERAR = 723,685 = = 723,685

Interest-bearing borrowings &+ B& 5 - 754,226 324,037 = 1,078,263

Total &5t = 2,505,581 1,087,798 3,787 3,597,166
Capital management EXRER

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and
to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business
and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new
shares. The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements. No changes were made in the objectives, policies
or processes for managing capital during the year ended 31
December 2022.
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40. £ EiE P EE B ERBUR
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (#8)
(Continued)
Capital management (Continued) BERERE (&)
The asset-liability ratios as at the end of the reporting periods are RBEHRNEEB B ENOT ¢
as follows:

2022 2021
20224 20214
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETIT
Total assets & E#E 5,831,228 6,335,586
Total liabilities & E4E 3,330,556 3,667,278
Asset-liability ratio (Note) & 7 & f&LL & (HI5E) 57.1% 57.9%
Note: BIsE -
Asset-liability ratio is calculated by dividing total liabilities by total assets BEABLHENGETZRBBRBRBERAEE
and multiplying the product by 100%. B8 - ABFEIA100% ©
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41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 41. A& A A Bt &R R &R
OF THE COMPANY

2022 2021
20224 20214

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBET T ARETT

NON-CURRENT ASSETS ¥ RE&EE

Interests in subsidiaries M B A T 2 # s 901,602 185,518
Amounts due from subsidiaries F&U B A 7518 = 67,029
Total non-current assets 3ERBI & E42E 901,602 252,547
CURRENT ASSETS #RE&E

Other receivables £ 1t f& W k18 40 259
Amounts due from subsidiaries F&U KB A 7 FIE 4,206,771 4,490,474
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

NAnBETEEEESFAZHBERNEREE 741,673 546,737
Cash and cash equivalents 34 K& % EY 45,001 121,126
Total current assets RENE EAE 4,993,485 5,158,596
CURRENT LIABILITIES RB& &

Amounts due to subsidiaries FE1S KB A 7518 17,275 =
Other payables and accruals E b & {5818 M EEHE A 7,315 17,997
Total current liabilities R8N & & 4258 24,590 17,997
EQUITY #

Share capital J&Z 29 149 149
Treasury shares EFR% D (11,983) =
Reserves f#{# 5,882,331 5,392,997
Total equity 42z 5,870,497 5,393,146
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42. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING

43

PERIOD

The board of directors of the Group announced that, with effect
from 9 January 2023, Mr. Wang Yongjun (E# %) (‘Mr. Wang”)
resigned as the chairman of the board of directors and the
executive director, and ceased to be the authorised representative
of the Company pursuant to Rule 3.05 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. He also ceased to be the chairman of the nomination
committee, a member of each of the environmental, social and
governance committee (the “ESG Committee”) and the strategy
committee of the Company due to work reallocation. Following the
above-mentioned changes, Mr. Wang remains in the Group and
acts as a senior consultant with effect from 9 January 2023.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue
by the board of directors on 28 March 2023.

R|/EHRSE

43

REEZEESEM - B2023F1 HoHE -
THELAE(ZTEE]) BHEESTERER
WITEE  UTRBEEBHAERIFAMARAD
TS FHRAE3.05 6N BEEARAT
RIEARR - TR IEFABTBELAD
AREZEEXRF BE HERERZE
Be([RE HERERZEE))KER
HEREZEBEKE - NRElEEHE - THhiE
B2023F1 A9HRRMBRAEBIWIEES

P M o

B HRREAE

MBHMREN2023F3 A28 HEE=SH
1 RT3

%

2
B

b
£
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X

Definitions

Bx

In this report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following RWABRER BXEBBTIEN U THAEAR
terms have the following meanings. These terms and their definitions & F3I%s% o % SRR E T E AN B A%
may not correspond to any industry standard definition, and may WIZEFZERF  TRALAEZEEMERAD
not be directly comparable to similarly titled terms adopted by other AIMERETEARNL LN AR FEBHNREEREL
companies operating in the same industries as the Company. £ o

“affiliate”

[H AL

“Articles” or “Articles of Association”

[ERRAR sk [ =24

“associate(s)”

[BEA

“Audit Committee”
[BZZEE

“Board” or “Board of Directors”

[Exg]

“BYI”
[RBERAES ]

“CG Code”

[ERERTA

“China” or “PRC”

[

268 ANE (Cayman) Inc. ® ANNUAL REPORT 2022

with respect to any specified person, any other person, directly or indirectly,
controlling or controlled by or under direct or indirect common control with
such specified person

HERBEALME  BEIMEEFNZHFEA LTI ZEEGIRELSERZR
5 2k R PR Il e (E (el M A £

the articles of association of our Company adopted on October 6, 2021 with
effect on the Listing Date, as amended from time to time
RARN2021F10 A6 BERMIL B L A B A SAZERAA (LTRE
ED)

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules
BH AR TR e R &

the audit committee of the Board

EEEERLES

the board of directors of our Company
RAREEE

the British Virgin Islands
RBERRHS

the “Corporate Governance Code” as contained in Appendix 14 of the
Listing Rules
AR RIS E A [ (R EEAFA

the People’s Republic of China, for the purpose of this report and for
geographical reference only, except where the context requires otherwise,
references to “China” and the “PRC” do not apply to Hong Kong, Macau
and Taiwan

REAREME  HEEREAREREMEIRRAMNET - BXESEFREN - H
[FRE RN ERREE  RFIRAE



“close associate”
[EmEEE A

“Companies Act” or “Cayman
Companies Act”

INCIZSEANGES 3o YNCIN

“Companies Ordinance”
SN

» oo »oou

“Company”, “we”, “our” or “us’

VNI AR 450

”»

“connected person(s)
[EEEAL]

“connected transaction”

(&R ]

“Controlling Shareholder(s)”

[ AR AR

“Director(s)”

[E%]

“Equity Incentive Plans”

[ s =t & ]

4

V4

Definitions

e

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules
BB LA R T &R E

the Companies Act (As Revised), Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961) of the Cayman
Islands, as amended or supplemented or otherwise modified from time to
time

MESHE1961 FE 3G EFIE22E RN TNA (KIBF]) - ETREET Tl A
HAth 77 B2k

the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
EREDIE622F R AMED] - KTRHERT ~ FARSAEM T KB

ANE (Cayman) Inc. (Zee¥nsEEBRAR]), an exempted company with
limited liability incorporated under the laws of the Cayman lIslands on July
31, 2014, whose Shares are listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 9956)

ZEEMREBBRATR - —HKN2014F7 A31 AR EHREHSAETMAE
BH#HEERATE - ERMHNEBBZAER W (RH R : 9956)

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules
BB EmAR R T % R &

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules
BB LA R T &R E

has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing Rules and, unless the
context otherwise requires

AEAEHRAE TZANEE (BRXESBFIEIN)

the director(s) of our Company

ZAUNETF-2

the equity incentive plans of our Company adopted by our Board resolutions
on May 29, 2015 (as further amended and approved on January 30, 2019
and December 30, 2020), December 1, 2015 (as further amended and
approved on January 30, 2019 and December 30, 2020) and February
7, 2021, the principal terms of which are set out in the section headed
“‘Appendix IV — Statutory and General Information — D. Equity Incentive
Plans” in the Prospectus

EEGRFERN2015F5A29A (FR20194 1 A30H &20204 12 A30 H 4L #
—HEFTRALE) - 2015512 A1 H (7201941 A30 A 20204 12 A30 HLE
HE—EET RBE) k2021 F2 A7 BERANA R RIRERE TS - B+ ZERHE
RIBIRERR [ T8I — JEE R —MRE R — D.AE B &l | —&6
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“ESG Committee”

[IRIE g hkErfEE] i
“Giantruck”
[RF i3

“Global Offering”
[ 2RI E | ¥

»oow » o« » oo«

“Group”, “our Group”, “we”, “our” or
“us”
[ A& gk [ F ) 5

“HK$” or “HK dollars” or “Hong Kong
dollars”
[Tl ¥

“Hong Kong” or “HK”
(&%) 5

“Hong Kong Offer Shares”

[FEBERD] &

“Hong Kong Public Offering”

[BAERREE] 18

“Hong Kong Share Registrar”
[BEEHFELE] 5

270 ANE (Cayman) Inc. ® ANNUAL REPORT 2022

the environmental, social and governance committee of the Board
EEeRE HELERZE®

Changshan Giantruck Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd. (F LR & H#t
e EIEFR A F]), a company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability
on September 25, 2015 and a wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company
BURTENHEEERBFRAAF - —KN20156F9 A25 BEF B M
ERRNT  RARFZEMB AT

the Hong Kong Public Offering and the International Offering
FEEARBEERBEREE

our Company and its subsidiaries, or any one of them as the context may
require, and where the context refers to any time prior to its incorporation,
the business which its predecessor(s) was engaged in and which was
subsequently assumed by it

ARG REMBAR AP EM—KAB (INXEMF) - REXERMET
TR AL AT BV EART S ) - R B 5 EL A & Pl 35 S ELBE 18 PR B0 3675

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
FEEFBR TR

the 8,022,000 Shares initially being offered by our Company for subscription
at the Offer Price pursuant to the Hong Kong Public Offering
RARRBEEAREESREEEVIRIEEHE UHRIERS,022,000 % #x 17

the offer for subscription of the Hong Kong Offer Shares to the public in
Hong Kong at the Offer Price, subject to and in accordance with the terms
and conditions described in the Prospectus

RBRRERAEMGR MR (EXEARR) REEBREZLEFEHERND
NEBEBRARATRE

Tricor Investor Services Limited
EEBAFERBRAT



“International Offer Shares”

[ BIRR 3% & A 7

“International Offering”

[ B E

“Listing”
[ 7]

“Listing Date”
[ T EER]

“Listing Rules”

[ EmAAI

“Main Board”

[EHR]

“Management Shareholders”

&2 AR

V4

Definitions

e

the 72,198,000 Shares being initially offered for subscription at the Offer
Price under the International Offering

RIFERR B SRS S EYRIE2 S UL REMN 72,198,000 % 8 59

the offer of the International Offer Shares at the Offer Price in the United
States to QIBs only in reliance on Rule 144A and outside the United States
in offshore transactions in accordance with Regulation S or any other
available exemption from registration under the U.S. Securities Act, as
further described in the Prospectus
WEE1AAABREEZEBIRNERGEBBBER &1&%?8%;%15@%!%”“2&1?5
TEMEMERBCHRERENRER D T AEEZBRIMNZEEBREEE
BREERD - FBERNBRER

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board
AR ER LT

November 11, 2021
2021F11 11 H

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited
ERBERHMARARIES FmRA

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock
Exchange which is independent from and operated in parallel with the
Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange. For the avoidance of
doubt, the Main Board excludes the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock
Exchange

MR EENRERZM (T REEBETS) - BURBRXFGEMI E 2 I
ITIEIE - REER - ERTBIEHRZFIGEM

the management shareholders of our Company led by Mr. Wang and Mr.
Qin, as identified in the section headed “Relationship with Our Largest
Shareholders — Our Largest Shareholders” in the Prospectus
BREREBEARROBER - KPAINRARR] - TR E RFREE
REMAAFBEERR

YIREEAR AT o 2022 Fif 271
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“Memorandum” or “Memorandum of

Association”

[EFE2AM | K [ABBEIRZAM )

“Mr. Qin”

[Z&=5T4

“Mr. Wang”

[EEAE]

“Mr. Zhu”

[BLsT4 |

“Nomination Committee”

[REZBE

“PRC Legal Advisor”
[ B AR

“Prospectus”

[ R ER]

“Remuneration Committee”

[FHEZEE ]

“Reporting Period”
[ 5

“RMB” or “Renminbi”
[ARE ]

“RSU”

[ 52 BR I B 7 B84 |

¥

272 ANE (Cayman) Inc. ® ANNUAL REPORT 2022

the memorandum of association of our Company adopted on October 6,
2021, with effect from the Listing Date, as amended from time to time
RARIAR2021F10 A6 BRI B £ B B A MMAMEIRZAM (ETRHE
ED)

Mr. Qin Xinghua (%), an executive Director, Chief Executive Officer and
President of our Company
REFESE  RARITES - BERERITERER

Mr. Wang Yongjun (E# %), an executive Director and Chairman of the
Board of our Company

FTHRESE  ARARRTEEREFSLRE

Mr. Zhu Jianhui (f23£#8), an executive Director and Chief Operating Officer
of our Company
PUEIBSEAE - ARRRMITESHRERELTE

the nomination committee of the Board

EEgRE%EBS

Jingtian & Gongcheng, the PRC legal advisor of our Company
BRARRNTEREEAT - NAFH R BUEERR

the prospectus of the Company dated October 30, 2021 in connection with
the Hong Kong Public Offering
ANARIHEA2021F10 A30EMBE B AFAEERRER

the remuneration committee of the Board

EFEEVHEES

the year ended December 31, 2021
HE2021F12A31HIEFE

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC
FEDEEEBARK

a restricted share unit award to be granted to a participant under the Equity
Incentive Plans

WRIB BB FT 85 A 2 B 1% ) O 52 IR Il A A B Az 2B



“SFO”

[ 7 M S P

“Shanghai ANE”

“Share(s)”

[zt ]

“Shareholder(s)”
[ %R

“Stock Exchange” or “Hong Kong
Stock Exchange”
[BE 2 BT ) ok [ BPEBE R P

“subsidiary(ies)”

=Pl

“substantial shareholder”

[EZME

“U.S.”, “US” or “United States”
[EH ]

“US$”, “USD” or “U.S. dollars”
E

“gy”
[%]

V4

Definitions

e

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
EREDESTI EZHFLAEERY - ETRHER] - s AR B
Shanghai Anneng Juchuang Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd. (E/8% 8¢
At rESE IR AR A F]), a company incorporated in the PRC with limited
liability on June 1, 2015, in which we held 96.16% equity interest as of
December 31, 2022

PEREREAMHERERERAR - —KPX20156F6 A1 REF BT MK
BIRAR - R2022F12 A31 8 » HiFIEHEH96.16% A

ordinary shares in the share capital of our Company with a nominal value of
US$0.00002 each
NN AN &R T {E0.00002 3 7T HY 8 R

holder(s) of Shares
[ESHESTEDN

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
EEMERGAARRAR]

has the meaning ascribed to it in section 15 of the Companies Ordinance
BB R AHEHIFE 15158 T2 e R

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules

HAEHRAE FZFANRE

the United States of America
EFEA RE

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States

XBEEEE®ET

per cent
EXsd
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Glossary of Technical Terms

B AR R

‘AP
[Al

“BoC”
[B2C|
“COVID-19”

[COVID-19]
“drop and pull”

[RAES

“express freight network”

[MREMRA

“freight agents”

[EERIER

“freight partners”

[EE&FR ]

“freight volume”
(58 HES]
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artificial intelligence
ATEEE

business to consumer, the type of commerce transaction in which
businesses sell products or services directly to consumers

TRHEE  CXERAHBEHEERIRBNBERZALE

coronavirus disease 2019, a disease caused by a novel virus designated as
severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2

20195 BMAEE  —BHGERRESMTRESHBERRZT2ENIEIRE
SRR

a transportation mode wherein a truck pulls the trailer to its destination,
drops the trailer, and hooks up a new trailer to be transported to its
destination

—BEREN  REESIBEZHAMNM WTHE BoL5—6#F -
BEHEB &M

fad

nationwide LTL networks
FEIMTEER AL

agents managed by freight partners, which typically own and operate pickup
and dispatch outlets in our network

MEEAFREENRER AT ERMOBEARAE LK EBEMXBE

business partners that are directly managed by us and typically own and
operate pickup and dispatch outlets in our network. Unless otherwise
indicated, each freight partner refers to the unique account that our freight
partners established on our Luban system through individual partnership
agreements each covering its respective business area
m&ﬁaﬁ“ﬁEL%E&ﬁmm%W%ﬁ&W%ﬁfﬂﬁLM%W%%Aﬁ
BH-BREEMEN  BREESFEREUEEESFRNRAREEEHZEE
BREANEF S EW: ﬁEﬁﬁM%ﬂ%%tgimﬁ4$ﬁ

the amount of freight by volumetric weight

BV EEE



“handling volume”

[FRIRE |

“oT”

[oT]

a7
[T

“level 3 autonomous driving”

[E=REBER]

“load factor”

[ |

“loss rate”

ik

“SaaS”

[SaaS|

“TMS”
[TMS ]
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Glossary of Technical Terms

B R

the amount of freights handled by our sorting centres, which equals to
total freight volume multiplied by handling times. During the transportation
process, the freight is handled twice at each of the departure sorting centre,
the destination sorting centre, and any transit hubs in between

B BPORENGESE  FREELASRAEBRE - NEGRBAEFR - &
MENEIAE S B O - B 8 B O KA R 89 fa] S AR A 45 B 58 R UR

Internet of things

Y EsE 48

information technology

EfsS30

Conditional autonomous driving. The vehicle itself controls all monitoring of
the environment. The driver’s attention is still critical at this level, but can
disengage from “safety critical” functions like braking and leave it to the
technology when conditions are safe

BRGEBEE - EWAINERITTERBENMAEE - AT - T
BORARSE - BR B2 2R e (WXE)  £ERMR2BERATRH
BB R ERADRE

the actual load of freight divided by the defined capacity of line-haul trucks
in terms of freight volume

ENMERKHEERAREESHANREBRRRHE

the ratio of number of shipment losses the applicable period over the total
number of shipments during the same period

RERPRNELREN EEEENSEANEEES AR X

software as a service, a cloud-based software licencing and delivery model
in which software and associated data are centrally hosted

EHEIRTS - R—RBERZ R EGF A RAZMER - B R AEEBIREZIE
AP EPEEREH

transportation management system
BHEERG
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Glossary of Technical Terms

SRl

“unit cost” or “unit cost of revenue”
[EERIACAN 3k [ BB 2 A
“unit gross profit”

[ELIEF

“unit price”

[E(E]

“unit line-haul transportation cost”

[ B8 A AR E H A A
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cost of revenue of the applicable period divided by total freight volume
during the same period
AR EER AR AR RN S ERS

gross profit of the applicable period divided by total freight volume during
the same period
HRABROENRURBNEERS

revenue of the applicable period divided by total freight volume during the
same period
EARENRABRARSRN S EEE

line-haul transportation costs of the applicable period divided by total freight
volume during the same period

MR BRERR AR AR EERE
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